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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share amounts)
 
  

September 30,
 

December 31,
 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Assets
     

Current assets
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 123,818
 

$ 100,304
 

Marketable securities
 

156,407
 

39,736
 

Accounts receivable, net
 

77,753
 

65,586
 

Inventories, net
 

23,280
 

16,304
 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
 

9,299
 

6,521
 

Total current assets
 

390,557
 

228,451
 

Long term marketable securities
 

460,304
 

133,638
 

Property and equipment, net
 

6,930
 

5,124
 

Intangible assets, net
 

32,572
 

36,019
 

Deferred income taxes
 

31,367
 

20,843
 

Other non-current assets
 

782
 

389
 

      
Total assets

 

$ 922,512
 

$ 424,464
 

      
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

     

Current liabilities
     

Accounts payable
 

$ 9,838
 

$ 6,844
 

Accrued sales deductions
 

85,970
 

68,343
 

Accrued expenses
 

32,098
 

27,305
 

Income taxes payable
 

8,548
 

15,938
 

Non-recourse liability related to sale of future royalties, current portion   
 

1,892
 

4,283
 

Deferred licensing revenue
 

—
 

287
 

Total current liabilities
 

138,346
 

123,000
 

Deferred licensing revenue, net of current portion
 

—
 

1,149
 

Convertible notes, net
 

325,666
 

—
 

Non-recourse liability related to sale of future royalties, long term
 

23,305
 

22,258
 

Other non-current liabilities
 

13,259
 

10,577
 

Total liabilities
 

500,576
 

156,984
 

      
Stockholders’ equity

     

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 130,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017; 52,257,013 and 51,314,850 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively

 

52
 

51
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

365,396
 

294,999
 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
 

(4,111) (747)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)

 

60,599
 

(26,823)
Total stockholders’ equity

 

421,936
 

267,480
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 922,512
 

$ 424,464
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 
  

Three Months ended September 30,
 

Nine Months ended September 30,
 

  
2018

 
2017

 
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

 

Revenue
         

Net product sales
 

$ 100,227
 

$ 78,066
 

$ 286,377
 

$ 207,763
 

Royalty revenue
 

2,769
 

2,010
 

5,836
 

4,338
 

Licensing revenue
 

—
 

322
 

750
 

1,702
 

          
Total revenue

 

102,996
 

80,398
 

292,963
 

213,803
 

          
Costs and expenses

         

Cost of product sales
 

4,207
 

4,251
 

11,168
 

11,060
 

Research and development
 

20,422
 

12,980
 

59,368
 

33,405
 

Selling, general and administrative
 

40,892
 

40,825
 

117,838
 

104,141
 

          
Total costs and expenses

 

65,521
 

58,056
 

188,374
 

148,606
 

          
Operating earnings

 

37,475
 

22,342
 

104,589
 

65,197
 

          
Other income (expense)

         

Interest income
 

4,461
 

814
 

9,331
 

2,002
 

Interest expense
 

(4,374) —
 

(9,415) (148)
Interest expense-nonrecourse liability related to sale of

future royalties
 

(1,191) (155) (3,096) (1,274)
Changes in fair value of derivative liabilities

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

76
 

Loss on extinguishment of debt
 

—
 

(91) —
 

(295)
          
Total other income (expense)

 

(1,104) 568
 

(3,180) 361
 

          
Earnings before income taxes

 

36,371
 

22,910
 

101,409
 

65,558
 

          
Income tax expense

 

8,360
 

6,949
 

16,309
 

21,932
 

          
Net earnings

 

$ 28,011
 

$ 15,961
 

$ 85,100
 

$ 43,626
 

          
Earnings per share:

         

Basic
 

$ 0.54
 

$ 0.31
 

$ 1.64
 

$ 0.86
 

Diluted
 

$ 0.52
 

$ 0.29
 

$ 1.57
 

$ 0.82
 

          
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding:

         

Basic
 

52,227,630
 

51,046,375
 

51,897,240
 

50,583,726
 

Diluted
 

54,239,847
 

53,628,389
 

54,098,330
 

53,227,433
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings

(in thousands)
 
  

Three Months ended September 30,
 

Nine Months ended September 30,
 

  
2018

 
2017

 
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

 

Net earnings
 

$ 28,011
 

$ 15,961
 

$ 85,100
 

$ 43,626
 

Other comprehensive earnings (loss):
         

Unrealized (loss) gain on marketable securities, net of tax
 

8
 

36
 

(3,364) 386
 

Other comprehensive earnings (loss)
 

8
 

36
 

(3,364) 386
 

          
Comprehensive earnings

 

$ 28,019
 

$ 15,997
 

$ 81,736
 

$ 44,012
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
 
  

Nine Months ended September 30,
 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

 

Cash flows from operating activities
     

Net earnings
 

$ 85,100
 

$ 43,626
 

      
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

     

Loss on extinguishment of debt
 

—
 

295
 

Change in fair value of derivative liability
 

—
 

(76)
Depreciation and amortization

 

5,371
 

6,462
 

Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount
 

8,052
 

50
 

Amortization of premium/discount on marketable securities
 

(1,825) (342)
Non-cash interest expense on non-recourse liability related to sale of future royalties

 

3,096
 

1,274
 

Non-cash royalty revenue
 

(4,300) (3,708)
Share-based compensation expense

 

8,300
 

6,447
 

Deferred income tax provision (benefit)
 

(6,233) 13,314
 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
     

Accounts receivable
 

(10,687) (14,639)
Inventories

 

(6,976) 1,854
 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
 

(2,778) (2,712)
Other non-current assets

 

(342) —
 

Accounts payable
 

3,066
 

(1,312)
Accrued sales deductions

 

17,627
 

17,829
 

Accrued expenses
 

5,966
 

2,769
 

Income taxes payable
 

(7,390) 6,482
 

Deferred licensing revenue
 

—
 

(202)
Other non-current liabilities

 

90
 

894
 

Net cash provided by operating activities
 

96,137
 

78,305
 

      
Cash flows from investing activities

     

Purchases of marketable securities
 

(491,654) (78,938)
Sales and maturities of marketable securities

 

45,271
 

23,052
 

Purchases of property and equipment
 

(748) (1,273)
Deferred legal fees

 

(679) (10,130)
Net cash used in investing activities

 

(447,810) (67,289)
      
Cash flows from financing activities

     

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
 

402,500
 

—
 

Convertible notes issuance financing costs
 

(10,435) —
 

Proceeds from issuance of warrants
 

65,688
 

—
 

Purchases of convertible note hedges
 

(92,897) —
 

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
 

10,331
 

4,510
 

Net cash provided by financing activities
 

375,187
 

4,510
 

      
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

 

23,514
 

15,526
 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
 

100,304
 

66,398
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
 

$ 123,818
 

$ 81,924
 

      
Supplemental cash flow information:

     

Cash paid for interest
 

$ —
 

$ 134
 

Income taxes paid
 

$ 29,930
 

$ 2,136
 

      
Non-cash investing and financing activity:

     

Conversion of convertible notes and interest make-whole
 

$ —
 

$ 4,546
 

Deferred legal fees included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
 

$ 280
 

$ 1,337
 

Property and equipment acquired under build-to-suit lease transaction
 

$ 2,304
 

$ —
 

Interest capitalized during construction period for build-to-suit lease transaction
 

$ 44
 

$ —
 

Facility lease financing obligation
 

$ 2,347
 

$ —
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Nine Months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
(unaudited)

 
1.  Organization and Business
 

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in Delaware and commenced operations in 2005. The Company is a pharmaceutical
company focused on developing and commercializing products for the treatment of central nervous system (CNS) diseases. The Company markets two
products, Oxtellar XR for the treatment of epilepsy and Trokendi XR for the prophylaxis of migraine headache and treatment of epilepsy. The Company has
several proprietary product candidates in clinical development that address the CNS market.
 

The Company launched Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR in 2013 for the treatment of epilepsy and launched Trokendi XR for the prophylaxis of
migraine headache in adolescents and adults in April 2017.
 

On September 12, 2018, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the Merger Agreement) with Supernus Merger Sub, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, which is an acquisition subsidiary formed and wholly owned by the Company (the Merger Sub), Biscayne Neurotherapeutics, Inc., a
Florida corporation (which, as a condition to closing, converted to a Delaware corporation) (Biscayne), and Reich Consulting Group, Inc., as the security
holder representative (the Merger). Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company completed the Merger effective October 4, 2018, and the
Merger Sub merged with and into Biscayne, the separate existence of the Merger Sub ceased and Biscayne continued as the surviving corporation and a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (see Note 16).
 
2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation
 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Supernus Merger Sub, Inc. and Supernus
Europe Ltd., collectively referred to herein as “Supernus” or “the Company.” All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation. The Company’s unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) for interim financial information.
 

As permitted under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP), certain notes and other information have been
omitted from the interim unaudited consolidated financial statements presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Therefore, these financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the SEC.
 

In the opinion of management, the consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments necessary to fairly present the Company’s financial
position, results of earnings and cash flows for the periods presented. These adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The Company, which is primarily
located in the United States (U.S.), operates in one operating segment.
 

The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 are not necessarily indicative of the Company’s future financial
results.
 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, as well as related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
Actual results could differ materially from the Company’s estimates. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual
results, the Company’s financial condition or operating results will be affected. The Company bases its estimates on: historical experience; various forecasts;
information received from its service providers; and other assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable under the circumstances. The Company
evaluates the methodology employed in its estimates on an ongoing basis.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

The Company considers all investments in highly liquid financial instruments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
 
Marketable Securities
 

Marketable securities consist of investments in U.S. Treasury bills and notes, certificates of deposit, various U.S. governmental agency debt
securities, corporate and municipal bonds and other fixed income securities. The Company places all investments with government, industrial or financial
institutions whose debt is rated as investment grade. The Company classifies all available-for-sale marketable securities with maturities greater than one year
from the balance sheet date as non-current assets.
 

The Company’s investments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at estimated fair value. Except for changes in fair value of equity
securities which are recognized through net income, any unrealized holding gains or losses are reported, net of any reported tax effects, as accumulated other
comprehensive earnings (loss), which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity.
 

Realized gains and losses, and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary, if any, are included in consolidated results of operations. A
decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be other-than-temporary results in a reduction in fair value, with
that reduction charged to earnings in that period. A new cost basis for the security is then established.
 

Dividend and interest income is recognized when earned. The cost of securities sold is calculated using the specific identification method.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and marketable securities. The counterparties are various corporations and financial institutions of high credit standing, as described above.
 

Substantially all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are maintained in U.S. government agency debt and debt of well-known, investment
grade corporations. Deposits held with banks may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. Generally, these deposits may be redeemed
upon demand and, therefore, management believes they bear minimal default risk.
 

The majority of our product sales are to pharmaceutical wholesalers and distributors who, in turn, sell the products to chain and independent
pharmacies, hospitals and other customers. Three wholesale pharmaceutical distributors collectively accounted for more than 90% of our total revenue for the
nine months ended September 30, 2018.
 
Inventories
 

Inventories, which are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, include materials, labor and other direct and indirect costs and are valued
using the first-in, first-out method. The Company typically capitalizes inventories produced in preparation for commercial launches when the related product
candidates have received regulatory approval and the related costs will be recoverable through the commercial sale of the product.
 
Intangible Assets
 

Intangible assets consist of patent defense costs, which are deferred legal fees that have been incurred in connection with legal proceedings related to
the defense of patents for Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR. Patent defense costs will be charged to expense in the event of an unsuccessful outcome of the
ongoing litigation. Patents are carried at cost less accumulated amortization, which is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
patents. Amortization commences in the quarter after the costs are incurred. The amortization period is based initially upon the remaining patent life and is
adjusted, if necessary, for any subsequent settlements or other changes to the expected useful life of the patent. The carrying value of the patents is assessed
for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each year, or more frequently if impairment indicators exist.
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
 

Long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment and patent defense costs. The Company assesses the recoverability of its long-lived
assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If indications of impairment exist,
projected future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset are compared to the carrying value to determine whether the asset’s value is recoverable.
Evaluating for impairment requires judgment, including the estimation of future cash flows, future growth rates and profitability, and the expected life over
which cash flows will occur. Changes
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in the Company’s business strategy or adverse changes in market conditions could impact impairment analyses and require recognition of an impairment
charge equal to the excess of the carrying value of the long-lived asset over its estimated fair value.
 
Build-to-Suit Lease
 

The Company accounts for the lease agreement for its new headquarters building under the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
840, “Leases.” Because the Company has concluded that it retains substantively all of the risks of ownership during the construction of the leased property,
the Company is considered the owner of the property for accounting purposes. The Company has capitalized the estimated fair value of the building shell and
the construction costs incurred to date as a construction-in-progress asset and the related financing obligation as Other Non-current Liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet (see Note 14).
 
Deferred Financing Costs
 

Deferred financing costs consist of costs incurred by the Company in connection with the closing of the Company’s sale of $402.5 million of 0.625%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the 2023 Notes) (see Note 9). The Company amortizes deferred financing costs over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method. When extinguishing debt, the related deferred financing costs are written off.
 
Preclinical Study and Clinical Trial Accruals
 

The Company estimates preclinical study and clinical trial expenses based on the services performed pursuant to contracts with research institutions,
clinical investigators, clinical research organizations (CROs) and other service providers that conduct activities on its behalf. In recording service fees, the
Company estimates the time period over which the related services will be performed and compares the level of effort expended through the end of each
period to the cumulative expenses recorded and payments made for such services. As appropriate, the Company accrues additional service fees or defers any
non-refundable advance payments until the related services are performed. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from
the estimate, the Company will adjust its accrued expenses or deferred advance payments accordingly. If the Company later determines that it no longer
expects the services associated with a nonrefundable advance payment to be rendered, the remaining portion of that advance payment will be charged to
expense in the period in which such determination is made.
 
Revenue Recognition
 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a comprehensive new standard, ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” and its related amendments, which amended revenue recognition principles. The Company adopted the new standard on January 1, 2018. While
results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented under the new guidance, prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be
reported under the accounting standards in effect for the prior period. The accounting policy for revenue recognition for periods prior to January 1, 2018 is
described in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017.
 

  
Three Months ended September 30,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited, in thousands)

 

Net Product Sales:
     

Trokendi XR
 

$ 79,834
 

$ 59,339
 

Oxtellar XR
 

20,393
 

18,727
 

Total Net Product Sales
 

100,227
 

78,066
 

Royalty Revenues
 

2,769
 

2,010
 

Licensing Revenue
 

—
 

322
 

Total Revenues
 

$ 102,996
 

$ 80,398
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Nine Months ended September 30,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited, in thousands)

 

Net Product Sales:
     

Trokendi XR
 

$ 226,863
 

$ 157,337
 

Oxtellar XR
 

59,514
 

50,426
 

Total Net Product Sales
 

286,377
 

207,763
 

Royalty Revenues
 

5,836
 

4,338
 

Licensing Revenue
 

750
 

1,702
 

Total Revenues
 

$ 292,963
 

$ 213,803
 

 
Revenue from Product Sales
 

The Company’s products are distributed through a third party fulfillment center. The Company recognizes revenue when its products are shipped
from this center to its customers, who are pharmaceutical wholesalers and distributors. The Company’s customers purchase product to fulfill orders from
retail pharmacy chains and independent pharmacies of varying size and buying power. The Company’s customers take control of the products, including title
and ownership to the products, upon physical receipt of these products at their facilities.
 

Product sales are recorded net of various forms of variable consideration, including estimated rebates, discounts, allowances, and an estimated
liability for product returns (collectively, “sales deductions”).
 

Variability in the net transaction price for the Company’s products primarily arises from sales deductions. Significant judgment is required in
estimating sales deductions. The Company considers: historical experience; current contract prices under applicable programs; unbilled claims; processing
time lags; and inventory levels in the distribution channel in arriving at these estimates. The Company adjusts its estimates of revenue at the earlier of when
the most likely amount of consideration it expects to receive changes or when the consideration becomes fixed. If actual results in the future vary from
estimates, the Company adjusts these estimates. These adjustments could materially affect net product sales and earnings in the period that such variances
become known.
 
Sales Deductions
 

Sales deductions are primarily comprised of rebates, product returns and sales discounts/allowances. The Company records product sales net of the
following sales deductions:
 

·                  Rebates:  Rebates are discounts which the Company pays under either private sector or public sector health care programs. Public sector rebate
programs encompass: Medicaid Drug Rebate Programs; Medicare Coverage Gap Programs; and programs covering public health service institutions
and government entities that purchase drugs under the Federal Supply Schedule. Private sector rebate programs include: contractual agreements with
managed care providers, under which the Company pays fees to gain access to that provider’s patient drug formulary and Company sponsored
programs under which the Company defrays or eliminates patient co-payment charges that the patient would otherwise pay to their managed care
provider. Rebates paid under public sector programs are generally mandated under law, whereas private sector rebates are generally contractually
negotiated by the Company with managed care providers.

 
Rebates are owed upon dispensing product to a patient; i.e., filling a prescription. Because rebates are generally invoiced and paid quarterly

in arrears, the accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred for the current quarter’s activity, plus an accrual balance
for known or estimated prior quarters’ unpaid rebates. The period from the date on which the prescription is filled to the date the Company receives
and pays the invoice varies, depending on the rebate program. Consequently, the Company’s estimates of expected rebate claims vary by program
and by type of customer. For each of its products, the Company bases its estimates of expected rebate claims using multiple factors including
historical levels of deductions; contractual terms with managed care providers; actual and anticipated changes in product price; prospective changes
in managed care fee for service contractual agreements; prospective changes in co-pay assistance programs; and anticipated changes in program
utilization rates (i.e., patient participation rates).

 
The sensitivity of the Company’s estimates can vary by program and type of customer. If actual rebates vary from estimated amounts, the

Company may need to adjust the balances of such rebates to reflect actual expenditures with respect to these programs. This could materially affect
net product sales and earnings in the period of adjustment. The Company
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records an estimated liability for rebates at the time the customer takes title to the product (i.e., at the time of sale) as a reduction to gross product
sales and an increase in Accrued Sales Deductions in current liabilities.

 
·                  Returns:  Sales of the Company’s products are not subject to a general right of return. Product that has been used to fill patient prescriptions is no

longer subject to any right of return. However, the Company will accept the return of product that is damaged or defective when shipped from its
warehouse. In addition, the Company will accept return of expired product six months prior to and up to 12 months subsequent to the product’s
expiry date. Expired or defective returned product cannot be re-sold; therefore, a right of return asset is not recorded.

 
The Company estimates liability for returns based on the actual returns experience for its two commercial products, in conjunction with

industry return experience for similar products (i.e., ambient temperature storage for oral formulations.) Because the Company’s products have not
reached maturity, the return rate of its products has and is expected to continue to vary. The Company records an estimated liability for product
returns at the time the customer takes title to the product (i.e., at time of sale) as a reduction to gross product sales and an increase in Accrued Sales
Deductions in current liabilities.

 
The Company’s estimated liability for product returns is also affected by price increases. Its products have a shelf life of 36 to 48 months

from date of manufacture. Because of the extended shelf life and its return policy, there typically is a significant time lag between the time at which
the product is sold and when the Company issues credit on an expired product. The Company’s policy permits product returns to be processed at
current wholesaler price rather than historical price. Any price increase(s) taken during the current period increases the provision from product
returns and therefore affects its estimated liability for product returns for both sales made in the current period as well as sales made in prior periods.
Accordingly, the Company may have to adjust its estimates, favorably or unfavorably, which could have an effect on product sales and earnings in
the period of adjustment.

 
·                  Sales discounts and allowances:  Distributors and wholesalers of pharmaceutical products are generally offered various forms of consideration,

including allowances, service fees and prompt payment discounts, as consideration for distributing products. Distributor and wholesaler allowances
and service fees arise from contractual agreements and are generally a percentage of the price at which the Company sells product to them. In
addition, they are offered a prompt pay discount for payment within a specified period.

 
The Company accounts for these discounts at the time of sale as a reduction to gross product sales and are recorded as a reduction to

Accounts Receivable. The Company estimates discounts to wholesalers based on contractual terms of agreements and historical experience.
 

Customer orders are generally fulfilled within a few days of receipt, resulting in minimal order backlog. Open purchase orders for products
from customers are expected to be fulfilled within the next twelve months. There are no minimum product purchase requirements.

 
Incremental costs for obtaining a contract with a distributor or wholesaler include only those costs that the Company would not have incurred if the

contract had not been obtained; e.g., sales commissions. Incremental costs for obtaining a contract are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over
the expected customer relationship period. As a practical expedient, the Company expenses incremental costs in obtaining a contract if the expected
amortization period of the contract would have been a year or less or if the amount is immaterial. These costs are recorded in Selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings. Costs to fulfill a contract are expensed as incurred and recorded in Cost of product sales in
the consolidated statement of earnings. There were no contract assets or liabilities recorded as of January 1, 2018 or September 30, 2018.
 
License Revenue
 
License and Collaboration Agreements
 

The Company has entered into collaboration agreements to commercialize both Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR outside of the U.S. which involve the
right to use the Company’s intellectual property as a functional license. These agreements generally include an up-front license fee and ongoing milestone
payments upon the achievement of specific events. These agreements may also require minimum royalty payments based on sales of products developed from
the applicable intellectual property.
 

Up-front license fees are recognized once the license has been delivered to the customer.
 

Milestones are a form of variable consideration that are recognized when either the underlying events have been achieved (event-based milestone) or
the sales-based targets have been met by the collaborative partner (sales-based milestone). Both types of milestone payments are non-refundable. The
Company evaluates whether achieving the milestones is considered probable and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price using the most
likely amount method. This can involve management’s
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judgment that includes assessing factors that are outside of the Company’s influence, such as: likelihood of regulatory success; availability of third party
information; and expected duration of time until achievement of event. These factors are evaluated based on the specific facts and circumstances. If it is
probable that a significant revenue reversal would not occur, the value of the associated milestone is included in the transaction price.
 

Event-based milestones are recognized in the period that the related event, such as regulatory approval, occurs. Sales-based milestones are
recognized as revenue when the sales target is achieved. Milestone payments that are not within the control of the Company, such as approval from regulatory
authorities or where attainment of the specified event is dependent on the development activities of a third-party, are not considered probable of being
achieved until the specified event occurs. Revenue is recognized from the satisfaction of performance obligations in the amount billable to the customer.
 

The Company recorded no milestone revenue and $300,000 of milestone revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The Company recorded $750,000 and $1.5 million of milestone revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
 

Revenue associated with future milestones will be recognized when the related event occurs or sales-based target is achieved. There are no
guaranteed minimum amounts owed to the Company related to license and collaboration agreements.
 
Royalty Revenue
 

The Company recognizes non-cash royalty revenue for royalty amounts earned pursuant to a royalty agreement with United Therapeutics
Corporation (United Therapeutics) that involves the right to use the Company’s intellectual property as a functional license. In 2014, the Company sold
certain of these royalty rights to Healthcare Royalty Partners III, L.P. (HC Royalty) (see Note 15). Accordingly, the Company records non-cash royalty
revenue based on estimated product sales by United Therapeutics that result in payments made from United Therapeutics to HC Royalty in connection with
these agreements.
 

Royalty revenue also includes royalty amounts received from collaboration partners, including from Shire Plc (Shire) based on net product sales of
Shire’s product, Mydayis. Royalty revenue is only recognized when the underlying product sale by Shire occurs. The Shire arrangement also involves the
right to use the Company’s intellectual property as a functional license. Royalty revenue is recognized based on estimated net product sales by Shire in the
current period.
 

There are no guaranteed minimum amounts owed to the Company related to royalty revenue agreements.
 

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, revenue recognized from performance obligations related to prior periods (for example,
due to changes in transaction price) was not material in the aggregate to Net Product Sales, License Revenue and Royalty Revenue.
 
Accounts Receivable, net
 

Accounts receivable are reported on the consolidated balance sheets at outstanding amounts due from customers, less an allowance for doubtful
accounts and sales discounts. The Company extends credit without requiring collateral. The Company writes off uncollectible receivables when the likelihood
of collection is remote. The Company evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable on a regular basis. An allowance, when needed, is based upon
various factors including the financial condition and payment history of customers, an overall review of collections experience on other accounts, and
economic factors or events expected to affect future collections experience. All arrangements are payable no later than one year after the transfer of the
product. The Company does not assess whether a contract has a significant financing component if the expectation at contract inception is such that the period
between the transfer of the promised good to the customer and receipt of payment will be one year or less. There are currently no significant financing
components.
 

The Company recorded no allowance for doubtful accounts as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. There was no provision or write-off
recorded for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017.
 

The Company recorded an allowance of approximately $11.2 million and $8.9 million for expected sales discounts, related to prompt pay discounts
and contractual fee for service arrangements, to pharmaceutical wholesalers and distributors as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
 
Cost of Product Sales
 

The cost of product sales consists primarily of materials, third-party manufacturing costs, freight and distribution costs, allocation of labor, quality
control and assurance, and other manufacturing overhead costs.
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Research and Development Costs
 

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs consist primarily of: employee-related expenses,
including salaries and benefits; share-based compensation expense; expenses incurred under agreements with clinical research organizations (CROs); fees
paid to clinical investigators who are participating in our clinical trials; fees paid to consultants and other vendors that assist in the conduct of the Company’s
clinical trials; the cost of acquiring and manufacturing clinical trial materials; the cost of manufacturing materials used in process validation, but only to the
extent that those materials are manufactured prior to receiving regulatory approval and are not expected to be sold commercially; facilities costs that do not
have an alternative future use; related depreciation and other allocated expenses; license fees for, and milestone payments related to, in-licensed products and
technologies; and costs associated with animal testing activities and regulatory approvals. Assets acquired that are used for research and development and
have no future alternative use are expensed as in-process research and development.
 
Advertising Expense
 

Advertising expense includes costs of promotional materials and activities, such as marketing materials, marketing programs and speaker programs.
The costs of the Company’s advertising efforts are expensed as incurred. The Company incurred approximately $11.6 million and $30.5 million in advertising
costs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and approximately $9.6 million and $26.1 million in advertising costs for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2017, respectively. These expenses are recorded in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
earnings.
 
Share-Based Compensation
 

Employee share-based compensation is measured based on the estimated fair value as of the grant date. The grant date fair value is calculated using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the use of subjective assumptions, including: stock volatility; expected term; risk-free rate; and the
fair value of the underlying common stock. The Company recognizes expense using the straight-line method.
 

The Company records the expense for stock option grants to non-employees based on the estimated fair value of the stock option using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of awards to non-employees is remeasured at each reporting period. As a result, stock compensation expense for
non-employee awards can be affected by subsequent changes in the fair value of the Company’s common stock, with those changes recorded in the relevant
period.
 
Income Taxes
 

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax reporting bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws
that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. When appropriate, valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amounts expected to be realized.
 

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in its consolidated financial statements when it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be
sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Such tax positions must initially and subsequently be measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that has
a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the tax authorities, assuming full knowledge of the position and relevant facts.
The Company’s policy is to recognize any interest and penalties related to income taxes as income tax expense in the relevant period.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 
Accounting Pronouncements Adopted in 2018
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” and has subsequently
issued a number of amendments to ASU 2014-09. ASU 2014-09 and all the related amendments are codified in ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (the New Revenue Standard). The New Revenue Standard provides a comprehensive model to be used in the accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers and supersedes current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance.
 

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the New Revenue Standard using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts which had
not been completed as of January 1, 2018. The Company recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the New Revenue Standard as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings.
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The Company recorded a decrease of $2.3 million to the accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2018 due to the cumulative impact of adopting the New
Revenue Standard. The decrease resulted from the acceleration of both up-front licensing fees from license and collaboration agreements and the acceleration
of royalties from sales of licensed product. Under the New Revenue Standard, up-front licensing fees are recognized when the license is delivered to the
customer. Royalties from the sale of licensed product will be recognized as the underlying sales of product occur by the licensee. There were no changes in
the timing of revenue recognition related to net product sales.
 

The comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods, in
thousands of dollars:
 

  
December 31, 2017

 
Adjustments

 
January 1, 2018

 

  
As Reported

 
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

 

        
Accounts receivable, net

 

$ 65,586
 

$ 1,620
 

$ 67,206
 

Deferred licensing revenue
 

287
 

(287) —
 

Deferred licensing revenue, net of current portion
 

1,149
 

(1,149) —
 

Deferred income taxes (asset)
 

20,843
 

(734) 20,109
 

Accumulated deficit
 

26,823
 

(2,322) 24,501
 

 
Adoption of the New Revenue Standard had no material impact on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets or statements of earnings and had no

impact on cash from or used in operating, investing or financing activities as reported on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.
 

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting,” which
clarifies when to account for a change to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award as a modification. Under the new guidance, modification
accounting is required only if the fair value, the vesting conditions, or the classification of the award (as equity or liability) changes as a result of the change
in terms or conditions. ASU 2017-09 is effective for all annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2017,
with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, “Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.” The standard eliminates
diversity in the practice of how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-15 is effective
for annual reporting periods and interim periods therein, beginning after December 15, 2017. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a
Business,” which clarifies the definition of a business and provides new guidance in evaluating when a set of transferred assets and activities is a business.
This guidance requires that if substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired or disposed of is concentrated in a single asset or group of similar
identifiable assets, the assets would not represent a business. The Company adopted the new standard on January 1, 2018 and will apply the new guidance
prospectively to transactions occurring after adoption, including the Biscayne acquisition.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” and its related amendments (the New Lease Standard). The New Lease
Standard requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for leases with lease terms greater than 12 months. The
New Lease Standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company is evaluating the impact of adopting the New Lease Standard on its consolidated financial statements and expects that it will have a material impact
on its consolidated balance sheet due to the recognition of assets and liabilities, principally for certain leases currently accounted for as operating leases. The
New Lease Standard is also expected to result in enhanced quantitative and qualitative lease-related disclosures. The Company does not expect the New Lease
Standard to have a material impact on its cash flows or results of operations.
 

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging
Activities.” ASU 2017-12 provides new guidance about income statement classification and eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report
hedge ineffectiveness. The entire change in fair value for qualifying hedge instruments included in the effectiveness measurement will be recorded in other
comprehensive income (OCI). Amounts deferred in OCI will be
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reclassified to earnings in the same income statement line item in which the earnings effect of the hedged item is reported. This standard will be effective for
the first annual period beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those periods. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently assessing the impact that adopting this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements, but does not expect it to have a material impact.
 

The Company has evaluated all other ASUs issued through the date the consolidated financial statements were issued in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and believes that no other ASUs will have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
3.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The fair value of an asset or liability represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants. Such transactions to sell an asset or transfer a liability are assumed to occur in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. Accordingly, fair value is determined based on a hypothetical transaction at the measurement date, considered from the perspective of a
market participant rather than from a reporting entity’s perspective.
 

The Company reports assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value using a three level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to
measure fair value. This hierarchy maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to
measure fair value are as follows:
 

·                  Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement
date.

 
·                  Level 2—Inputs are: quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in

markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (interest rates, yield curves, etc.); and
inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).

 
·                  Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions, based on the best information available, including the Company’s

own data.
 

In accordance with the fair value hierarchy described above, the following tables show the fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
that are required to be measured at fair value, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
Fair Value Measurements at

 

  
September 30, 2018

 

  
(unaudited)

 

      
Significant

   

  
Total Carrying

 
Quoted Prices

 
Other

 
Significant

 

  
Value at

 
in Active

 
Observable

 
Unobservable

 

  
September 30,

 
Markets

 
Inputs

 
Inputs

 

  
2018

 
(Level 1)

 
(Level 2)

 
(Level 3)

 

Assets:
         

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 123,818
 

$ 123,818
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Marketable securities
 

156,407
 

263
 

156,144
 

—
 

Long term marketable securities:
         

Corporate debt securities
 

457,183
 

690
 

456,493
 

—
 

Government debt securities
 

3,121
 

—
 

3,121
 

—
 

Other non-current assets:
         

Marketable securities - restricted (SERP)
 

386
 

1
 

385
 

—
 

Total assets at fair value
 

$ 740,915
 

$ 124,772
 

$ 616,143
 

$ —
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Fair Value Measurements at

 

  
December 31, 2017

 

      
Significant

   

  
Total Carrying

 
Quoted Prices

 
Other

 
Significant

 

  
Value at

 
in Active

 
Observable

 
Unobservable

 

  
December 31,

 
Markets

 
Inputs

 
Inputs

 

  
2017

 
(Level 1)

 
(Level 2)

 
(Level 3)

 

Assets:
         

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 100,304
 

$ 100,304
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Marketable securities
 

39,736
 

2,118
 

37,618
 

—
 

Long term marketable securities:
         

Corporate debt securities
 

132,477
 

448
 

132,029
 

—
 

Government debt securities
 

1,161
 

—
 

1,161
 

—
 

Other non-current assets:
         

Marketable securities - restricted (SERP)
 

335
 

—
 

335
 

—
 

Total assets at fair value
 

$ 274,013
 

$ 102,870
 

$ 171,143
 

$ —
 

 
The fair value of the restricted marketable securities is included within other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

 
The Company’s Level 1 assets include cash held with banks, certificates of deposit, money market funds and investment grade corporate and

government debt securities.
 

Level 2 assets include the SERP (Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan) assets, commercial paper and investment grade corporate and
government debt securities and other fixed income securities. Level 2 securities are valued using third-party pricing sources that apply applicable inputs and
other relevant data in their models to estimate fair value.
 

The carrying value, face value and estimated fair value of the 2023 Notes were approximately $325.7 million, $402.5 million and $450.7 million,
respectively, as of September 30, 2018. The fair value was estimated based on actual trade information as well as quoted prices provided by bond traders and
are characterized within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
 

The carrying amounts of other financial instruments, including accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value
due to their short-term maturities.
 

Unrestricted marketable securities held by the Company were as follows, in thousands of dollars:
 

At September 30, 2018 (unaudited):
 

Available for Sale
 

Amortized
Cost

 

Gross
Unrealized

Gains
 

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
 

Fair Value
 

Corporate and government debt securities
 

$ 621,436
 

6
 

(4,731) $ 616,711
 

 
At December 31, 2017:

 

Available for Sale
 

Amortized
Cost

 

Gross
Unrealized

Gains
 

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
 

Fair Value
 

Corporate and government debt securities
 

$ 174,235
 

48
 

(909) $ 173,374
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The contractual maturities of the unrestricted available for sale marketable securities held by the Company were as follows, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
September 30,

 

  
2018

 

  
(unaudited)

 

Less Than 1 Year
 

$ 156,407
 

1 year to 2 years
 

169,074
 

2 year to 3 years
 

161,614
 

3 years to 4 years
 

129,616
 

Greater Than 4 Years
 

—
 

Total
 

$ 616,711
 

 
The Company has not experienced any other-than-temporary losses on its marketable securities and restricted marketable securities. The cost of

securities sold is calculated using the specific identification method.
 
4. Inventories
 

Inventories consist of the following, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Raw materials
 

$ 3,925
 

$ 2,995
 

Work in process
 

9,321
 

8,873
 

Finished goods
 

10,034
 

4,436
 

 

 

$ 23,280
 

$ 16,304
 

 
5.  Property and Equipment, net
 

Property and equipment, net consist of the following, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Lab equipment and furniture
 

$ 8,957
 

$ 8,331
 

Leasehold improvements
 

2,970
 

2,731
 

Software
 

2,157
 

2,004
 

Computer equipment
 

1,309
 

1,226
 

Construction-in-progress
 

2,367
 

178
 

 

 

17,760
 

14,470
 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
 

(10,830) (9,346)
 

 

$ 6,930
 

$ 5,124
 

 
Construction-in-progress includes capitalized construction costs related to the build-to-suit lease of the Company’s new headquarters (see Note 14).

No accumulated depreciation for this asset has been recorded as of September 30, 2018.
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Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment was approximately $600,000 and $1.5 million for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2018, and approximately $300,000 and $900,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
 

No indicators of impairment were identified.
 
6.  Intangible Assets
 

Intangible assets consist of patent defense costs, primarily legal fees incurred in conjunction with defending patents for Oxtellar XR and Trokendi
XR. The following sets forth the gross carrying amount and related accumulated amortization of the intangible assets, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
Weighted-

 
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
Average Life

 
2018

 
2017

 

    
(unaudited)

   

Capitalized patent defense costs
 

4.25 -8.50 years
 

$ 44,625
 

$ 44,185
 

Less accumulated amortization
   

(12,053) (8,166)
 

   

$ 32,572
 

$ 36,019
 

 
In March 2017, the Company entered into two settlements with several companies related to Trokendi XR patent litigation. The remaining

unamortized aggregate capitalized patent defense costs for Trokendi XR have subsequently been amortized over the reduced remaining useful life of the
patents at issue, or January 1, 2023. This is the date the Company is obligated under the settlements to grant a non-exclusive license to the patents at issue.
 

Amortization expense on intangible assets was approximately $1.3 million and $3.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2018, and approximately $4.1 million and $5.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
 

No indicators of impairment were identified.
 
7.  Accrued Expenses
 

Accrued expenses are comprised of the following, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Accrued clinical trial and clinical supply costs
 

$ 12,059
 

$ 6,996
 

Accrued compensation
 

11,763
 

10,279
 

Accrued product costs
 

2,640
 

726
 

Accrued interest expense
 

1,363
 

—
 

Accrued professional fees
 

850
 

2,890
 

Other accrued expenses
 

3,423
 

6,414
 

 

 

$ 32,098
 

$ 27,305
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8.  Accrued Sales Deductions
 

Accrued sales deductions are comprised of the following, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Accrued rebates
 

$ 66,742
 

$ 49,460
 

Accrued product returns
 

19,228
 

18,883
 

 

 

$ 85,970
 

$ 68,343
 

 
9. Convertible Senior Notes
 

On March 14, 2018, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement) with Jefferies LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and
Cowen and Company, LLC, as the initial purchasers (collectively, the Initial Purchasers), in connection with the offering and sale of $350 million aggregate
principal amount of 2023 Notes.  The Company also granted the Initial Purchasers an over-allotment option to purchase, within a 30-day period, up to an
additional $52.5 million principal amount of additional 2023 Notes on the same terms and conditions, which the Initial Purchasers exercised in full on
March 15, 2018.
 

On March 19, 2018, the sale of the 2023 Notes was settled and the 2023 Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of March 19, 2018 (the
Indenture), between the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee.  The Indenture includes customary terms and covenants, including
certain events of default upon which the 2023 Notes may be due and payable immediately. The Indenture governing the 2023 Notes does not contain any
financial or operating covenants or any restrictions on the payment of dividends, the issuance of other indebtedness or the issuance or repurchase of securities
by the Company.
 

The Company will pay interest on the 2023 Notes at an annual rate of 0.625%, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each
year, beginning on October 1, 2018. The 2023 Notes will mature on April 1, 2023, unless earlier converted or repurchased by the Company.
 

Noteholders may convert their 2023 Notes at their option only in the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after the
calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2018, if the last reported sale price per share of the Company’s common stock for each of at least 20 trading days
(whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar
quarter exceeds 130% of the conversion price, or a price of approximately $77.13 per share on such trading day; (2) during the five consecutive business days
immediately after any 10 consecutive trading day period (such 10 consecutive trading day period, the “measurement period”) in which the trading price per
$1,000 principal amount of notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price per share of
the Company’s common stock on such trading day and the conversion rate on such trading day; (3) upon the occurrence of certain corporate events or
distributions on the Company’s common stock, as specified in the Indenture; and (4) at any time from, and including, October 1, 2022 until the close of
business on the second scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date. The Company will settle conversions by paying or delivering, as
applicable, cash, shares of the Company’s common stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Company’s common stock, at its election, based on the
applicable conversion rate. The initial conversion rate is 16.8545 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the 2023 Notes, which represents an initial conversion
price of approximately $59.33 per share, and is subject to adjustment as specified in the Indenture.
 

If a “make-whole fundamental change” (as defined in the Indenture) occurs, then the Company will in certain circumstances increase the conversion
rate for a specified period of time.  If a “fundamental change” (as defined in the Indenture) occurs, then noteholders may require the Company to repurchase
their 2023 Notes at a cash repurchase price equal to the principal amount of the 2023 Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.
 

The Company may not redeem the 2023 Notes at its option before maturity.
 

In the event of conversion, holders would forgo all future interest payments, any unpaid accrued interest and the possibility of further stock price
appreciation. Upon the receipt of conversion requests, the settlement of the 2023 Notes will be paid pursuant to the terms of the Indenture. In the event that all
of the 2023 Notes are converted, the Company would be required to repay the $402.5 million in principal value and any conversion premium in cash, shares
or any combination of cash and shares of its common stock (at the Company’s option).
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The 2023 Notes are the Company’s senior, unsecured obligations and will be equal in right of payment with the Company’s future senior, unsecured
indebtedness, senior in right of payment to the Company’s future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the 2023 Notes and effectively subordinated
to the Company’s future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing that indebtedness. The 2023 Notes will be structurally
subordinated to all future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables.
 
Convertible Notes Hedge and Warrant Transactions
 

Contemporaneously with the pricing of the 2023 Notes on March 14, 2018, and in connection with the exercise of the over-allotment option by the
Initial Purchasers on March 15, 2018, the Company entered into separate privately negotiated convertible note hedge transactions (collectively, the
Convertible Note Hedge Transactions) with each of the call spread counterparties. The Convertible Note Hedge Transactions cover, subject to customary anti-
dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the 2023 Notes, the number of shares of the Company’s common stock underlying the 2023
Notes, as described above. The Company issued 402,500 convertible note hedge options, including options purchased on the exercise of the overallotment
option. In the event that shares or cash are deliverable to holders of the 2023 Notes upon conversion at limits defined in the Indenture, counterparties to the
convertible note hedges will be required to deliver up to approximately 6.8 million shares of the Company’s common stock or pay cash to the Company in a
similar amount as the value that the Company delivers to the holders of the 2023 Notes based on a conversion price of $59.33 per share. The total cost of the
convertible note hedge transactions was $92.9 million.
 

Concurrently with entering into the Convertible Note Hedge Transactions on each such date, the Company also entered into separate privately
negotiated warrant transactions (collectively, the Warrant Transactions) with each of the call spread counterparties whereby the Company sold to the call
spread counterparties warrants to purchase, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, up to the same number of shares of the Company’s common stock.
 

The Convertible Note Hedge Transactions and the Warrant Transactions are separate contracts entered into by the Company with the Call Spread
Counterparties, and are not part of the terms of the 2023 Notes and will not affect the noteholders’ rights under the 2023 Notes. Holders of the 2023 Notes
will not have any rights with respect to the Convertible Note Hedge Transactions or the Warrant Transactions. The Company issued a total of 6,783,939
warrants. The warrants entitle the holder to one share per warrant at the strike price through 2023. The strike price of the Warrant Transactions will initially be
$80.9063 per share of the Company’s common stock (subject to adjustment). The Company received proceeds of approximately $65.7 million from the sale
of these warrants.
 

The Convertible Note Hedge Transactions are expected to reduce generally the potential dilution with respect to the Company’s common stock upon
conversion of the 2023 Notes and/or offset any potential cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted 2023
Notes, as the case may be, upon any conversion of the 2023 Notes. The Warrant Transactions are intended to partially offset the cost to the Company of the
purchased Convertible Note Hedge Transactions; however, the Warrant Transactions could have a dilutive effect with respect to the Company’s common
stock to the extent that the market price per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the terms of the Warrant Transactions, exceeds the
strike price of the warrants. As these transactions meet certain accounting criteria under ASC 815-40-25, the convertible note hedges and warrants are
recorded in stockholders’ equity and are not accounted for as derivatives. The net cost incurred in connection with the convertible note hedges and warrant
transactions was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2018.
 

In accordance with accounting guidance on embedded conversion features, the Company valued and bifurcated the conversion option associated
with the 2023 Notes from the respective host debt instrument, which is referred to as debt discount. The Company initially recorded the conversion option of
$76.4 million in additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet. The resulting debt discount on the 2023 Notes is being amortized to interest
expense at an effective interest rate of 5.41% over the contractual term of the 2023 Notes.
 

The Company incurred approximately $10.4 million of debt financing costs. Approximately $2.0 million of this amount is allocated to the additional
paid-in capital and the remaining $8.4 million is recorded as deferred costs and is being amortized to interest expense over the contractual term of the 2023
Notes.
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The liability component of the 2023 Notes consisted of the following, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
September 30,

 

  
2018

 

  
(unaudited)

 

Principal amount of the 2023 Notes
 

$ 402,500
 

Debt discount
 

(76,434)
Deferred financing costs

 

(8,452)
Accretion of debt discount and deferred financing costs

 

8,052
 

September 30, 2018 carrying value
 

$ 325,666
 

 
No 2023 Notes were converted in the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

 
10.  Summary Stockholders’ Equity
 

The following summary table provides details related to the activity in certain captions within Stockholders’ Equity for the nine month period ended
September 30, 2018, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
Common Stock

 

Additional Paid-in
Capital

 

Retained Earnings
(Accumulated Deficit)

 

  
(unaudited)

 

        
Balance, December 31, 2017

 

$ 51
 

$ 294,999
 

$ (26,823)
Cumulative-effect of adoption of ASC 606

 

—
 

—
 

2,322
 

Balance, January 1, 2018
 

51
 

294,999
 

(24,501)
Share-based compensation

 

—
 

8,300
 

—
 

Issuance of ESPP shares
 

—
 

1,184
 

—
 

Exercise of stock options
 

1
 

9,147
 

—
 

Equity component of convertible notes issuance,
net of tax

 

—
 

56,215
 

—
 

Purchases of convertible note hedges, net of tax
 

—
 

(70,137) —
 

Issuance of warrants
 

—
 

65,688
 

—
 

Net earnings
 

—
 

—
 

85,100
 

Balance, September 30, 2018
 

$ 52
 

$ 365,396
 

$ 60,599
 

 
11.  Share-Based Payments
 
Stock Option Plans
 

The Company has adopted the Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the 2012 Plan), which is stockholder
approved. This plan provides for the grant of stock options and certain other equity awards, including stock appreciation rights (SAR), restricted and
unrestricted stock, stock units, performance awards, cash awards and other awards that are convertible into or otherwise based on the Company’s common
stock, to the Company’s key employees, directors, consultants and advisors. The 2012 Plan is administered by the Company’s Board of Directors and the
Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board and provides for the issuance of up to 8,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Option awards
are granted with an exercise price equal to the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date. Option awards granted to employees,
consultants and advisors generally vest in four equivalent annual installments, starting on the first anniversary of the date of the grant and have ten-year
contractual terms. Option awards granted to the directors generally vest over a one year term and have ten year contractual terms.
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Share-based compensation recognized as related to the grant of employee and non-employee stock options, SAR, Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(ESPP) awards and non-vested stock options was as follows, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
Three Months ended September 30,

 
Nine Months ended September 30,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

 

Research and development
 

$ 469
 

$ 356
 

$ 1,421
 

$ 1,071
 

Selling, general and administrative
 

2,128
 

2,004
 

6,879
 

5,376
 

Total
 

$ 2,597
 

$ 2,360
 

$ 8,300
 

$ 6,447
 

 
The following table summarizes stock option and SAR activity:
 

  

Number of
Options

 

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
 

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in years)
 

        
Outstanding, December 31, 2017

 

4,280,670
 

$ 14.50
 

7.37
 

Granted (unaudited)
 

742,815
 

$ 39.98
   

Exercised (unaudited)
 

(907,197) $ 10.08
   

Forfeited (unaudited)
 

(186,627) $ 25.04
   

Outstanding, September 30, 2018 (unaudited)
 

3,929,661
 

$ 19.84
 

7.30
 

        
As of December 31, 2017:

       

Vested and expected to vest
 

4,280,670
 

$ 14.50
 

7.37
 

Exercisable
 

1,952,769
 

$ 9.35
 

6.16
 

        
As of September 30, 2018:

       

Vested and expected to vest (unaudited)
 

3,929,661
 

$ 19.84
 

7.30
 

Exercisable (unaudited)
 

1,891,006
 

$ 12.24
 

6.13
 

 
12.  Earnings per Share
 

Basic earnings per common share is determined by dividing earnings attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the
earnings attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common share equivalents outstanding for the period. The treasury stock
method is used to determine the dilutive effect of the Company’s stock option grants, SAR, warrants, ESPP awards and the 2023 Notes.
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The following common stock equivalents were excluded in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would be anti-
dilutive as applied to the earnings from continuing operations applicable to common stockholders for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017:
 

  
Three Months ended September 30,

 
Nine Months ended September 30,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

 

Warrants to purchase common stock
 

4,293,022
 

—
 

3,382,253
 

—
 

Convertible notes
 

79,444
 

—
 

70,204
 

—
 

Convertible notes hedges
 

80
 

—
 

70
 

—
 

Stock options, SAR and ESPP awards
 

165,675
 

15,170
 

180,100
 

105,699
 

 
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018

and 2017, in thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts:
 

  
Three Months ended September 30,

 
Nine Months ended September 30,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

 

Numerator, in thousands:
         

Net earnings used for calculation of basic EPS
 

$ 28,011
 

$ 15,961
 

$ 85,100
 

$ 43,626
 

          
Interest expense on convertible debt

 

—
 

(14) —
 

134
 

Changes in fair value of derivative liabilities
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(76)
Loss on extinguishment of debt

 

—
 

91
 

—
 

295
 

Loss on extinguishment of outstanding debt, as if converted
 

—
 

(273) —
 

(321)
Total adjustments

 

—
 

(196) —
 

32
 

Net earnings used for calculation of diluted EPS
 

$ 28,011
 

$ 15,765
 

$ 85,100
 

$ 43,658
 

          
Denominator:

         

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic
 

52,227,630
 

51,046,375
 

51,897,240
 

50,583,726
 

          
Effect of dilutive potential common shares:

         

Shares underlying Convertible Senior Notes
 

—
 

56,484
 

—
 

382,230
 

Shares issuable to settle interest make-whole derivatives
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

7,013
 

Stock options and SAR
 

2,012,217
 

2,525,530
 

2,201,090
 

2,254,464
 

Total dilutive potential common shares
 

2,012,217
 

2,582,014
 

2,201,090
 

2,643,707
 

Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted
 

54,239,847
 

53,628,389
 

54,098,330
 

53,227,433
 

          
Net earings per share, basic

 

$ 0.54
 

$ 0.31
 

$ 1.64
 

$ 0.86
 

Net earnings per share, diluted
 

$ 0.52
 

$ 0.29
 

$ 1.57
 

$ 0.82
 

 
13.  Income Taxes
 

The following table provides a comparative summary of the Company’s income tax expense and effective tax rate for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, in thousands of dollars:
 

  
Three Months ended September 30,

 
Nine Months ended September 30,

 

  
2018

 
2017

 
2018

 
2017

 

  
(unaudited)

 
(unaudited)

 

Income tax expense
 

$ 8,360
 

$ 6,949
 

$ 16,309
 

$ 21,932
 

Effective tax rate
 

23.0% 30.3% 16.1% 33.5%
 

The income tax expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 is attributable to U.S. federal and state income taxes.
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For the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded $8.4 million of income tax expense, an increase from $6.9 million compared
to the three months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in income tax expense is primarily due to the increase in taxable earnings.
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded $16.3 million of income tax expense, a decrease from $21.9 million
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The decrease in income tax expense is primarily due to the reduction of the U.S. statutory corporate
income tax rate, from 35% to 21%, as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act passed on December 22, 2017 coupled with excess tax benefits related to
exercises of employee stock options.
 

The decrease in the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same periods in the prior year is
primarily attributable to the income tax rate reduction and excess tax benefits related to exercises of employee stock options. For the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded income tax benefits of approximately $700,000 and $7.0 million, respectively, as a result of the Company
recognizing excess tax benefits related to the exercises of employee stock options. These tax benefits caused the effective tax rate to be less than the
Company’s statutory annual effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.
 
14.  Commitments and Contingencies
 
Operating Leases
 

The Company has concurrent leases for its current headquarters office and lab space that extend through April 2020. The Company may elect to
extend the term of the leases for an additional five-year term. The leases provide for a tenant improvement allowance of approximately $2.1 million in
aggregate. As of September 30, 2018, approximately $400,000 is available for tenant improvements. During the three and nine months ended September 30,
2018, none of the allowance was utilized. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, none of the allowance was utilized, and during the nine months
ended September 30, 2017, approximately $79,000 of the allowance, was utilized. These amounts were included in fixed assets and deferred rent.
 

Rent expense for the leased facilities and leased vehicles for the Company’s sales force was approximately $900,000 and $2.7 million for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and approximately $800,000 and $1.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively.
 

Future minimum lease payments due under non-cancelable operating leases as of September 30, 2018 are as follows, in thousands of dollars,
unaudited:
 

Year ending December 31:
   

2018 (remaining)
 

$ 856
 

2019
 

3,390
 

2020
 

2,468
 

Thereafter
 

1,511
 

 

 

$ 8,225
 

 
New Headquarters Lease
 

The Company has entered into a new lease agreement, effective February 27, 2018, with Rockside-700 LLC, for its new headquarters. The term of
the new lease commences upon the Company’s substantial completion of the initial buildout of the premises, but in no event later than July 10, 2019. The
lease continues until April 30, 2033, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of the new lease (the Lease Term). Under the new lease, the
Company has the option to extend the Lease Term for two additional five-year periods. The Company had the right to terminate the lease without recourse if,
by September 30, 2018, the landlord failed to obtain certain site approval pre-requisites, which approvals were received on September 30, 2018. The new
lease provides for a tenant improvement allowance of approximately $8.9 million in aggregate. As of September 30, 2018, approximately $400,000 of the
tenant improvement allowance has been utilized and $8.5 million of the allowance is available for future tenant improvements.
 

Because the Company has concluded that it retains substantively all of the risks of ownership during the construction of the leased property, the
Company is considered the owner of the property for accounting purposes. The Company has capitalized the estimated fair value of the building shell and the
construction costs of approximately $2.3 million incurred to date and recorded these
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as a construction-in-progress asset. The Company recognized the asset and the related financing obligation as Property and Equipment, net and Other Non-
current Liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet (see Note 5).
 

Future minimum lease payments due under the new headquarters lease as of September 30, 2018 are as follows, in thousands of dollars, unaudited:
 

Year ending December 31:
   

2020
 

$ 1,367
 

2021
 

2,077
 

2022
 

2,119
 

2023
 

2,161
 

Thereafter
 

25,021
 

Total minimum lease payments
 

32,745
 

 
Product Licenses
 

The Company has obtained exclusive licenses from third parties for proprietary rights to support the product candidates in the Company’s psychiatry
portfolio. Under license agreements with Afecta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Afecta), the Company has exclusive worldwide rights to selected product candidates,
including an exclusive license to SPN-810. The Company may pay up to $300,000 upon the achievement of certain milestones, none of which was owed as of
September 30, 2018. The Company is obligated to pay royalties to Afecta as a low single digit percentage of worldwide net product sales.
 

The Company has also entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Rune HealthCare Limited (Rune), where the Company obtained the
exclusive worldwide rights to a product concept from Rune. There are no future milestone payments due to Rune under this agreement. If the Company
receives approval to market and sell any products based on the Rune product concept for SPN-809, the Company is obligated to pay royalties to Rune as a
low single digit percentage of worldwide net product sales. This product candidate is not currently under active development.
 
15.  Collaboration Agreements
 

In the third quarter of 2014, the Company received a $30.0 million payment pursuant to a Royalty Interest Acquisition Agreement related to the
purchase by HC Royalty of certain of the Company’s rights under the Company’s agreement with United Therapeutics related to the commercialization of
Orenitram (treprostinil) Extended-Release Tablets. The Company will retain full ownership of the royalty rights if and when a certain cumulative payment
threshold is reached per the terms of the agreement. The Company has recorded a non-recourse liability related to this transaction and has begun to amortize
this amount to recognize non-cash royalty revenue. Revenue recognition is based on estimated net product sales by United Therapeutics that result in
payments made from United Therapeutics to HC Royalty. The Company also recognized non-cash interest expense related to this liability that accrues at an
effective interest rate, that rate is determined based on projections of HC Royalty’s rate of return.
 

The Company recognized non-cash royalty revenue of $1.5 million and $4.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018,
respectively, and $1.4 million and $3.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.  The Company recognized non-cash
interest expense of $1.2 million and $3.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, and $200,000 and $1.3 million for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.
 
16. Subsequent Event
 

On October 4, 2018, the Company acquired Biscayne Neurotherapeutics, Inc., a privately-held company developing a novel treatment for epilepsy. The
Company obtained worldwide rights (excluding certain markets in Asia where rights have been out-licensed) to Biscayne’s product candidate, huperzine A.
Huperzine A is in clinical development and has received an Orphan Drug designation from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of
Dravet Syndrome, a severe form of childhood epilepsy.
 

In connection with the closing of this Merger, the Company made an upfront cash payment of $15 million as of the acquisition date. After the closing
of the Merger and upon the achievement of certain specified development and sales milestones, the Company may be required to make additional cash
payments to the former Biscayne security holders. These additional payments include: (i) payments of up to approximately $73 million contingent on the
Company achieving certain development milestones utilizing the
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acquired pharmaceutical intellectual property assets and (ii) payments of up to approximately $95 million contingent on the Company achieving certain sales
milestones with respect to the marketing of products developed from such assets. The Company will also pay a low single digit royalty on net sales to the
former security holders of Biscayne and any applicable royalties to third parties for the use of in-licensed intellectual property. The maximum combined
royalty the Company will pay to all parties is approximately 12%, depending on the intellectual property covering the marketed product and applicable tiered
net product sales levels.
 

As a result of the acquisition, the Company added SPN-817 to its product development pipeline. The Company plans on studying SPN-817 initially in
severe pediatric epilepsy disorders such as Dravet Syndrome.
 

26



Table of Contents
 
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to help the reader understand the results of
operations and the financial condition of Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company, we, us, or our). The interim financial statements included in this
report and this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2017 and the related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, both of which are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 1, 2018.
 

In addition to historical information, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are intended to be covered by the safe
harbors created thereby. These forward-looking statements may include declarations regarding the Company’s belief or current expectations of management,
such as statements including the words “budgeted,” “anticipate,” “project,” “estimate,” “expect,” “may,” “believe,” “potential,” and similar statements or
expressions, which are intended to be among the statements that are forward-looking statements, as such statements reflect the reality of risk and uncertainty
that is inherent in our business. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which are made as of the date this report was filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Our actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those discussed in our forward-looking statements as a result
of many factors, including those set forth under the “Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere in this report as well as in
other reports and documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation
to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 

Solely for convenience, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the trade names are referred to without the TM symbols and the trademark
registrations are referred to without the circled R, but such references should not be construed as any indicator that the Company will not assert, to the fullest
extent under applicable law, our rights thereto.
 
Overview
 

We are a pharmaceutical company focused on developing and commercializing products for the treatment of central nervous system (CNS) diseases.
 

Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR are the first once-daily extended release oxcarbazepine and topiramate products, launched in 2013 for the treatment of
epilepsy in the United States (U.S.) market. During 2017, we launched Trokendi XR for the additional indication of prophylaxis of migraine headache in
adults and adolescents. These products differ from immediate release products by offering once-daily dosing and unique pharmacokinetic profiles which we
believe can have positive clinical effects for many patients. We believe a once-daily dosing regimen improves adherence, making it more probable that
patients maintain sufficient levels of medication in their bloodstream to protect against seizures and migraines. In addition, we believe that the unique smooth
and steady pharmacokinetic profiles of our once-daily formulations reduce the peak to trough blood level fluctuations that are typically associated with
immediate release products and which may result in increased adverse events (AEs), more side effects and decreased efficacy.
 

In addition, we are developing multiple product candidates in the CNS market to address significant unmet medical needs and market opportunities.
We are developing SPN-810 (molindone hydrochloride) initially to treat impulsive aggression (IA) in children and adolescents who have attention deficit
hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). We plan to subsequently develop SPN-810 for the treatment of IA in other CNS diseases, such as autism, post traumatic
stress disorder (PTSD), bipolar disorder, and some forms of dementia. There are currently no approved products in the United States indicated for the
treatment of IA. We are developing SPN-812 (viloxazine hydrochloride) as a novel, non-stimulant candidate to treat patients who have ADHD, and SPN-604
(formerly known as Oxtellar XR for Bipolar) for the treatment of bipolar disorder.
 

Following our acquisition of Biscayne Neurotherapeutics, Inc. (Biscayne) on October 4, 2018, we are now developing SPN-817 (huperzine A)
initially in severe pediatric epilepsy disorders such as Dravet Syndrome.
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The table below summarizes our current portfolio of novel products and product candidates.
 

Product
 

Indication
 

Status
Oxtellar XR

 

Epilepsy
 

In the market
Trokendi XR

 

Epilepsy
 

In the market
  

Migraine*
 

In the market
SPN-810

 

IA**
 

Phase III
SPN-812

 

ADHD
 

Phase III
SPN-809

 

Depression
 

Phase II ready
SPN-604

 

Bipolar
 

Phase III***
SPN-817

 

Epilepsy
 

Phase I
 

*                                         Prophylaxis of migraine headache in adults and adolescents.
 
**                                  Initial program is for IA in patients with ADHD, with plans to add other indications, such as IA in patients with autism, PTSD, bipolar disorder and

some forms of dementia.
 
***                           Formerly known as the Oxtellar XR program for bipolar which will start Phase III clinical trial in second half of 2019.
 

We are continuing to expand our intellectual property portfolio to provide additional protection for our technologies, products and product
candidates. We currently have eight U.S. patents issued covering Oxtellar XR and nine U.S. patents issued covering Trokendi XR, with the patents expiring
no earlier than 2027 for each product.
 
Commercial Products
 
Trokendi XR
 

Trokendi XR, the first once-daily extended release topiramate product indicated for patients with epilepsy in the U.S. market, is designed to improve
patient adherence over the current immediate release products, which must be taken multiple times per day. In April 2017, we launched Trokendi XR for
prophylaxis of migraine headache in adults and adolescents.
 
Oxtellar XR
 

Oxtellar XR is the only once-daily extended release oxcarbazepine product indicated for the treatment of patients with epilepsy in the United States
(U.S.) as adjunctive therapy. In April 2018, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) accepted for review our efficacy supplement requesting expansion
of the current indication for Oxtellar XR to include monotherapy treatment of partial seizures of epilepsy for adults and for children 6 to 17 years of age. We
expect a decision by the FDA on this supplement in December 2018.
 
Product Prescriptions
 

We expect the number of prescriptions filled for Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR to continue to increase through 2018 and in subsequent years. Data
from IQVIA (formerly Intercontinental Marketing Services (IMS)) shows that 637,574 total prescriptions were filled for both of these drugs during the nine
months ended September 30, 2018, which is 34.5% higher than the 474,092 prescriptions reported for the same prior year period.
 

Total prescriptions for Trokendi XR increased by 36,506 or 25.0% in the third quarter of 2018 over the third quarter of 2017. Total prescriptions for
Oxtellar XR increased by 4,458 or 12.7% in the third quarter of 2018 over the third quarter of 2017.
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Patents
 

On September 6, 2018, the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit affirmed the New Jersey District Court’s decision that TWi
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiary infringed three Oxtellar XR Orange Book patents and that all three patents are valid. (See Part II, Item 1—Legal
Proceedings for additional information.)
 
Product Candidates
 

Given the recently accelerated development timeline for SPN-812 that puts its potential launch ahead of the launch of SPN-810, and the upcoming
release of data from three Phase III trials for SPN-812, we have directed our resources to prioritize the New Drug Application (NDA) filing and launch of
SPN-812. Assuming positive outcome for the Phase III trials, the NDA filing for SPN-812 is anticipated in the second half of 2019.
 

As a result of updating our plans and resource allocation to prioritize SPN-812, resources are now focused on the launch of SPN-812, which is
expected to occur in the second half of 2020. The potential launch of SPN-810 is anticipated in the second half of 2021.
 
SPN-812
 

SPN-812 is being developed as a novel non-stimulant treatment for ADHD. During 2016, we completed a Phase IIb dose ranging trial and
announced positive topline results. We initiated four Phase III clinical trials for SPN-812 in September 2017. The program consists of four three-arm,
placebo-controlled trials: P301 and P303 trials in patients 6-11 years old and P302 and P304 trials in patients 12-17 years old.
 

Enrollment in the Phase III studies has progressed ahead of schedule on SPN-812, and is now complete in the P301, P302 and P303 studies. We
expect to announce results from the P301 and P303 pediatric trials in early December 2018 and from P302, the first adolescent Phase III trial, by late
December 2018. Results of the second adolescent Phase III trial (P304) are expected by the end of the first quarter of 2019.
 
SPN-810
 

We are developing SPN-810 as a novel treatment for IA in children and adolescents who have ADHD. SPN-810 has been granted fast-track
designation by the FDA. One of our Phase III clinical trials (P301) is being conducted under a Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) with the FDA, using a
novel measurement scale developed by us.
 

We initiated two Phase III clinical trials in 2015 (P301 and P302) in children, using the same trial design and the same novel measurement scale
except that under the SPA, an interim analysis was conducted in the first trial when one-half of the patients (146 patients) reached randomization. The purpose
of the interim analysis was to assess the efficacy of the doses being tested and to allow optimization of the trial design of both trials. The interim analysis was
completed and as a result we discontinued the 18 mg dose arm. Moving forward, all patients in each of the two trials are randomized to either the 36 mg dose
arm or placebo.
 

As expected, the first Phase III trial (P301) has reached its original enrollment target with data originally scheduled to be released in the first quarter
of 2019. However, given the above prioritization of resources and given that the data readout from the second trial (P302) is now expected around mid-2019,
we have decided to keep enrollment in the P301 trial active until data from both trials can be released concurrently instead of sequentially. This change in the
plan has no impact on the timing of the NDA filing, given that the NDA filing is rate-limited by completion of the P302 trial and the generation of data from
the adolescent patient population.
 

Patients completing the Phase III trials can continue treatment under our open label extension trial. Enrollment from the P301 and P302 trials into the
open label extension trial continues at 90% or higher. On average, a patient in the open label extension study stays on SPN-810 for 9.5 months, which we
believe is an encouraging sign of tolerability and efficacy of SPN-810.
 

In addition, the investigator meeting was held and patient enrollment began in a Phase III trial for SPN-810 treating IA in adolescents who have
ADHD.
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SPN-817
 

SPN-817 will utilize a novel synthetic form of huperzine A, which is a potent acetyl cholinesterase inhibitor with pharmacological activities in CNS
conditions such as epilepsy. SPN-817 will have new chemical entity status (NCE) in the U.S. market, and we expect to have significant intellectual property
(IP) protecting this product candidate through our own research and development efforts as well as through in-licensed IP. SPN-817 represents a novel
mechanism of action for an anticonvulsant. Development will initially focus on the drug’s anticonvulsant activity that has been shown in preclinical models
for partial seizures and Dravet Syndrome.
 

We plan on studying SPN-817 initially in severe pediatric epilepsy disorders such as Dravet Syndrome. A Phase I proof-of-concept trial is currently
underway in adult patients with refractory complex partial seizures to study the safety and pharmacokinetics profile of a new extended release formulation.
 

We will focus on completing and optimizing the synthesis process of the drug and the development of a novel dosage form. Given the potency of
huperzine A, a novel extended release oral dosage form is critical to the success of this program because initial studies with immediate release formulations of
non-synthetic huperzine A have shown dose-limiting serious side effects.
 
SPN-604
 

We continue to progress our plans to initiate pivotal Phase III studies for the treatment of bipolar disorder in the second half of 2019. If approved,
this would represent the first approval for treatment of bipolar patients with oxcarbazepine in the U.S. Recently, we completed certain activities, including
market research and claims database analysis, on the use of oxcarbazepine for bipolar patients. We will be using information generated from these activities to
finalize plans for the pivotal Phase III. As a result, we deemed the investigator-initiated trial on Oxtellar XR for bipolar patients as no longer necessary, and
have since stopped the study.
 

We expect to incur significant research and development expenses related to the continued development of each of our product candidates from 2018
through FDA approval or until the program terminates.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of Estimates
 

The significant accounting policies and bases of presentation for our consolidated financial statements are described in Note 2, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, and expenses and to disclose contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
 

We believe the following accounting policies and estimates to be critical:
 
Revenue Recognition
 

Revenue from product sales is recognized when control of our products is transferred to our customers, who are pharmaceutical wholesalers and
distributors. Product sales are recorded net of various forms of variable consideration, including estimated rebates, discounts, allowances, and an estimated
liability for product returns (collectively, “sales deductions”). We adjust our estimates at the earlier of when the most likely amount of consideration we
expect to receive changes or when the consideration becomes fixed. For a complete description of our revenue recognition policy, see Part I, Item 1, Financial
Statements, Note 2, Revenue from Product Sales of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Research and Development Expenses and Related Accrued Clinical Expenses
 

Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs primarily consist of employee-related expenses,
including: salaries and benefits; share-based compensation expense; expenses incurred under agreements with clinical research organizations (CROs), fees
paid to investigators who are participating in our clinical trials, consultants and other vendors that assist in the conduct of the Company’s clinical trials; the
cost of acquiring and manufacturing clinical trial materials; the cost of manufacturing materials used in process validation, to the extent that those materials
are manufactured prior to receiving regulatory approval for those products and are not expected to be sold commercially; facilities costs that do not have an
alternative future use; related depreciation and other allocated expenses; license fees for and milestone payments related to in-licensed products and
technologies; and costs associated with animal testing activities and regulatory approvals. Assets acquired that are used for research and development and
have no future alternative use are expensed as in-process research and development.
 

Clinical trials are inherently complex and often involve multiple service providers. Because billing for services often lags by a substantial period of
time, we often are required to estimate and accrue a significant portion of our clinical expenses. This process involves reviewing open contracts and
communicating with our subject matter expert personnel and the appropriate service provider personnel to identify services that have been performed on our
behalf but for which no invoice has been received. We accrue for the estimated but unbilled services performed and the associated cost incurred.
 

Payments to service providers can either be based on hourly rates for service or based on performance driven milestones. When accruing clinical
expenses, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed during the life of the entire
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clinical program, the total cost of the program, and the level of effort to be expended in each intervening period. To the maximum extent possible, we work
with each service provider to obtain an estimate for incurred but unbilled services as of the end of the calendar quarter, including estimates for payments to
site investigators.
 

We work diligently to minimize, if not eliminate, estimates based solely on company generated calculations. If the service provider underestimates or
overestimates the cost associated with a trial or service at any given point in time, adjustments to research and development expenses may be necessary in the
current periods. Historically, our estimated accrued clinical expenses have closely approximated the actual expenses incurred.
 
Results of Operations
 
Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017
 

  
Three Months ended September 30,

 
Increase/

 

  
2018

 
2017

 
(decrease)

 

  
(unaudited, in thousands)

 

Revenue
       

Net product sales
 

$ 100,227
 

$ 78,066
 

22,161
 

Royalty revenue
 

2,769
 

2,010
 

759
 

Licensing revenue
 

—
 

322
 

(322)
Total revenue

 

102,996
 

80,398
   

Costs and expenses
       

Cost of product sales
 

4,207
 

4,251
 

(44)
Research and development

 

20,422
 

12,980
 

7,442
 

Selling, general and administrative
 

40,892
 

40,825
 

67
 

Total costs and expenses
 

65,521
 

58,056
   

Operating earnings
 

37,475
 

22,342
   

Other income (expense)
       

Interest income
 

4,461
 

814
 

3,647
 

Interest expense
 

(4,374) —
 

4,374
 

Interest expense-nonrecourse liability related to sale of future
royalties

 

(1,191) (155) 1,036
 

Loss on extinguishment of debt
 

—
 

(91) (91)
Total other (expense) income

 

(1,104) 568
   

Earnings before income taxes
 

36,371
 

22,910
   

Income tax expense
 

8,360
 

6,949
 

1,411
 

Net earnings
 

$ 28,011
 

$ 15,961
   

 
Net Product Sales.  The increase in net product sales from 2017 to 2018 was primarily driven by increased prescription volume generated by the

launch of the migraine indication for Trokendi XR in April 2017. Price increases in 2017 and 2018 also contributed to the increase in net product sales. Net
product sales are based on gross revenue from product shipments to pharmaceutical wholesalers and distributors, less estimates for rebates, product returns
and sales discounts/allowances.
 

Trokendi XR net product sales grew 35% for the three months ended September 30, 2018 compared to same period last year primarily due to
increased prescription volume. Total prescriptions for Trokendi XR increased by 25% in the third quarter of 2018 over the third quarter of 2017. This increase
in prescriptions accounted for the majority of the total increase in net product sales for Trokendi XR. The difference between the volume growth and the
related revenue increase is generally due to price increases and other changes in revenue related allowances.
 

Oxtellar XR net product sales grew 9% for the three months ended September 30, 2018 compared to same period last year primarily due to increased
prescription volume. Total prescriptions for Oxtellar XR increased by 13% in the third quarter of 2018 over the third quarter of 2017. This increase in
prescriptions primarily accounted for the total increase in net product sales for Oxtellar XR.
 

31



Table of Contents
 
The difference between the volume growth and the related revenue increase is generally due to price increases offset by other changes in revenue related
allowances.
 

The table below lists our net product sales by product, in thousands:
 

  
Net Product Sales

   

  
Three Months ended September 30,

   

  
2018

 
2017

 
Percent Change (%)

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Trokendi XR
 

$ 79,834
 

$ 59,339
 

34.5%
Oxtellar XR

 

20,393
 

18,727
 

8.9%
Total

 

$ 100,227
 

$ 78,066
 

28.4%
 

Royalty Revenue. Royalty revenue includes royalty from net product sales of Shire Plc’s product, Mydayis, and non-cash royalty revenue
consequent to the Healthcare Royalty Partners III, L.P. (HC Royalty) agreement, wherein HC Royalty receives royalty from sale of United Therapeutic’s
product, Orenitram. Non-cash royalty revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $1.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively. The
increase is primarily due to increased non-cash royalty revenue as a result of increased sales of Orenitram.
 

Licensing Revenue. The Company recognized no milestone revenue during the three months ended September 30, 2018. Total licensing revenue for
the three months ended September 30, 2017 was approximately $300,000. The decrease from prior year is primarily due to the adoption of the new revenue
recognition standard, Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606, which resulted in accelerated amortization of previously deferred up-front license
revenue. The impact of the adoption was recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in 2018.
 

Cost of Product Sales. Cost of product sales during the three months ended September 30, 2018 was $4.2 million, slightly lower as compared to $4.3
million for the three months ended September 30, 2017. The quarter over quarter decrease is attributable primarily to manufacturing efficiencies, partially
offset by higher unit volume.
 

Research and Development Expense.  Research and development (R&D) expenses during the three months ended September 30, 2018 were $20.4
million as compared to $13.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $7.4 million. This increase is primarily due to the on-
going four Phase III clinical trials for SPN-812, ongoing patient recruitment for the Phase III trials for SPN-810, and their related open label extension trials.
 

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense. The table below shows the comparison of selling and marketing and general and administrative
expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:
 

  
Selling, General and Administrative Expense

   

  
Three Months ended September 30,

   

  
2018

 
2017

 
Percent Change (%)

 

  
(unaudited, in thousands)

   

Selling and Marketing
 

$ 31,967
 

$ 29,301
 

9.1%
General and Administrative

 

8,925
 

11,524
 

-22.6%
Total

 

$ 40,892
 

$ 40,825
 

0.2%
 

Selling and Marketing.  Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately $2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as
compared to 2017. Approximately $2.4 million of the total increase is due to increased expenses for promotional and marketing programs, speaker programs
and consulting services to support our commercial products, particularly the migraine indication for Trokendi XR.
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General and Administrative.  General and administrative expenses (G&A) decreased by $2.6 million for the three months ended September 30,
2018, as compared to 2017. Of this total, approximately $2.8 million is due to decreased patent amortization expense partially offset by approximately
$400,000 of increased compensation, benefits and other employee-related expenses associated with increased administrative headcount.
 

Interest Income. For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we recognized $4.5 million and approximately $800,000, respectively,
of interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities holdings as a result of the net proceeds from the issuance of $402.5 million of 0.625% Convertible Senior Notes due
2023 (2023 Notes).
 

Interest Expense.  Interest expense was $4.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to no interest expense for the three
months ended September 30, 2017. The increase of $4.4 million was entirely due to the interest on the 2023 Notes issued in March 2018, of which
approximately $3.7 million was non-cash interest expense from the amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount on the 2023 Notes.
 

Interest Expense—Non-recourse Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties. Non-cash interest expense related to our non-recourse royalty
liability was $1.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to approximately $200,000 for the three months ended September 30,
2017. The increase of $1.0 million in non-cash expense was primarily due to changes in the projection of future royalties on Orenitram coupled with an
increase in the liability amortization term as a result of a favorable settlement of patent litigation for United Therapeutics Corporation (United Therapeutics).
 

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.  There were no 2023 Notes converted in the three months ended September 30, 2018. For the three months ended
September 30, 2017, we recognized a non-cash loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $100,000 related to the conversion of $1.6 million aggregate
principal amount of our 7.5% Convertible Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (2019 Notes).
 

Income Tax.  For the three months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded $8.4 million of income tax expense, an increase of $1.4 million as
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in income tax expense is primarily due to increased taxable earnings. For the three
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the effective income tax rate was 23.0% and 30.3%, respectively.  The decrease in the effective income tax rate
was primarily due to the reduction of the statutory U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act passed on
December 22, 2017, coupled with the tax benefit from the exercise of employee stock options.
 

Net Earnings.  Net earnings for the three months ended September 30, 2018 were $28.0 million, compared to net earnings of $16.0 million during
the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $12.0 million. This increase was primarily due to the revenue generated from our two commercial
products, Trokendi XR and Oxtellar XR, partially offset by an increase in R&D spending.
 

33



Table of Contents
 

Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017
 

  
Nine Months ended September 30,

 
Increase/

 

  
2018

 
2017

 
(decrease)

 

  
(unaudited, in thousands)

   

Revenues:
       

Net product sales
 

$ 286,377
 

$ 207,763
 

78,614
 

Royalty revenue
 

5,836
 

4,338
 

1,498
 

Licensing revenue
 

750
 

1,702
 

(952)
Total revenues

 

292,963
 

213,803
   

Costs and expenses
       

Cost of product sales
 

11,168
 

11,060
 

108
 

Research and development
 

59,368
 

33,405
 

25,963
 

Selling, general and administrative
 

117,838
 

104,141
 

13,697
 

Total costs and expenses
 

188,374
 

148,606
   

Operating income
 

104,589
 

65,197
   

Other income (expense)
       

Interest income
 

9,331
 

2,002
 

7,329
 

Interest expense
 

(9,415) (148) 9,267
 

Interest expense-nonrecourse liability related to sale of future
royalties

 

(3,096) (1,274) 1,822
 

Changes in fair value of derivative liabilities
 

—
 

76
 

(76)
Loss on extinguishment of debt

 

—
 

(295) (295)
Total other (expense) income

 

(3,180) 361
   

Earnings before income taxes
 

101,409
 

65,558
   

Income tax expense
 

16,309
 

21,932
 

(5,623)
Net earnings

 

$ 85,100
 

$ 43,626
   

 
Net Product Sales.  The increase in net product sales from 2017 to 2018 was primarily driven by increased prescription volume generated by the

April 2017 launch of the migraine indication for Trokendi XR. Price increases in 2017 and 2018 also contributed to the increase in net product sales. Net
product sales are based on gross revenue from product shipments to pharmaceutical wholesalers and distributors, less estimates for rebates, product returns
and sales discounts/allowances.
 

Trokendi XR net product sales grew 44% for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to same period last year primarily due to
increased prescription volume. Total prescriptions for Trokendi XR increased by 41% for the nine month ended September 30, 2018 compared to the same
prior period. This increase in prescriptions accounted for the majority of the total increase in net product sales for Trokendi XR. The difference between the
volume growth and the related revenue increase is generally due to price increases and other changes in revenue related allowances.
 

Oxtellar XR net product sales grew 18% for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to same period last year primarily due to
increased prescription volume. Total prescriptions for Oxtellar XR increased by 11% for the nine month ended September 30, 2018 compared to the same
prior period. This increase in prescriptions primarily accounted for the total increase in net product sales for Oxtellar XR. The difference between the volume
growth and related revenue is attributed to price increases and other changes in revenue related allowances.
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The table below lists our net product sales by product, in thousands:
 

  
Net Product Sales

   

  
Nine Months ended September 30,

   

  
2018

 
2017

 
Percent Change (%)

 
 

 
(unaudited)

   

Trokendi XR
 

$226,863
 

$157,337
 

44.2%
Oxtellar XR

 

59,514
 

50,426
 

18.0%
Total

 

$286,377
 

$207,763
 

37.8%
 

Royalty Revenue. Royalty revenue includes royalty from net product sales of Shire’s product, Mydayis, and non-cash royalty associated with the HC
Royalty agreement. Non-cash royalty revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $4.3 million and $3.7 million, respectively. The
increase is primarily due to increased sales of United Therapeutic’s product, Orenitram.
 

Licensing Revenue. Licensing revenue was $750,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $1.0 million as compared to $1.7
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The decrease from prior year is primarily due to the adoption of ASC 606, which resulted in
accelerated amortization of previously deferred up-front license revenue. The impact of the adoption was recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings in 2018.
 

Cost of Product Sales. Cost of product sales during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $11.2 million, an increase of approximately
$100,000 as compared to $11.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The period over period increase is attributable primarily to increased
product unit volume, partially offset by manufacturing efficiencies.
 

Research and Development Expense.  R&D expenses during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 were $59.4 million as compared to
$33.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $26.0 million. This increase is primarily due to the initiation of the four Phase III
clinical trials for SPN-812 in second half of 2017, ongoing patient recruitment for the two Phase III trials for SPN-810, and their related open label extension
trials.
 

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense. The table below shows the comparison of selling and marketing and general and administrative
expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:
 

  
Selling, General and Administrative Expense

   

  
Nine Months ended September 30,

   

  
2018

 
2017

 
Percent Change (%)

 
 

 
 (unaudited, in thousands)

   

Selling and Marketing
 

$ 90,982
 

$ 78,977
 

15.2%
General and Administrative

 

26,856
 

25,164
 

6.7%
Total

 

$ 117,838
 

$ 104,141
 

13.2%
 

Selling and Marketing.  Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately $12.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as
compared to 2017. Approximately $5.3 million of the total increase is due to increased compensation, benefits and other employee-related expenses
associated with increased headcount in our field salesforce. In addition, approximately $6.0 million of the total increase is due to increased expenses for
promotional and marketing programs, speaker programs and consulting services to support our commercial products, particularly the migraine indication for
Trokendi XR.
 

General and Administrative.  G&A expenses increased by $1.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to 2017. Of this
total, approximately $2.7 million is due to increased compensation, benefits and other employee-related expenses associated with increased administrative
headcount, and approximately $200,000 is due to increased professional and consulting services, partially offset by approximately $1.6 million in decreased
patent amortization expense.
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Interest Income. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we recognized $9.3 million and $2.0 million, respectively, of interest
income earned on cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. The increase is entirely attributable to an increase in cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities holdings period over period, reflecting the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2023 Notes.
 

Interest Expense.  Interest expense was $9.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to approximately $100,000 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2017. The increase of $9.3 million was entirely due to the interest payable on the 2023 Notes issued in March 2018, of
which approximately $8.1 million was non-cash interest expense from amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount on the 2023 Notes.
 

Interest Expense—Non-recourse Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties. Non-cash interest expense related to our non-recourse royalty
liability was $3.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to $1.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The
increase of approximately $1.8 million for this non-cash expense was primarily due to changes in the projected sales of United Therapeutics product,
Orenitram, coupled with an increase in the liability amortization term as a result of favorable settlement of patent litigation.
 

Changes in Fair Value of Derivative Liability.  The “make-whole fundamental change” provision in the Indenture governing the 2019 Notes expired
in May 2017. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, we recognized a non-cash gain of approximately $76,000 related to a change in the estimated
fair value of the interest make-whole derivative liability of the 2019 Notes.
 

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.  There were no 2023 Notes converted in the nine months ended September 30, 2018. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2017, we recognized a non-cash loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $300,000 related to the conversion of $4.6 million aggregate
principal amount of the 2019 Notes.
 

Income Tax.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded $16.3 million of income tax expense, compared to $21.9 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2017. The decrease of $5.6 million is primarily due to the reduction of the statutory U.S. corporate income tax rate from
35% to 21% as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act passed on December 22, 2017, coupled with a $7.0 million tax benefit from the exercise of employee
stock options.
 

Net Earnings.  Net earnings for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 were $85.1 million, compared to net earnings of $43.6 million during the
nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $41.5 million. This increase was primarily due to the revenue generated from our two commercial
products, Trokendi XR and Oxtellar XR, and lower income tax expense, partially offset by an increase in R&D and selling, general and administrative
spending.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We believe our increasing levels of net product sales will be sufficient to finance our operations in 2018 and subsequent years, including R&D
expenses for our clinical trials, increased expenses to support our commercial products, and pre-launch activities in anticipation of launching our product
candidates. We expect to incur increased R&D expenses for the remainder of 2018 to support the development of SPN-810 and SPN-812. On October 4,
2018, we paid $15.0 million for the acquisition of SPN-817. We expect our selling, general and administrative expenses to continue to increase for the
foreseeable future, as we continue to invest in the commercialization of Trokendi XR and Oxtellar XR, and in areas such as compliance, finance, management
of our intellectual property portfolio, information technology systems and personnel, in each case, commensurate with the growth of our business.
 

Our working capital at September 30, 2018 was $252.2 million, an increase of $146.7 million compared to our working capital of $105.5 million at
December 31, 2017. In addition, our long term marketable securities at September 30, 2018 were $460.3 million, an increase of $326.7 million, as compared
to $133.6 million at December 31, 2017. This increase is primarily attributable to the net proceeds generated by the issuance of the 2023 Notes.
 

Our stockholders’ equity increased by $154.5 million during the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018, primarily as a result of net earnings
of $85.1 million, coupled with option exercises, share-based compensation and the issuance of the 2023 Notes and warrants. These increases were partially
offset by the purchase of convertible note hedges, as described below.
 

On March 14, 2018, we issued $402.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 2023 Notes pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 19, 2018 (the
Indenture) between us and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee. The Indenture includes customary terms and covenants, including certain
events of default after which the 2023 Notes may be due and payable immediately. Interest on the 2023 Notes, at an annual rate of 0.625%, is payable semi-
annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year. As of September 30, 2018, the outstanding aggregate principal amount of 2023 Notes was $402.5
million. We will settle conversions of the 2023 Notes by paying or delivering, as applicable, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and
shares of our common stock, at our election, based on the applicable conversion rate. The initial conversion rate is 16.8545 shares per $1,000
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principal amount of the 2023 Notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $59.33 per share, and is subject to adjustments specified in
the Indenture. We may not redeem the 2023 Notes at our option before maturity.
 

We also entered into separately negotiated convertible note hedge transactions (collectively, the Convertible Note Hedge Transactions). The
Convertible Note Hedge Transactions cover the number of shares of our common stock underlying the 2023 Notes. Concurrently with entering into the
Convertible Note Hedge Transactions on each such date, we also entered into separate privately negotiated warrant transactions (collectively, the Warrant
Transactions) whereby we sold warrants to purchase up to the same number of shares of our common stock. The Convertible Note Hedge Transactions and
the Warrant Transactions are separate contracts entered into by the Company. The Convertible Note Hedge Transactions are expected to reduce generally the
potential dilution with respect to the Company’s common stock upon conversion of the 2023 Notes and/or offset any potential cash payments we are required
to make in excess of the principal amount of converted Notes, as the case may be, upon any conversion of the 2023 Notes. Although intended to partially
offset the cost of the purchased Convertible Note Hedge Transactions, the Warrant Transactions could have a dilutive effect with respect to our common stock
to the extent that the market price per share of our common stock, as measured under the terms of the Warrant Transactions, exceeds the strike price of the
warrants, or $80.9063 per share of Company’s common stock.
 

We achieved positive cash flow and profitability from operations in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. While we expect
continued profitability in 2018 and in subsequent years as we continue to increase sales, we anticipate there may be significant variability from quarter to
quarter in our level of profitability due to increased spending.
 
Cash Flows
 

The following table sets forth the major sources and uses of cash for the periods set forth below (summarized, in thousands):
 

  
Nine Months ended September 30,

   

  
2018

 
2017

 
Change

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Net cash provided by (used in):
       

        
Operating activities

 

$ 96,137
 

$ 78,305
 

$ 17,832
 

        
Investing activities

 

(447,810) (67,289) (380,521)
        
Financing activities

 

375,187
 

4,510
 

370,677
 

        
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

 

$ 23,514
 

$ 15,526
 

$ 7,988
 

 
Operating Activities
 

Net cash provided by operating activities is comprised of two components: cash provided by operating earnings and cash provided by changes in
working capital.
 

Results for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017 are summarized below, in thousands:
 

  
Nine Months ended September 30,

   

  
2018

 
2017

 
Change

 

  
(unaudited)

   

Cash provided by operating earnings
 

$ 97,561
 

$ 67,342
 

$ 30,219
 

        
Cash (used in) provided by working capital

 

(1,424) 10,963
 

(12,387)
        
Net cash provided by operating activities

 

$ 96,137
 

$ 78,305
 

$ 17,832
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The increase in net cash provided by operating activities is primarily driven by an increase in revenue generated from sales of our two commercial
products, Trokendi XR and Oxtellar XR.
 

The changes in certain operating assets and liabilities are, in thousands:
 
  

Nine Months ended September 30,
   

  
2018

 
2017

 
Explanation of Change

 

  
(unaudited)

   

(Increase) Decrease in:
       

Accounts receivable
 

$ (10,687) $ (14,639) Increased product sales offset by timing of cash collections.
 

Inventory
 

(6,976) 1,854
 

Increased inventory production volume to support increased
product demand.

 

Prepaid expenses, other current assets and
other non-current assets

 

(3,120) (2,712)

Progress of clinical trials. Timing differences related to
prepayment of drug regulatory fees in fourth quarter of 2017
and income tax payments in 2018.

 

Increase (Decrease) in:
       

Accounts payable, accrued sales
deductions and accrued expenses

 

26,659
 

19,286
 

Timing of vendor payments. Increased accrued sales deductions
due to increased product sales.

 

        
Income taxes payable

 

(7,390) 6,482
 

Timing of income tax payments.
 

Other
 

90
 

692
   

 

 

$ (1,424) $ 10,963
   

 
Investing Activities
 

We invest excess cash in marketable securities in accordance with our investment policy. Marketable securities consist of investments which mature
in four years or less, including U.S. Treasury and various government agency debt securities, municipal bonds, as well as investment grade securities in
industrial and financial institutions. Fluctuations in investing activities between periods relate exclusively to the timing of marketable securities purchases and
the related maturities of these securities.
 

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 of $447.8 million primarily relates to net purchases of
marketable securities of $446.4 million. Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 of $67.3 million included net
purchases of marketable securities of $55.9 million, patent defense costs of $10.1 million and property and equipment purchases of approximately $1.3
million.
 
Financing Activities
 

Net cash provided by financing activities of $375.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was due to proceeds from the issuance of
the 2023 Notes, the Warrant Transactions and the issuance of common stock due to stock option exercises, partially offset by payments made for the
Convertible Note Hedge Transactions and 2023 Notes financing costs.
 

Net cash provided by financing activities of $4.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was due to proceeds from the issuance of
common stock due to stock option exercises.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of September 30, 2018 (except as noted below), in thousands,
unaudited:
 

  
Less than

 
1 - 3

 
3 - 5

 
Greater than

   

Contractual Obligations
 

1 Year
 

Years
 

Years
 

5 Years
 

Total
 

Convertible Senior Notes 
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 402,500
 

$ —
 

$ 402,500
 

Interest on Convertible Notes 
 

2,516
 

5,031
 

3,773
 

—
 

11,320
 

Operating Leases 
 

3,404
 

4,821
 

—
 

—
 

8,225
 

New Headquarters Lease 
 

—
 

2,921
 

4,259
 

25,565
 

32,745
 

Acquisition of Biscayne 
 

15,000
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

15,000
 

Purchase Obligations 
 

179,064
 

14,215
 

69
 

8
 

193,356
 

Total 
 

$ 199,984
 

$ 26,988
 

$ 410,601
 

$ 25,573
 

$ 663,146
 

 

(1)                                 Relates to the 2023 Notes (see Note 9 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I.)
 
(2)                                 Our commitments for operating leases relate to our leases of office equipment, fleet vehicles and the lease of current headquarters office and

laboratory space as of September 30, 2018.
 
(3)                                 Our commitment for the build-to-suit lease of our new headquarters office as of September 30, 2018 (see Note 14 in the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements in Part I.)
 
(4)                                 Relates to upfront cash payment for the acquisition of Biscayne Neurotherapeutics, Inc. on October 4, 2018 (see Note 16 in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I). This table does not include contingent milestones that we may be required to pay to the former
Biscayne security holders after the closing of the Merger and upon achievement of these milestones. The additional contingent milestone payments
include (i) payments of up to approximately $73 million contingent on achieving certain development milestones with respect to certain
pharmaceutical intellectual property assets held by Biscayne prior to the Merger; and (ii) payments of up to approximately $95 million contingent on
achieving certain sales milestones with respect to the marketing of products developed from such assets. We will also pay a low single digit royalty
on net sales to the former security holders of Biscayne and any applicable royalties to third parties for the use of in-licensed intellectual property. The
maximum combined royalty that we will pay to all parties is approximately 12%, depending on the intellectual property covering the marketed
product and applicable tiered sales levels. This table does not include these milestones and royalty payments, as the timing and likelihood of such
payments are not known.

 
(5)                                 Relates primarily to agreements and purchase orders with contractors and vendors.
 
(6)                                 This table does not include (i) any milestone payments which may become payable to third parties under license agreements or contractual

agreements regarding our clinical trials, as the timing and likelihood of such payments are not known, (ii) any royalty payments to third parties as the
amounts, timing and likelihood of such payments are not known and (iii) contracts that are entered into in the ordinary course of business which are
not material in the aggregate in any period presented above.

 
(7)                                 As of September 30, 2018, we had liabilities related to uncertain tax positions. Due to uncertainties in the timing of potential tax audits, the timing of

the resolution of these positions is uncertain. As such, we are unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of payments beyond 12
months. As a result, liabilities related to uncertain tax positions are not included in the above table.

 
In addition to the table above, we are contractually obligated to pay to HC Royalty all royalty payments earned under a licensing agreement with

United Therapeutics for Orenitram. Although we have recorded a liability of $25.2 million at September 30, 2018 related to this obligation, it is a non-
recourse liability for which we have no obligation to make any cash payments to HC Royalty under any circumstances. Accordingly, this obligation will have
no impact on our liquidity at any time and the non-recourse liability has not been included in the table above.
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Product licenses. Under license agreements with Afecta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Afecta), we have exclusive worldwide rights to selected product
candidates, including an exclusive license to SPN-810. We may pay up to $300,000 upon the achievement of certain milestones. We are obligated to pay
royalties to Afecta as a low single digit percentage of worldwide net product sales. There are no future milestone payments and royalty payments owed as of
September 30, 2018.
 

The Company obtained the exclusive worldwide rights to a product concept from Rune HealthCare Limited (Rune). If the Company receives
approval to market and sell any products based on the Rune product concept for SPN-809, the Company is obligated to pay royalties to Rune as a low single
digit percentage of worldwide net product sales. There are no future milestone payments and royalty payments due to Rune under this agreement as of
September 30, 2018.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We do not currently have, nor have we ever had, any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such entities often referred
to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or for
other contractually narrow or limited purposes. In addition, we do not engage in trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 

For a discussion of new accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve our capital to fund operations and to facilitate business development activities. We
also seek to maximize income from our investments without assuming significant interest rate or liquidity risk. Our exposure to market risk is confined to
investments in cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and long term marketable securities. As of September 30, 2018, we had unrestricted cash, cash
equivalents, marketable securities and long term marketable securities of $740.5 million. In connection with the 2023 Note, we have separately entered into
Convertible Note Hedge Transactions and Warrant Transactions to reduce the potential dilution of the Company’s common stock upon conversion of the 2023
notes and to partially offset the cost to the purchased Convertible Note Hedge Transactions, respectively. We do not engage in any hedging activities against
changes in interest rates. Because of the short-term maturities of our cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and long term marketable securities and
because we generally hold these securities to maturity, we do not believe that an increase in market rates would have any significant impact on the realizable
value of our investments. We do not have any currency or other derivative financial instruments other than the outstanding warrants to purchase common
stock and the convertible note hedges.
 

We may contract with CROs and investigational sites globally. Currently, we have one ongoing trial for SPN-817 outside the United States. We do
not hedge our foreign currency exchange rate risk. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are recorded based on exchange rates at
the time such transactions arise. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, substantially all of our total liabilities were denominated in the U.S.
dollar.
 

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor and clinical trial costs. We do not believe that inflation and changing prices over the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 had a significant impact on our consolidated results of operations.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange
Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we
file or submit under the Exchange Act has been appropriately recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO
and CFO, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2018, the
end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, under the supervision and with the
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participation of our management, including our CEO and CFO, we concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30,
2018.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2018 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
PART II — OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 
From time to time and in the ordinary course of business, we are subject to various claims, charges and litigation. We may be required to file infringement
claims against third parties for the infringement of our patents. We have filed such claims for infringement of the Orange Book patents listed for our product
Oxtellar XR.
 
Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. TWi Pharmaceuticals, Inc., et al., C.A. No. 15-369 (RMB)(JS) (D.N.J.)
 
Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. TWi Pharmaceuticals, Inc., et al., Appeal No. 2017-2513 (Fed. Cir.)
 
We received a Paragraph IV Notice Letter against United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131, 8,617,600, and 8,821,930 from generic drug maker TWi
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on December 9, 2014. On January 16, 2015, we filed a lawsuit against TWi Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and TWi International LLC
(d/b/a TWi Pharmaceuticals USA) (collectively TWi) alleging infringement of United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131, 8,617,600, and 8,821,930. 
The Complaint—filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey—alleged, inter alia, that TWi infringed our Oxtellar XR patents by submitting
to the FDA an ANDA seeking to market a generic version of Oxtellar XR prior to the expiration of our patents. On February 13, 2015, TWi answered the
Complaint and denied the substantive allegations of the Complaint.  TWi also asserted Counterclaims seeking declaratory judgments of non-infringement and
invalidity of United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898 and 7,910,131. On March 20, 2015, we filed our Reply, denying the substantive allegations of those
Counterclaims.  A four-day bench trial was held between April 3 and April 6, 2017.  On August 15, 2017, the Court issued an opinion and order finding that:
(i) TWi’s ANDA products infringe United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131, and 8,821,930; and (ii) United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131,
and 8,821,930 are not invalid.  The Court entered a final judgment on August 28, 2017: (i) enjoining the FDA from approving TWi’s ANDA before the
expiration date of United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131, and 8,821,930; and (ii) enjoining TWi from commercially manufacturing, using, offering to
sell, or selling within the United States, or importing into the United States, TWi’s ANDA products until the expiration of United States Patent Nos.
7,722,898, 7,910,131, and 8,821,930.  On August 31, 2017, TWi filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.  On
September 6, 2018, the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit affirmed the District Court’s Final Judgment.  The Federal Circuit’s mandate
issued on October 16, 2018.
 
Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. TWi Pharmaceuticals, Inc., et al., C.A. No. 17-2164 (RMB)(JS) (D.N.J.)
 
We received a second Paragraph IV Notice Letter against United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131, 8,617,600, 8,821,930, 9,119,791, 9,351,975, and
9,370,525 from generic drug maker TWi Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on February 16, 2017.  On March 31, 2017, we filed a lawsuit against TWi
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and TWi International LLC alleging infringement of United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131, 8,617,600, 8,821,930, 9,119,791,
9,351,975, and 9,370,525.  TWi filed a motion to dismiss Supernus’s March 31, 2017 Complaint on May 10, 2017.  On May 19, 2017, the Court
“administratively terminate[d] this matter pending this Court’s decision in the First TWi Action [concerning United States Patent Nos. 7,722,898, 7,910,131,
8,617,600, and 8,821,930].”  As of the date of this filing, Civil Action No. 17-2164 (RMB)(JS) (D.N.J.) remains administratively terminated.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 

Any investment in our business involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider the information
we include in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes, and the additional information in the
other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission along with the risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017 and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018. These risks may result in material harm to our business and
our financial condition and results of operations. In such an eventuality, the market price of our common stock may decline and you could lose part or all of
your investment.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 
(a)                                 Sales of Unregistered Securities.
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company granted options to employees and directors to purchase an aggregate of 742,815
shares of common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $39.98 per share. Once vested, the options are exercisable for a period of ten years from the
grant date. These issuances were exempt from registration in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as transactions not involving a public offering.
 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
 

None
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 

None
 
Item 5. Other Information
 

None
 
Item 6. Exhibits
 
The following exhibits are filed or furnished as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q:
 
2.1†

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 12, 2018, by and between Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Supernus Merger Sub, Inc.,
Biscayne Neurotherapeutics, Inc. and Reich Consulting Group, Inc., as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated September 21, 2018.

   
31.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
   
31.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
   
32.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

   
32.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

   
101.INS

 

XBRL Instance Document.
   
101.SCH

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
   
101.CAL

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
   
101.DEF

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
   
101.LAB

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label/Linkbase Document.
   
101.PRE

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
 

† Confidential treatment requested under 17 C.F.R. §§200.80(b)(4) and 230.406. The confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted and are marked
accordingly. The confidential portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Confidential Treatment
Request.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 
Number

 
Description

   
2.1†

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 12, 2018, by and between Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Supernus Merger Sub, Inc.,
Biscayne Neurotherapeutics, Inc. and Reich Consulting Group, Inc., as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated September 21, 2018.

   
31.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
   
31.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
   
32.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

   
32.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

   
101.INS

 

XBRL Instance Document.
   
101.SCH

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
   
101.CAL

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
   
101.DEF

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
   
101.LAB

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label/Linkbase Document.
   
101.PRE

 

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
 

† Confidential treatment requested under 17 C.F.R. §§200.80(b)(4) and 230.406. The confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted and are marked
accordingly. The confidential portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Confidential Treatment
Request.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

 
 

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
   
DATED: November 9, 2018 By: /s/ Jack A. Khattar
  

Jack A. Khattar
  

President, Secretary and Chief Executive Officer
   
   
DATED: November 9, 2018 By: /s/ Gregory S. Patrick
  

Gregory S. Patrick
  

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

 
This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of September 12, 2018 (this “Agreement”), is entered into by and among SUPERNUS

PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), SUPERNUS MERGER SUB, INC., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), BISCAYNE NEUROTHERAPEUTICS, INC., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), and REICH CONSULTING
GROUP, INC., a Florida corporation, as the Securityholder Representative (the “Securityholder Representative”).
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, and in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (as
amended, the “Act”), Parent, Merger Sub and the Company intend to enter into a business combination transaction;
 

WHEREAS, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) has, as of the date of this Agreement, unanimously adopted
resolutions (i) approving and declaring advisable this Agreement, the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company (the “Merger”), and the Transactions,
(ii) declaring that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company Stockholders that the Company enter into this Agreement and consummate the
Merger on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and (iii) recommending that such stockholders adopt this Agreement;
 

WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors of Parent and Merger Sub have, as of the date of this Agreement, approved this Agreement, the
Merger and the Transactions and declared it advisable and in the best interests of Parent and Merger Sub, respectively, and their respective stockholders that
Merger Sub be merged with and into the Company, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, a portion of the cash payable by Parent in connection with the Merger will be contingent upon certain events and conditions, all as more
fully set forth in this Agreement;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants, promises and representations set forth herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

 
Section 1.01. Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings (terms defined in the singular to have a

correlative meaning when used in the plural and vice versa).  Certain other terms are defined in the text of this Agreement.
 

“Act” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.
 



 
“Additional Escrow Amount” shall equal ** dollars ($**).

 
“Affiliate” of any Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under

common control with, such first Person.  For purposes of the immediately preceding sentence, the term “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the
terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of
the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or
otherwise.
 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereto.
 

“Allocation Schedule” means the schedule allocating the Merger Consideration among the holders of the Common Stock, Preferred Stock, Company
Options and Company Warrant, to be delivered at the Closing substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
 

“Anti-Bribery Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.20(a).
 

“Board of Directors” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.
 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or a day on which banks in New York, NY are closed.
 

“Certificate” means a certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding shares of Company Stock.
 

“Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03.
 

“Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).
 

“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.
 

“Closing Cash” means, without duplication, the sum (expressed in United States dollars) of all cash and cash equivalents (including (i) money
orders, (ii) checks received (but not yet cashed), (iii) bank deposits and (iv) short term investments and instruments and other cash equivalents) of the
Company and the Company Subsidiary.
 

“Closing Certificate” means a certificate, certified by an executive officer of the Company as true, accurate and complete setting forth, in reasonable
detail, (i) the amount of the Closing Indebtedness (including a breakdown of the individual payees for such amounts as well as their addresses and payment
instructions therefor), and (ii) the amount of the Third Party Expenses of the Company (including a breakdown of the individual payees for such amounts as
well as their addresses and payment instructions therefor).
 

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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“Closing Indebtedness” means all of the Indebtedness of the Company outstanding as of the Closing and all amounts that would be payable pursuant

to such Indebtedness if it were repaid in connection with, at or promptly following the Closing, other than the Permitted Indebtedness.
 

“Closing Merger Consideration” shall equal (i) the Closing Purchase Price plus, (ii) the Closing Cash, minus (iii) the Closing Indebtedness, minus
(iv) the Transaction Expenses minus (v) the Transaction Bonus Amount, minus (vi) the Initial Escrow Amount.
 

“Closing Merger Payment” shall equal the Closing Merger Consideration minus the Representative Expense Amount.
 

“Closing Purchase Price” shall equal fifteen million dollars ($15,000,000).
 

“Closing Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.09(a).
 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 

“Common Merger Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(c).
 

“Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.05(a).
 

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereto.
 

“Company Articles of Incorporation” means the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company as in effect on the date hereof or
the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company as in effect immediately prior to the Closing (as adopted in accordance with Section 2.01(a)), as applicable.
 

“Company Benefit Plan” means any (i) pension plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) or post-retirement or employment profit-sharing,
insurance, health, medical or fringe plan, program, policy or arrangement, (ii) “employee benefit plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA),
(iii) bonus, incentive or deferred compensation or equity or equity-based compensation plan, program, policy or arrangement (including the Company Equity
Plan), (iv) severance, change in control, employment, consulting, retirement, retention or termination plan, program, agreement, policy or arrangement or
(v) other compensation or benefit plan, program, agreement, policy, practice, contract, arrangement or other obligation, whether or not in writing and whether
or not subject to ERISA, in each case, sponsored, maintained, contributed to or required to be maintained or contributed to by the Company, the Company
Subsidiary or any ERISA Affiliate (A) for the benefit of any current or former director, officer or employee of the Company or the Company Subsidiary or
(B) under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate had or has any present or future liability, other than any plan, program, policy or arrangement
mandated by applicable Law.
 

“Company Copyrights” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(a).
 

“Company Disclosure Letter” has the meaning set forth in Article IV.
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“Company Employee Agreement” means each management, employment, severance, retention, transaction bonus, change in control, consulting,

relocation, indemnification, repatriation or expatriation agreement or other Contract between: (i) the Company or the Company Subsidiary and (ii) any current
or former director, employee or individual independent contractor, other than any such Contract that is terminable “at will” without any obligation on the part
of the Company or the Company Subsidiary to make any severance, termination, change in control or similar payment or to provide any benefit.
 

“Company Equity Plan” means the Company’s 2016 Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended.
 

“Company In-Licenses” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(a).
 

“Company Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property that is owned or licensed, or purported to be owned or licensed, in whole or in part,
by or to the Company or the Company Subsidiary.
 

“Company Leased Real Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(b).
 

“Company Option” means any option to purchase Company Stock that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.
 

“Company Out-Licenses” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(a).
 

“Company Patent Rights” means (i) the Company Patents, (ii) any patents issuing anywhere in the world from any application (including, but not
limited to, divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part and renewals) that claims priority (directly or indirectly) to, or common priority with, the patent or
patent application of any of the Company Patents, (iii) any patents that are reissues, reexaminations, extensions, or foreign counterparts of any of the
foregoing and (iv) any application from which any of the foregoing patents issue.
 

“Company Patents” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(a).
 

“Company Stock” means all of the capital stock of the Company, including all the outstanding shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock.
 

“Company Stockholder” means a stockholder of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time, as determined in accordance with the stock
transfer records of the Company.
 

“Company Stockholder Approval” means approval by the holders of Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock as
required by the Company Articles of Incorporation and the Act.
 

“Company Subsidiary” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.02.
 

“Company Tax Returns” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.07(a)(i).
 

“Company Trademarks” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(a).
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“Company Warrant” means the warrant to purchase Company Stock dated January 20, 2017 issued to **.

 
“Confidentiality Agreement” means the confidential disclosure agreement dated January 30, 2018 by and between Parent and the Company.

 
“Contingent Payment Termination Date” means the earlier of (i) the ** anniversary of the date that the first commercial sale of the first Product by

Parent or its Affiliates occurs and (ii) the ** of a **.
 

“Contract” means any written, oral or other agreement, contract, subcontract, lease, binding understanding, instrument, note, option, warranty,
purchase order, license, sublicense, insurance policy, benefit plan, commitment or undertaking of any nature, as of the date hereof or as may hereafter be in
effect.
 

“Delaware Redomicile Costs” means the lesser of (i) seven thousand five hundred dollars ($7,500) and (ii) the out-of-pocket costs and expenses
incurred by the Company (including reasonable legal costs and expenses) in connection with the conversion contemplated by Section 2.01(a).
 

“Designee” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.03(b).
 

“Diligent Efforts” means, with respect to a task related to a Product, the efforts required to carry out such task in a diligent and sustained manner
without undue interruption, pause or delay, which level is at least commensurate with the level of efforts that a pharmaceutical company of comparable size
and resources as those of Parent and its Affiliates would reasonably and customarily devote to a product of similar potential and having similar commercial
and clinical advantages and disadvantages resulting from the company’s own research efforts, taking into account its safety, tolerability and efficacy, its
proprietary position and profitability (excluding all payments under this Agreement), the competitiveness of alternative third party products, the regulatory
environment and other relevant considerations, including technical, commercial, legal, clinical, scientific and/or medical factors.  For clarity, “Diligent
Efforts” does not mean that the Company guarantees that it will actually achieve any Milestone, whether at all or by a specific date.
 

“Dissenting Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10.
 

“Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03.
 

“Employee” means any current or former or retired employee, consultant or director of the Company, the Company Subsidiary or any ERISA
Affiliate.
 

“Environmental Law” means any Law relating to (i) pollution or protection of the environment or natural resources, including indoor and ambient
air, soil, surface water or groundwater, sediment, flora and fauna, (ii) the exposure to hazardous, deleterious or toxic
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materials, human health or safety and (iii) the presence of, exposure to, or the management, manufacture or other generation, use, storage, recycling,
treatment, discharge, release, transportation, processing, disposal or remediation of Hazardous Materials.
 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
 

“ERISA Affiliate” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.17(d).
 

“Escrow Agent” means the Person designated by the parties to serve as the agent under the Escrow Agreement.
 

“Escrow Agreement” means the agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, between the parties and the Escrow Agent.
 

“Escrow Fund” means the fund established by the Company with the Escrow Agent to be initially funded with the Initial Escrow Amount, and to be
subsequently funded with the Additional Escrow Amount, to be used to pay claims pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII hereof.
 

“Escrow Termination Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01(a).
 

“Example Statement” means the example statement attached hereto as Exhibit C showing an illustrative form of the Closing Statement to be
delivered pursuant to Section 2.09(a).
 

“Existing D&O Policy” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.05.
 

“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration, or any successor agency thereto.
 

“FDCA” means the United States Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended.
 

“First Sales Milestone” means the first attainment of Net Sales in the United States of not less than ** dollars ($**) during any calendar year.
 

“Former Securityholders” means the Company Stockholders, the holders of Company Options and the holder of the Company Warrant.
 

“Former Securityholders Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05(a).
 

“Fourth Sales Milestone” means the first attainment of Net Sales in the United States of not less than ** dollars ($**) during any calendar year.
 

“Fraud” means an inaccurate representation or warranty contained in this Agreement if, at the time such representation or warranty was made, the
party making such representation or warranty (a) had knowledge of the inaccuracy or breach of such representation or warranty and
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failed to notify the other party or parties or otherwise correct such inaccuracy or cure the breach; and (b) failed to notify the other party of such inaccuracy
with the specific intention to induce the other party or parties to enter into (or not to dissuade the other party or parties from entering into) this Agreement and
consummate the Transactions.
 

“Fundamental Representations” means, with respect to the Company, those representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.01 (Organization,
Standing and Corporate Power), Section 4.02 (Subsidiarity), Section 4.03 (Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement), Section 4.05 (Capital Structure),
Section 4.16 (Taxes and Tax Returns) and Section 4.21 (Brokers and other Advisors) and with respect to Parent and Merger Sub, those representations and
warranties set forth in Section 5.01 (Due Organization), Section 5.03 (Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement), Section 5.06 (Funds) and Section 5.07
(Brokers and other Advisors).
 

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, consistently applied (which, in the case of Parent, refers to the
application of GAAP in Parent’s filed financial statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission for so long as Parent is required to file financial
statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission).
 

“Generic Product” means for any Product, any pharmaceutical product sold by any Person and approved in reliance on the prior approval of a
Product as determined by the FDA or any applicable foreign regulatory authority, on the basis of it being a therapeutically equivalent, bioequivalent and
legally substitutable generic version for such Product, as stated in a regulatory filing with the FDA or any applicable foreign regulatory authority.
 

“Good Clinical Practices” means the FDA’s standards for the design, conduct, performance, monitoring, auditing, recording, analysis and reporting
of clinical trials as set forth in 21 C.F.R. Parts 50, 54, 56 and 312 and applicable guidance documents, as well as similar applicable standards in foreign
jurisdictions.
 

“Good Laboratory Practices” means the FDA’s standards for the design, conduct, performance, monitoring, auditing, recording, analysis and
reporting of nonclinical studies as set forth in 21 C.F.R. Part 58 and applicable guidance documents, as well as similar applicable standards in foreign
jurisdictions.
 

“Governmental Authorization” means any permit, license, certificate, approval, consent, grant, franchise, permission, clearance, registration,
qualification or authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any Law.
 

“Governmental Body” means any: (i) nation, province, state, county, city, town, village, district or other jurisdiction of any nature, (ii) federal,
provincial, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government, (iii) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental
agency, branch, department, official or entity and any court or other tribunal), (iv) multinational organization or body or (v) body exercising, or entitled to
exercise, any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing authority or power of any nature.
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“Hazardous Materials” means any substance, waste or material defined, characterized or regulated as hazardous, acutely hazardous, toxic, a

pollutant or a contaminant, or that could reasonably be expected to result in liability, controls or restrictions under any applicable Environmental Law
currently in effect, including petroleum, petroleum products, by-products and distillates, pesticides, dioxin, polychlorinated biphenyls, mold, biological
hazards, asbestos and asbestos-containing materials.
 

“Huperzine” means the Huperzine-A compound and related isomers, as the same may be isolated, extracted or synthesized, and in any natural,
synthetic or engineered formulation (e.g., extended release, intravenous, or nasal).
 

“Identical” means ** of the ** material made at the ** scale, to confirm that it is the same as the ** in the ** based on (i) ** and ** (assay vs
standard, ** by area **), (ii) moisture by **, (iii) **, (iv) **, (v) ** and ** — no significant unknown **, consistent with proposed structure, (vi) solid form
comparison via ** (if drug would require a **), and (viii) any potentially ** (as assessed in silico) species (based on observed and **) must not be greater
than the **.
 

“Indebtedness” of any Person means (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds,
debentures, notes or similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person upon which interest charges are customarily paid, other than trade credit incurred
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iv) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements
relating to property or assets purchased by such Person, (v) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property or
services, other than trade payables in the ordinary course of business paid consistent with past practice, (vi) all indebtedness of others secured by (or
potentially secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, (vii) all capital lease obligations of such Person, and (viii) any guarantee of
any of the foregoing.  The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any partnership in which such Person is a general partner. 
Indebtedness shall not include any Third Party Expenses of the Company.
 

“Independent Accountant” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(a).
 

“Initial Escrow Amount” shall equal ** dollars ($**).
 

“Intellectual Property” means all (i) patents and patent applications (“Patents”), (ii) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos, Internet domain
names, trade names and corporate names, whether registered or unregistered, and the goodwill associated therewith, together with any registrations and
applications for registration thereof (“Trademarks”), (iii) copyrights and rights under copyrights, whether registered or unregistered, and any registrations and
applications for registration thereof (“Copyrights”) and (iv) trade secrets and other rights in know-how and confidential or proprietary information, including
any technical data, specifications, techniques, inventions and discoveries, in each case, to the extent that it qualifies as a trade secret under applicable Law
(“Trade Secrets”).
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“IRS” means the Internal Revenue Service.

 
“Knowledge of the Company” means the knowledge, after reasonable due inquiry, of **, ** and **.

 
“Law” means any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, international, multinational, supranational or other law, statute, constitution, principle of

common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, order, judgment, decree, injunction, rule, regulation, ruling, treaty, procedure, notice or requirement issued,
enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Body.
 

“Legal Proceeding” means any action, suit, litigation, arbitration, proceeding (including any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or appellate
proceeding), hearing, inquiry, audit, examination or investigation commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any court or
other Governmental Body or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.
 

“Letter of Transmittal” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.13(b).
 

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance, hypothecation, charge, adverse claim or interest, infringement or other security interest of
any kind or nature whatsoever (including any restriction on the right to vote or transfer the same, except for such transfer restrictions of general applicability
as may be provided under the Securities Act or applicable “blue sky” Laws).
 

“Loss” or “Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.02(a).
 

“Majority in Interest” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.12.
 

“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development that would or would reasonably be expected
to, individually or in the aggregate, (i) have a material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities, financial condition or results of operations of the
Company and the Company Subsidiary, taken as a whole, or (ii) materially impair, prevent or delay Parent’s or Merger Sub’s ability to consummate the
Transactions in a timely manner on the terms set forth herein; provided that “Material Adverse Effect” shall not include any material adverse change, effect,
event, occurrence, state of facts or development (A) relating to or resulting from any change in the financial, banking, currency or capital markets in general
(whether in the United States or any other country or in any international market), (B) relating to or resulting from the industry in which the Company or the
Company Subsidiary operates and not uniquely relating to the Company or the Company Subsidiary, (C) resulting from actions or omissions of the Company
taken with the prior written consent of Parent or required by the express terms of this Agreement (including the Company Disclosure Letter), (D) resulting
from any action taken by Parent or any of its Affiliates, (E) resulting from any worldwide, national or local conditions or circumstances (political, economic,
financial, regulatory or otherwise), including, an outbreak or escalation or war, armed hostilities, acts of terrorism, political instability or other national or
international calamity, crisis or emergency
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
 

9



 
occurring after the date hereof within or outside of the United States or (F) arising out of any changes in GAAP (or interpretations thereof) or any change in
applicable Laws or the interpretation thereof; provided further that, in the case of clauses (A), (B), (E) and (F), only to the extent such changes do not
disproportionately and materially affect the Company and the Company Subsidiary, taken as a whole, as compared to other Persons or businesses that operate
in the industry in which the Company and the Company Subsidiary operate.
 

“Material Contract” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.10(a).
 

“Merger” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.
 

“Merger Consideration” shall equal the aggregate amount of (i) the Closing Merger Consideration, (ii) the Milestone Payments and (iii) the
Representative Expense Amount.
 

“Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereto.
 

“Milestone” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(a).
 

“Milestone Payment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(a).
 

“Milestone Payment Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(b).
 

“NDA Approval Milestone” means the first approval by the FDA of a New Drug Application for a Product for an epilepsy indication.
 

“NDA Enabling Study Milestone” means the earlier to occur of (i) completion and demonstration of results from the Phase 3 Clinical Trial(s) of a
Product completed by Parent that (a) provide efficacy and safety results which provide a scientific and clinical basis to reasonably justify the expense and
time of filing a New Drug Application with the FDA for an epilepsy indication and (b) which would reasonable be expected to justify the cost and expense of
filing a New Drug Application for the Product for an epilepsy indication, and (ii) the filing by Parent of a New Drug Application for the Product for an
epilepsy indication.
 

“Net Sales” means, for each Net Sales Measuring Period, the gross amounts invoiced for the Products sold by Parent, its Affiliates or its licensees
(other than Non-U.S. Licensees) to third parties (other than Parent, its Affiliates and its licensees) during such Net Sales Measuring Period, less Net Sales
Permitted Deductions from such amounts calculated in accordance with GAAP so as to arrive at “net sales” under GAAP as reported by Parent, its Affiliate
or its licensees (other than Non-U.S. Licensees), as applicable; provided that, if a Product is sold or otherwise commercially disposed of for consideration
other than cash or in a transaction that is not at arm’s length between the buyer and the seller, then the gross amount to be included in the calculation of Net
Sales shall be the amount that would have been invoiced had the transaction been conducted at arm’s length and for cash; provided further that, in the event a
Product is sold as a combination product in a particular country, Net Sales shall be calculated in a reasonable manner determined by Parent in good faith
based upon the relative value of the active components of such combination product.
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“Net Sales Measuring Period” means the one-year period beginning January 1st of each year during the Net Sales Term and ending December 31st

of each year during the Net Sales Term; provided that the first Net Sales Measuring Period will begin on the date of the first commercial sale of any Products
and end on December 31 of such year.
 

“Net Sales Payment” means, with respect to any Net Sales Measuring Period, an amount equal to (i) ** percent (**%) of that portion of Net Sales of
the Products that is ** or ** to ** dollars ($**) for such period, plus (ii) an additional amount equal to ** percent (**%) of that portion of Net Sales of the
Products that ** dollars ($**) but is ** or ** to ** and ** dollars ($**) for such period, plus (iii) an additional amount equal to ** percent (**%) of that
portion of Net Sales of the Products that ** and ** dollars ($**) for such period but is ** or ** to ** dollars ($**) for such period plus (iv) an additional
amount equal to ** percent (**%) of that portion of Net Sales of the Products that ** dollars ($**) for such period.
 

“Net Sales Payment Dates” means the ** day after the date Parent is required to provide the Net Sales Statement pursuant to Section 3.04 for the
Net Sales Measuring Period in respect of which a Net Sales Payment is due.
 

“Net Sales Permitted Deductions” means (i) customary trade, quantity and prompt settlement discounts actually allowed, (ii) amounts repaid or
credited by reasons of defects, recalls, returns, rebates or allowances of goods, (iii) chargebacks, rebates and other amounts paid on sale of any Product,
including such payments mandated by programs of Governmental Bodies, (iv) normal and customary rebates and administrative fees paid to medical
healthcare organizations, to group purchasing organizations or to trade customers in line with approved contract terms, (v) tariffs, duties, excise, sales, value-
added and other Taxes (other than Taxes based on net income) and charges of Governmental Bodies, (vi) any government mandated manufacturing Tax,
(vii) discounts pursuant to indigent patient programs and patient discount programs and coupon discounts, (viii) transportation, freight, postage, importation,
shipping insurance and other customary handling expenses and (ix) required customary distribution commissions and fees payable to any third party
providing distribution services to Parent, its Affiliates or its licensees (other than Non-U.S. Licensees).
 

“Net Sales Statement” means, with respect to each Net Sales Measuring Period, the written statement of Parent, certified by the Chief Financial
Officer of Parent and setting forth with reasonable detail for all Products sold in all countries by Parent, its Affiliates and its licensees (other than Non-U.S.
Licensees) in the aggregate, (i) the total of the gross invoice price charged for sales of the Products by Parent, its Affiliates and their respective licensees
(other than Non-U.S. Licensees) to third parties (other than Parent or its Affiliates) during the applicable period, (ii) an itemized calculation of Net Sales for
the Products showing deductions for such Net Sales Measuring Period provided for in accordance with the definition of Net Sales, (iii) to the extent that Net
Sales for the Products for an applicable period is determined based on Net Sales of a ** for such period, the method of determining the Net Sales of the **
attributable to the Products in accordance with the definition of Net Sales, (iv) to the extent that sales for the Products for an applicable period is recorded in
currencies other than United States dollars, the
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exchange rates used for conversion of such foreign currency into United States dollars and (v) the calculation of the Net Sales Payment due, if any, in respect
of the applicable Net Sales Measuring Period in accordance with this Agreement.
 

“Net Sales Term” means the term beginning on the date of the first commercial sale of any Products and ending on the **.
 

“New Drug Application” means a New Drug Application, as more fully described in 21 C.F.R. 314.50 et seq., or its successor regulation, and all
amendments and supplements thereto filed with the FDA.
 

“Non-U.S. Licensees” means a third party that enters into a license agreement, or any similar agreement involving the sharing of profits, with Parent
or any of its Affiliates, and which provides such third party with the right to sell Products solely outside of the United States.
 

“Option Consideration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.07(a).
 

“Order” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.01(a).
 

“Parent” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereto.
 

“Parent Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.02(a).
 

“Parent Material Adverse Effect” means any effect, change, event or occurrence that would or would reasonably be expected to, individually or in
the aggregate, materially impair, prevent or delay Parent’s or Merger Sub’s ability to consummate the Transactions in a timely manner on the terms set forth
herein.
 

“** Milestone” means issuance by the United States Patent & Trademark Office of a patent listed on Schedule A attached hereto, which ** that is
(i) expected to be studied by Parent or its Affiliates in a ** and (ii) expected to be ** in the ** with **; provided that, unless Parent and the Securityholder
Representative otherwise agree, the determination regarding the ability to effect a ** of a such ** shall be made by a mutually agreed upon law firm
specializing in ** matters and with experience in drug related **.
 

“Pending Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01(c).
 

“Permitted Indebtedness” means the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of Indebtedness incurred by the Company or the Company Subsidiary in
connection with **, ** and ** related activities after **, which amount shall not exceed $** (provided that the costs and expenses of the validation of the
Company Patents contemplated by Section 7.02(g) shall not be Permitted Indebtedness whether such amounts are paid or unpaid as of the Effective Time),
(ii) the Delaware Redomicile Costs and (iii) subject to the written approval of Parent, any additional Indebtedness incurred by the Company or the Company
Subsidiary after ** that is directly related to ** in the Company’s currently **, ** or otherwise directly related to the Company’s currently **.
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For the avoidance of any doubt, (x) Permitted Indebtedness excludes all legal expenses incurred by the Company (other than in connection with Patent filings
and the Delaware Redomicile Costs) and all salary and general expenses not specifically identified in the definition of Permitted Indebtedness and (y) except
as expressly set forth in Section 10.02, Parent shall have no obligation with respect to the Permitted Indebtedness in the event the Closing does not occur.
 

“Permitted Liens” means (i) mechanics’, materialmen’s, carriers’, workmen’s, repairmen’s, vendors’, operators’ or other like Liens, if any, that do
not materially detract from the value of or materially interfere with the use of any of the assets of the Company and the Company Subsidiary as currently
conducted, (ii) Liens arising under original purchase price conditional sales contracts and equipment leases with third parties entered into in the ordinary
course of business, (iii) title defects or Liens (other than those constituting Liens for the payment of Indebtedness), if any, that do not or would not,
individually or in the aggregate, impair in any material respect the use or occupancy of the assets of the Company and the Company Subsidiary, taken as a
whole, (iv) Liens for Taxes that are not yet due or payable or that may thereafter be paid without penalty and for which adequate reserves have been made on
the Company’s balance sheet, and (v) Liens that do not and would not reasonably be expected to materially impair the continued use of a Company Leased
Real Property as currently operated.
 

“Person” means any individual, corporation (including any nonprofit corporation), general or limited partnership, limited liability company, joint
venture, estate, trust, association, organization, labor union or other entity or Governmental Body.
 

“Phase 2 Clinical Trial” means a clinical trial as defined in 21 C.F.R. § 312.21(b), or, with respect to any other country or jurisdiction, the
equivalent of such a clinical trial in such other country or jurisdiction.
 

“Phase 2b Clinical Trial” means a Phase 2 Clinical Trial designed for the purpose of determining the safe and effective dose range prior to initiation
of a Phase 3 Clinical Trial.
 

“Phase 3 Clinical Trial” means a clinical trial as defined in 21 C.F.R. § 312.21(c), or, with respect to any other country or jurisdiction, the equivalent
of such a clinical trial in such other country or jurisdiction.
 

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the
Closing Date.
 

“Pre-Closing Taxes” means (i) Taxes of or imposed on or with respect to the Company or the Company Subsidiary for a Pre-Closing Tax Period or
the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date (as determined, in the case of a portion of a Straddle Period, based on the principles of
Section 6.07(a)(iii)) or (ii) any Taxes of any other Person for which the Company or the Company Subsidiary is liable as a result of having been a member of
an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group on or prior to the Closing Date, including pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any
analogous or similar state, local, or non-U.S. Law; provided, that Pre-Closing Taxes shall not include any Taxes that (A) are taken into account in determining
the Merger Consideration, (B) arise due to actions taken at or after
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the Closing or (C) are attributable to any breach by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any respective Affiliates thereof of Section 6.07 or Section 6.08.
 

“Preferred Stock” means the Series A Preferred Stock and the Series B Preferred Stock.
 

“Pro Rata Indemnity Percentage” means, for each Former Securityholder as of the date of calculation of the Pro Rata Indemnity Percentage, a
percentage equal to a fraction, (i) the numerator of which shall be the total payments received by such Former Securityholder pursuant to Article II, Article III
and Section 9.02 of this Agreement and (ii) the denominator of which shall be the total payments received by all Former Securityholders pursuant to
Article II, Article III and Section 9.02 of this Agreement.
 

“Product” means one or more pharmaceutical products that contain ** as an active pharmaceutical ingredient, ** active pharmaceutical ingredients
and including ** thereof, whose sale or manufacture is **.
 

“** Milestone” means the earlier to occur of (a)(i) the ** completion and demonstration of ** from a clinical trial of a Product completed by Parent
(including any clinical trial initiated by the Company, a “Proof of Concept Clinical Trial”) a that provide efficacy and safety results which provide a
scientific and clinical basis to reasonably ** the applicable Product to a ** or ** (as determined by Parent in its sole discretion), and (ii) the demonstration
that ** used in the Proof of Concept Clinical Trial is ** up GMP manufactured ** or (b) the ** by Parent of a ** of a Product for any **.
 

“Released” means any presence, emission, spill, seepage, leak, escape, leaching, discharge, injection, pumping, pouring, emptying, dumping,
disposal, migration or release of Hazardous Materials from any source into or upon the environment, including the air, soil, improvements, surface water,
groundwater, the sewer, septic system, storm drain, publicly owned treatment works, or waste treatment, storage or disposal systems.
 

“Representative Expense Amount” shall be one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).
 

“Representatives” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s or such Person’s affiliate’s officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys,
accountants, advisors and representatives.
 

“Retained Escrow Funds” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01(c).
 

“Second Indication” means a non-epilepsy indication.
 

“Second Indication Approval Milestone” means the first approval by the FDA of a New Drug Application for a Second Indication.
 

“Second Indication Phase 2b Milestone” means the earlier to occur of (a) the successful completion and demonstration of results from a Phase 2b
Clinical Trial of a Product completed
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by Parent that provide positive efficacy and safety results which provide a scientific and clinical basis to reasonably justify the expense and time of
progressing the applicable Product to a Phase 3 Clinical Trial for any Second Indication (as determined by Parent in its sole discretion), or (b) the initiation by
Parent of a Phase 3 Clinical Trial of a Product for any Second Indication.
 

“Second Sales Milestone” means the first attainment of Net Sales in the United States of not less than ** and ** dollars ($**) during any calendar
year.
 

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 

“Securityholder Representative” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereto.
 

“Series A Merger Consideration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(b).
 

“Series A Preferred Stock” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.05(a).
 

“Series B Merger Consideration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(a).
 

“Series B Preferred Stock” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.05(a).
 

“Shortfall” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(c).
 

“Shortfall Interest Rate” means **% per annum.
 

“Stockholder Agreements” means (i) the Voting Agreement, dated January 20, 2017 by and between the Company and the Company Stockholders
party thereto, (ii) the Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated January 20, 2017 by and between the Company and the Company Stockholders party thereto and
(iii) the Right of First Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement, dated January 20, 2017 by and between the Company and the Company Stockholders party thereto.
 

“Straddle Period” means any taxable period that includes but does not end on the Closing Date.  The amount of any Taxes imposed upon the
Company based upon or measured by income or gain allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be determined using the interim closing of the books
method whereby the books of the Company will be deemed to be closed as of the close of business on the Closing Date; the amount of all other Taxes
imposed upon the Company allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be equal to the amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days during the Straddle Period that are in the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the denominator of which is the
total number of days in the Straddle Period.
 

“Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries” of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub, the Surviving Corporation or any other Person means any corporation,
partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated organization, association or other legal entity of which the Company, Parent,
Merger Sub or such other Person, as the case may be, (i) owns, directly or
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indirectly, greater than 50% of the stock or other equity interests the holder of which is generally entitled to vote as a general partner or for the election of the
board of directors or other governing body of a corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated organization,
association or other legal entity or (ii) has any arrangement, understanding or agreements entitling the Company, Parent, Merger Sub, the Surviving
Corporation or other Person to vote as a general partner or for the election of a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of a corporation,
partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated organization, association or other legal entity.
 

“Surviving Corporation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b).
 

“Tax” means all taxes, assessments, charges, duties, fees, levies or other governmental charges, including all United States federal, state, local, non-
U.S. and other income, franchise, profits, capital gains, capital stock, transfer, sales, use, value added, occupation, property, excise, severance, windfall
profits, stamp, license, payroll, withholding and other taxes, assessments, charges, duties, fees, levies or other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever
(whether payable directly or by withholding and whether or not requiring the filing of a Tax Return) and all estimated taxes, deficiency assessments, additions
to tax, penalties and interest.
 

“Tax Return” means any return, statement, report or form, estimated Tax Returns and reports, withholding Tax Returns and reports and information
reports and returns required to be filed with respect to Taxes.
 

“Taxing Authority” means any Governmental Body which may impose, assess, collect, determine, enforce or administer any Taxes or the Laws
related to Taxes.
 

“Third Party Claim Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).
 

“Third Party Expenses” means all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger, including all legal, accounting, financial advisory,
consulting and other fees and expenses of third parties incurred by a party in connection with the negotiation and effectuation of the terms and conditions of
this Agreement and the Transactions, which such fees and expenses have been accrued or prepaid as of the Effective Time (as set forth on the Closing
Certificate).
 

“Third Party Intellectual Property” all Intellectual Property that is not Company Intellectual Property.
 

“Third Party Payment Amount” means a cash amount equal to ** of the aggregate proceeds received by Parent or any of its Affiliates, at any time
after the Effective Time and before the Contingent Payment Termination Date, in connection with each and every Third Party Payment Event.
 

“Third Party Payment Event” means the receipt by Parent or any of its Affiliates of a payment from a third party, whether in the form of upfront
payments, milestones, royalties,
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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sublicense fees or otherwise, in connection with any sale, assignment or transfer of any rights in and to any Product for any indication (including with respect
to animal health) to a third party, directly or indirectly, whether by license, swap of assets, merger, reorganization, joint venture, lease or any other transaction
or arrangement.
 

“Third Sales Milestone” means the first attainment of Net Sales in the United States of not less than ** dollars ($**) during any calendar year.
 

“Transaction Bonus Amount” means the aggregate amount of all Transaction Bonuses to be paid at the Closing.
 

“Transaction Bonus Recipients” means each Employee who is contemplated to receive a Transaction Bonus.
 

“Transaction Bonuses” means the aggregate amount of any transaction bonuses, discretionary bonuses, “success” fees, change of control payments,
retention bonuses, severance payments, payouts of deferred compensation and any similar or other payment obligations payable related to the consummation
of the Merger, the terms of which have been agreed to by the Company or the Company Subsidiary prior to the Effective Time, including with respect to any
Employee, any employer-side payroll or related Taxes payable with respect thereto.
 

“Transaction Expenses” means, without duplication, the aggregate amount of the unpaid costs, fees, expenses of the Company or the Company
Subsidiary incurred at or prior to the Closing, including all legal, insurance, financial advisory or other advisory, and accounting fees, costs and expenses and
any payments made in connection with the amendment of the license agreements in accordance with Section 7.02(f).
 

“Transactions” means the execution and delivery of the Agreement and all of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement, including the
Merger.
 

“Warrant Consideration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.07(b).
 

ARTICLE II
THE MERGER

 
Section 2.01. The Merger.

 
(a)           Prior to the Closing, the Company shall take all necessary corporate action to change its jurisdiction of incorporation from the State of

Florida to the State of Delaware.
 

(b)           On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement and in accordance with the Act, at the Effective Time, Merger
Sub shall be merged with and into the Company, and the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease, and the Company shall continue as the
surviving corporation under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Surviving Corporation”).  From and after the Effective Time, the Merger shall have the
effects
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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set forth in this Agreement and § 259 of the Act.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, at the Effective Time, the title to all real estate and other
property, or any interest therein, owned by the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation without reversion or impairment, and the
Surviving Corporation shall thenceforth be responsible for all the liabilities and obligations of the Company and Merger Sub.
 

Section 2.02. Closing.  Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated pursuant to Section 10.01, and unless otherwise mutually agreed in writing
between the Company, Parent and Merger Sub, the consummation of the Merger (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Dentons US LLP, 1221
Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10020 no later than the third Business Day on which all conditions set forth in Article VII are satisfied or, to the
extent permissible by applicable Laws, waived, unless another date or place is agreed to in writing by the Company and Parent; provided, however, that the
Closing may take place by virtual exchange of signature pages.  The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the “Closing Date.”
 

Section 2.03. Effective Time.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Merger Sub and the Company shall
duly prepare, execute and acknowledge certificate of merger (the “Certificate of Merger”) in accordance with the Act and shall file the Certificate of Merger
with the Delaware Department of State at such time and in accordance with § 252 of the Act.  The Merger shall become effective at the time when the
Certificate of Merger have been duly filed with the Delaware Department of State or at such later time as may be agreed by Parent and the Company in
writing and specified in the Certificate of Merger (the “Effective Time”).
 

Section 2.04. Certificate of Incorporation; Bylaws.
 

(a)           At the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation of the Company shall be amended and restated in their entirety to read as set
forth on Exhibit D, and as so amended, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the
provisions thereof and applicable Laws.
 

(b)           At the Effective Time, the bylaws of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the bylaws of the
Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable Laws.
 

Section 2.05. Directors and Officers.
 

(a)           The directors of Merger Sub as of immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be the directors of
the Surviving Corporation until their respective successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or
removal in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.
 

(b)           The officers of Merger Sub as of immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be the officers of the
Surviving Corporation until their respective successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier
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death, resignation or removal in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.
 

Section 2.06. Effect on Capital Stock.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and
without any action on the part of the parties or the holders of any of the outstanding securities of the Company, the following shall occur with respect to each
share of Series B Preferred Stock, each share of Series A Preferred Stock and each share of Common Stock:
 

(a)           Series B Preferred Stock.  Each share of Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall
be converted into the right to receive the payments set forth on the Allocation Schedule to be paid to holders of Series B Preferred Stock (the “Series B
Merger Consideration”).  At the Effective Time, all such shares of Series B Preferred Stock and any and all rights related thereto shall cease to be
outstanding, shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist, and each such share of Series B Preferred Stock shall thereafter represent only the right to receive the
Series B Merger Consideration in accordance with this Agreement.
 

(b)           Series A Preferred Stock.  Each share of Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall
be converted into the right to receive the payments set forth on the Allocation Schedule to be paid to holders of Series A Preferred Stock (the “Series A
Merger Consideration”).  At the Effective Time, all such shares of Series A Preferred Stock and any and all rights related thereto shall cease to be
outstanding, shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist, and each such share of Series A Preferred Stock shall thereafter represent only the right to receive the
Series A Merger Consideration in accordance with this Agreement.
 

(c)           Common Stock.  Each share of Common Stock (other than Dissenting Shares) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the
Effective Time shall be converted into the right to receive the payments set forth on the Allocation Schedule to be paid to holders of Common Stock (the
“Common Merger Consideration”).  At the Effective Time, all such shares of Common Stock shall cease to be outstanding, shall be cancelled and shall cease
to exist, and each such share of Common Stock shall thereafter represent only the right to receive the Common Merger Consideration in accordance with this
Agreement.
 

(d)           Merger Sub Stock.  Each issued and outstanding share of capital stock of Merger Sub shall be converted into one validly issued, fully
paid and nonassessable share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation.
 

(e)           Treasury Shares; Parent Owned Stock.  Each share of Company Stock held by the Company or owned by Merger Sub, Parent or any
Subsidiary of the Company or of Parent immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled and extinguished without any conversion thereof.
 

Section 2.07. Treatment of Stock Options and Warrants.
 

(a)           Stock Options.  At the Effective Time, each Company Option that is then outstanding and unexercised, whether or not vested, shall be
cancelled and converted into the
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right to receive the payments set forth on the Allocation Schedule to be paid to holders of Company Options (the “Option Consideration”).
 

(b)           Warrants.  At the Effective Time, the Company Warrant shall be cancelled and converted into the right to receive the payments set
forth on the Allocation Schedule to be paid to the holder of the Company Warrant (the “Warrant Consideration”).
 

(c)           Corporate Actions.  At or prior to the Effective Time, the Board of Directors (or any committee thereof) shall adopt any resolutions
and take any actions that are necessary to effectuate the provisions of this Section 2.07.  The Company shall take all necessary actions at or prior to the
Effective Time to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, neither Parent nor the Surviving Corporation will be required to deliver any capital stock of
the Company to any Person pursuant to or in settlement of Company Options or any awards under the Company Equity Plan.
 

Section 2.08. Allocation Schedule.  Prior to the Closing, the Company shall prepare and deliver to Parent the Allocation Schedule setting forth the
calculation of the Series B Merger Consideration, the Series A Merger Consideration, the Common Merger Consideration, the Option Consideration and the
Warrant Consideration.
 

Section 2.09. Closing Statement; Closing Payments; Closing Deliveries.
 

(a)           Closing Statement.  At least five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent a closing statement (the
“Closing Statement”) setting forth in reasonable detail an item by item calculation of the Closing Merger Consideration, including a good faith calculation of
(i) the Closing Cash, (ii) the Closing Indebtedness, (iii) the Transaction Expenses and (iv) the Transaction Bonus Amount.  The Closing Statement shall be
prepared in same manner as the Example Statement.  The Company shall reasonably assist Parent in the review of the Closing Statement.  The Company will
review and consider, in good faith, all of Parent’s comments to the Closing Statement made prior to the Closing, and shall update the Closing Statement to
reflect any agreed changes.
 

(b)           Closing Payments.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Parent shall take the following actions on the Closing Date:
 

(i)            Parent shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with the Securityholder Representative cash sufficient to pay the Closing
Merger Payment to the Former Securityholders (the “Payment Fund”).  The Payment Fund shall not be used for any purpose other than to pay the Closing
Merger Payment.
 

(ii)           Parent shall repay, or cause to be repaid, on behalf of the Company, all amounts necessary to discharge fully the then
outstanding balance of the Closing Indebtedness, as is set forth on the Closing Statement, by wire transfer of immediately available funds as directed by the
holders of such Closing Indebtedness in the payoff letters delivered to Parent prior to the Closing and the Company shall make arrangements reasonably
satisfactory to Parent for such holders to deliver lien releases and cancelled notes at the Closing, as applicable.
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(iii)          Parent shall pay, or cause to be paid, on behalf of the Company, the Transaction Expenses, as set forth on the Closing

Statement, by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with invoices or other documents evidencing such amounts delivered to Parent prior
to the Closing.
 

(iv)          Parent shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, the Representative Expense Amount to the Securityholder Representative (for
use by the Securityholder Representative pursuant to Article IX and with any balance for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to
Section 9.02), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by the Securityholder Representative prior to the Closing.
 

(v)           Parent shall pay, or cause to be paid, to the Company in immediately available funds, for distribution within five (5) days of
the Closing Date, in accordance with the Company’s (or Company Subsidiary’s) normal payroll practices, the Transaction Bonus Amount for further payment
to the applicable Transaction Bonus Recipients, in each case, as set forth on the Closing Statement.
 

(vi)          Parent shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with the Escrow Agent the Initial Escrow Amount to be held pursuant to
the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.
 

(c)           Closing Deliveries.
 

(i)            Deliveries by Parent.  At the Closing, Parent shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Securityholder Representative:
 

(A)          counterpart signature pages to the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Parent and the Escrow Agent; and
 

(B)          the officer’s certificate required by Section 7.03(c).
 

(ii)           Deliveries by the Company.  At the Closing, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Parent:
 

(A)          counterpart signature pages to the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by the Securityholder Representative;
 

(B)          the officer’s certificate required by Section 7.02(d);
 

(C)          copies of each of the following, in each case certified by the Secretary of the Company or other authorized executive
officer of the Company, to be in full force and effect on the date of the Closing: (A) a true, complete and correct copy of the Company Articles of
Incorporation of the Company as in effect on the Closing Date; (B) a true, complete and correct copy of the bylaws of the Company as in effect on the
Closing Date; (C) a true, complete and correct copy of the resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors approving this Agreement and the Merger; and (D) a
true, complete and correct copy of the resolutions adopted by the applicable Company Stockholders approving, by the requisite approval under
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applicable Laws and the Company Articles of Incorporation and bylaws of the Company, this Agreement and the Merger;
 

(D)          copies of any payoff letters with respect to Closing Indebtedness, in form and substances reasonably satisfactory to
Parent, and all related Lien releases, termination statements, original collateral held by holders of Closing Indebtedness and/or similar evidence of
termination;
 

(E)           resignations and full releases of the Company and the Company Subsidiary from each director and officer of the
Company and the Company Subsidiary (unless Parent shall request otherwise in writing with respect to any director or officer prior to the Closing) in a form
reasonably acceptable to Parent to the extent requested by Parent;
 

(F)           a certificate of the Company dated as of the Closing Date and signed by a responsible corporate officer of the
Company, stating that the interests the Company are not, and have not been at any time during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of
the Code, United States real property interests, as defined in Section 897(c)(2) of the Code, and proof reasonably satisfactory to Parent that the Company has
provided notice of such certification to the IRS in accordance with the provisions of Treasury Regulations Section 1.897-2(h)(2).
 

Section 2.10. Dissenting Shares.  For purposes of this Agreement, “Dissenting Shares” means shares of Common Stock held as of the Effective
Time by a Company Stockholder who has not voted such shares of Common Stock in favor of the adoption of this Agreement and the Merger or consented
thereto in writing and with respect to which appraisal shall have been duly demanded and perfected in accordance with § 262 of the Act and not effectively
withdrawn or forfeited prior to the Effective Time.  Dissenting Shares shall not be converted into or represent the right to receive the Common Merger
Consideration unless such Company Stockholder’s right to appraisal shall have ceased in accordance with the Act.  If such Company Stockholder has so
forfeited or withdrawn his, her or its right to appraisal of Dissenting Shares, then, as of the occurrence of such event, such holder’s Dissenting Shares shall
cease to be Dissenting Shares and shall be converted into and represent the right to receive the Common Merger Consideration pursuant to Section 2.06(c).
 

Section 2.11. Escrow Account.  The Initial Escrow Amount deposited with the Escrow Agent pursuant to Section 2.09(b)(vi) shall be held in escrow
as provided in Article VIII and the Escrow Agreement and shall be available to compensate the Parent Indemnified Parties in accordance with Article VIII. 
After the payment of all indemnification obligations has been made pursuant to Article VIII and the 18-month period specified in Section 8.01 has been
completed, any remaining amount in the Escrow Fund shall be distributed to the Securityholder Representative for further distribution to the Former
Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02.
 

Section 2.12. Securityholder Representative Expense Account.  The Representative Expense Amount shall be available to reimburse the
Securityholder Representative for the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance of the Securityholder Representative of his, her or its
duties pursuant to this Agreement.  After reimbursement of all of the Securityholder Representative costs and expenses, any remaining Representative
Expense
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Amount shall be distributed to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02.  If the Representative Expense Amount shall be insufficient to satisfy all
of the expenses incurred by the Securityholder Representative, or if the Securityholder Representative determines that it is in the best interests of the Former
Securityholders to establish or increase reserves for possible future expenses, the Securityholder Representative shall be entitled to fund any such reserves
from any amounts that would otherwise be distributed to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02; provided, however, that any expenditures by
the Securityholder Representative or increased reserve above the Representative Expense Amount shall be subject to the approval, by written consent, of a
majority in interest of the Former Securityholders based on the total number of shares held by the Former Securityholders on an as converted fully-diluted
basis (a “Majority in Interest”).
 

Section 2.13. Surrender of Certificates.
 

(a)           Acknowledgment.  It is acknowledged and agreed that if Parent (or its designee) makes any payments to the Securityholder
Representative in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, Parent shall have no further obligation or liability in respect of the payment or distribution of
such amounts to the Former Securityholders.
 

(b)           Transmittal Documents.  Within three (3) Business Days of the date of this Agreement, the Company shall send or otherwise deliver to
each Company Stockholder a letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E (each, a “Letter of Transmittal”).
 

(i)            Each holder of Series B Preferred Stock who delivers a duly executed and properly completed Letter of Transmittal, together
with such Company Stockholder’s surrendered Certificates, to the Securityholder Representative shall be entitled to receive the Series B Merger
Consideration, without any interest or distributions thereon, on or after the Closing Date and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
 

(ii)           Each holder of Series A Preferred Stock who delivers a duly executed and properly completed Letter of Transmittal, together
with such Company Stockholder’s surrendered Certificates, to the Securityholder Representative shall be entitled to receive the Series A Merger
Consideration, without any interest or distributions thereon, on or after the Closing Date and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
 

(iii)          Each Company Stockholder who delivers a duly executed and properly completed Letter of Transmittal, together with such
Company Stockholder’s surrendered Certificates, to the Securityholder Representative shall be entitled to receive the Common Merger Consideration without
any interest or distributions thereon, on or after the Closing Date and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
 

(iv)          Each holder of Company Options shall be entitled to receive the Option Consideration without any interest or distributions
thereon, on or after the Closing Date and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
 

(v)           The holder of the Company Warrant shall be entitled to receive the Warrant Consideration without any interest or
distributions thereon, on or after the Closing Date and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
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(c)           Transfers of Ownership.  If any portion of the Merger Consideration is to be disbursed to any Person other than the Person whose

name is reflected on a Certificate surrendered in exchange therefor, it will be a condition of the delivery of such payment that the Certificate so surrendered be
properly endorsed and otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the Person requesting such payment shall pay to the Surviving Corporation any transfer
or other Taxes required as a result of such payment to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or establish to the satisfaction of the
Surviving Corporation that such Tax has been paid or is not payable.
 

(d)           Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates.  If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of
that fact by the holder of the shares of Company Stock formerly represented by that Certificate, or by a representative of that holder, claiming that Certificate
to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Surviving Corporation, the posting by that holder of a bond, in such reasonable amount as Parent may
direct, as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Securityholder Representative will pay, in exchange for
such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the applicable Merger Consideration to be paid in respect of the shares of Company Stock formerly represented by
such Certificate, as contemplated by this Article II.
 

Section 2.14. Withholding for Payment of Taxes.  Parent, the Surviving Corporation, the Securityholder Representative or the Escrow Agent shall be
entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement such amounts as Parent, the Surviving Corporation, the
Escrow Agent or the Securityholder Representative is required to deduct and withhold under any applicable Laws.  To the extent that amounts are so withheld
by Parent, the Surviving Corporation, the Escrow Agent or the Securityholder Representative and paid to the proper Governmental Body pursuant to any
applicable Tax Law, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to such Person in respect of which such
deduction and withholding was made by Parent, the Surviving Corporation, the Escrow Agent or the Securityholder Representative, and Parent, the Surviving
Corporation, the Escrow Agent or the Securityholder Representative, as the case may be, shall (a) give written notice to each such Person of any such
withholding, and (b) promptly provide any such Person with any additional documentation required for such Person’s Tax filings that may be reasonably
requested by such Person.
 

ARTICLE III
CONTINGENT PAYMENTS

 
Section 3.01. Milestone Payments.

 
(a)           Milestones and Payments.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Parent shall pay the consideration specified below to

the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, upon the achievement of each of the
following events (each, a “Milestone”, and each payment in respect of a Milestone, a “Milestone Payment”):
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(i)            ** Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the ** Milestone, as additional consideration under this Agreement, Parent

shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount equal to ** dollars
($**).
 

(ii)           ** Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the ** Milestone, as additional consideration under this Agreement, Parent
shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount equal to ** dollars
($**).
 

(iii)          ** Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the ** Milestone, as additional consideration under this Agreement, Parent
shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount equal to ** dollars
($**).
 

(iv)          ** Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the ** Milestone, as additional consideration under this Agreement, Parent
shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount equal to ** dollars
($**).
 

(v)           First Sales Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the First Sales Milestone, as additional consideration under this
Agreement, Parent shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount
equal to ** dollars ($**).
 

(vi)          Second Sales Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the Second Sales Milestone, as additional consideration under this
Agreement, Parent shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount
equal to ** dollars ($**).
 

(vii)         Third Sales Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the Third Sales Milestone, as additional consideration under this
Agreement, Parent shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount
equal to ** dollars ($**).
 

(viii)        Fourth Sales Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the Fourth Sales Milestone, as additional consideration under this
Agreement, Parent shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount
equal to ** dollars ($**).
 

(ix)          ** Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the ** Milestone, as additional consideration under this Agreement, Parent
shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount equal to ** dollars
($**).
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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(x)           ** Milestone Payment.  Upon achievement of the ** Milestone, as additional consideration under this Agreement, Parent

shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, an amount equal to ** dollars
($**).
 

(b)           Milestone Notices and Milestone Payments.  Parent shall (i) within ten (10) Business Days following the achievement of each
Milestone, as applicable, notify the Securityholder Representative in writing of such achievement and (ii) within five (5) Business Days following such
notification of the Securityholder Representative (each, a “Milestone Payment Date”), Parent shall pay to the Securityholder Representative, by wire transfer
of immediately available funds to the account designated by the Securityholder Representative, the applicable Milestone Payment.  Except as set forth in this
Agreement, such payment shall be made without set-off or deduction of any kind by Parent (other than any withholding with respect to the making of such
payment under the Code or under any provision of state, local or foreign Tax law).  The Securityholder Representative shall be responsible for arranging
payments to be made out of such account to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, based on the Allocation Schedule.
 

(c)           Applicable Efforts.  Parent shall use Diligent Efforts to achieve each of the Milestones.
 

Section 3.02. Net Sales and Other Recurring Payments.
 

(a)           On each Net Sales Payment Date, Parent shall pay to the Securityholder Representative, by wire transfer of immediately available
funds to the account designated by the Securityholder Representative, the Net Sales Payment due, if any, in respect of the Net Sales Measuring Period ended
immediately preceding such Net Sales Payment Date.  Except as provided for in this Agreement, such payment shall be made without set-off or deduction of
any kind by Parent (other than any withholding with respect to the making of such payment under the Code or under any provision of state, local or foreign
Tax law).  The Securityholder Representative shall be responsible for arranging payments to be made out of such account to the Former Securityholders
pursuant to Section 9.02, based on the Allocation Schedule.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent’s obligation to pay any Net Sales Payment shall terminate
in its entirety on the Contingent Payment Termination Date.
 

(b)           Parent shall (i) within ten (10) Business Days following the occurrence of any Third Party Payment Event, as applicable, notify the
Securityholder Representative in writing of such occurrence and (ii) within five (5) Business Days following such notification of the Securityholder
Representative, Parent shall pay to the Securityholder Representative, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by the
Securityholder Representative, the applicable Third Party Payment Amount.  Except as provided for in this Agreement, such payment shall be made without
set-off or deduction of any kind by Parent (other than any withholding with respect to the making of such payment under the Code or under any provision of
state, local or foreign Tax law).  The Securityholder Representative shall be
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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responsible for arranging payments to be made out of such account to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, based on the Allocation Schedule.
 

Section 3.03. Audit Rights.
 

(a)           If at any time Parent fails to file within ** after the expiration of all applicable extensions to which Parent is entitled (and only for so
long such failure persists), or is not required to file, periodic reports pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (which reports include disclosure of Net
Sales of all Products which give rise to Net Sales Payments in the applicable time period covered by the periodic report), then, upon the written request of the
Securityholder Representative (but no more than ** during any **), and upon reasonable notice, Parent shall provide an independent certified public
accounting firm of nationally recognized standing jointly agreed upon by the Securityholder Representative and Parent (failing agreement on which each shall
designate an independent public accounting firm of its own selection, which firms shall in turn appoint an independent public accounting firm for such
purpose) (the “Independent Accountant”) with access during normal business hours to such of the records of Parent as may be reasonably necessary to verify
the accuracy of the statements set forth in the Net Sales Statement and the figures underlying the calculations set forth therein for any period within the
preceding ** that has not previously been audited in accordance with this Section 3.03.  The fees charged by such accounting firm shall be paid by the
Securityholder Representative.  The Independent Accountant shall disclose to the Securityholder Representative any matters directly related to their findings
and shall disclose whether it has determined that any statements set forth in the Net Sales Statements are incorrect.  The Independent Accountant shall provide
Parent with a copy of all disclosures made to the Securityholder Representative.  This covenant shall survive until ** after the **.
 

(b)           The initiation of a review by the Securityholder Representative as contemplated by this Section 3.03 shall not relieve Parent of its
obligation to pay any Milestone Payment relating to any Milestone for which notice of achievement has been given pursuant to Section 3.01(b), it being
understood that Parent shall also be obligated to pay the full amount of the Shortfall, if any, determined in accordance with Section 3.03(c).
 

(c)           If the Independent Accountant concludes that (i) any Milestone Payment, (ii) Net Sales Payment or (iii) Third Party Payment Amount
should have been paid but was not paid when due, or was not paid in full, Parent shall pay the Securityholder Representative, for further distribution to the
Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02, the amount of such Milestone Payment (to the extent not paid on a subsequent date), Net Sales Payment or
Third Party Payment Amount, as applicable, plus interest on such Milestone Payment at the Shortfall Interest Rate from the date the Milestone Payment Date
should have occurred (if Parent had given notice of achievement of such Milestone pursuant to the terms of this Agreement), or the date the Net Sales
Payment or Third Party Payment Amount should have occurred, as applicable, to the date of actual payment (such amount including interest being the
“Shortfall”).  Parent shall pay the Shortfall to the Securityholder Representative within thirty (30) days of the date the Securityholder Representative delivers
to Parent the Independent Accountant’s written report.
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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The decision of such Independent Accountant shall be final, conclusive and binding on Parent and the Securityholder Representative, shall be non-appealable
and shall not be subject to further review.
 

(d)           Upon the expiration of ** following the end of any Net Sales Measuring Period, the calculations set forth in the Net Sales Statement
shall be conclusive and binding on the Securityholder Representative.
 

(e)           Upon the request of Parent, the Securityholder Representative shall enter into, and shall cause its Representatives to enter into, a
reasonable and mutually satisfactory confidentiality agreement with Parent obligating such party to retain all such financial information disclosed to such
party in confidence pursuant to such confidentiality agreement and not use such information for any purpose other than the completion of such review or
audit.
 

(f)            Parent shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, enter into any license or distribution agreement with any third party (other than
Parent or its Affiliates) with respect to any Product unless such agreement contains provisions that would allow any Independent Accountant appointed
pursuant to this Section 3.03 such access to the records of the other party to such license or distribution agreement as may be reasonably necessary to perform
its duties pursuant to this Section 3.03.  The parties hereto agree that, if Parent or its Affiliates have exercised audit rights under any license or distribution
agreement prior to the Securityholder Representative’s request for an audit under this Section 3.03 and under such license or distribution agreement Parent
and its Affiliates cannot request another audit, the results of Parent’s prior audit of such licensee or distributor shall be used for purposes of the audit
requested by the Securityholder Representative under this Section 3.03 and that Parent shall not have any further obligation to provide access to an
Independent Accountant with respect to such licensee until such time as Parent may again exercise its rights of audit under the license agreement with such
licensee.
 

Section 3.04. Reports and Information Rights.
 

(a)           Until ** after the Contingent Payment Termination Date, upon the request of the Securityholder Representative, which request may not
be made more than once per calendar year, Parent shall deliver to the Securityholder Representative a report for the preceding calendar year describing the
Diligent Efforts undertaken by Parent and its Affiliates (including a summary of the clinical development, marketing, promotion and selling activities of
Parent and its Affiliates with respect to the Products for such calendar year).
 

(b)           Within ** after each calendar year, beginning with the first calendar year during which the first commercial sale of a Product is made,
Parent shall deliver to the Securityholder Representative a Net Sales Statement with respect to the last completed calendar year.
 

Section 3.05. No Transfer of Rights.  None of the Company Stockholders may sell, exchange, transfer or otherwise dispose of his, her or its rights to
receive the contingent
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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payments, if any, pursuant to this Article III, other than (i) in the case of a Person who is a natural person (A) on death, by will or intestacy or by operation of
applicable Law or (B) by instrument to an inter-vivos or testamentary trust in which any contingent payments are passed to such Person’s beneficiaries upon
the death of the trustee, (ii) in the case of a Person that is not a natural person, to the holders of equity securities, partnership or membership interests of such
Person in connection with a distribution by such Person to such holders or (iii) pursuant to an order of a court of competent jurisdiction, including in
connection with a divorce, bankruptcy or liquidation.
 

Section 3.06. Tax Treatment.  The parties hereto acknowledge that the Merger shall constitute a taxable transaction for U.S. federal and state income
tax purposes.  The parties to this transaction acknowledge that they and the Former Securityholders are relying solely upon their own tax advisors with regard
to the tax consequences of the Merger.  For U.S. federal income Tax purposes, the parties hereto agree that the Milestone Payments paid under this Article III
may be subject to the imputed interest rules under Section 483 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.
 

Section 3.07. Addition Escrow Amount.  If the first Milestone is achieved prior to the Escrow Termination Date, upon achievement of the first
Milestone and Parent’s payment of the Milestone Payment, and subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Article VIII and the Escrow Agreement,
Parent shall deduct the Additional Escrow Amount from such Milestone Payment and pay to the Escrow Agent the Additional Escrow Amount, which shall
be held and distributed pursuant to the terms of Article VIII and the Escrow Agreement.
 

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

 
Subject to such exceptions as are disclosed in writing in the disclosure letter supplied by the Company to Parent prior to the execution hereof and

dated as of the date hereof (such disclosure letter, the “Company Disclosure Letter”), it being agreed that disclosure of any item in any section or subsection
of the Company Disclosure Letter shall also be deemed disclosure with respect to any other section or subsection of this Agreement to which the relevance of
such item is reasonably apparent on its face, the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:
 

Section 4.01. Organization, Standing and Corporate Power.
 

(a)           The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Florida (and as of
the Closing, the State of Delaware) and has all necessary power and authority: (i) to conduct its business in the manner in which its business is currently being
conducted and (ii) to own and use its assets in the manner in which its assets are currently owned and used.  The Company Subsidiary is a proprietary limited
company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Australia and has all necessary power and authority: (i) to conduct its
business in the manner in which its business is currently being conducted and (ii) to own and use its assets in the manner in which its assets are currently
owned and used.
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(b)           Each of the Company and the Company Subsidiary is qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation, and is in good

standing, in each jurisdiction where the nature of its business requires such qualification or licensing, except where the failure does not have, and would not
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
 

(c)           The Company has made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of the articles of incorporation, bylaws and other charter and
organizational documents of the Company and the Company Subsidiary, including all amendments thereto, as in effect on the date hereof, and each as so
delivered is in full force and effect.
 

Section 4.02. Subsidiary.  Except for its interests in Biscayne Neurotherapeutics Australia Pty Ltd. (the “Company Subsidiary”), the Company does
not own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock of, or other equity interests in, any other Person.  Neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary directly
or indirectly owns any equity, membership, partnership or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any equity,
membership, partnership or similar interest in, any Person, whether incorporated or unincorporated.  All of the outstanding shares of capital stock and other
equity securities or interests of the Company Subsidiary are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, nonassessable and free of preemptive rights and all
such shares are owned, of record and beneficially, by the Company free and clear of Liens.
 

Section 4.03. Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement.  The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority, and has taken all corporate
action necessary, to execute and deliver and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the Transactions.  Except for the filing of the
Certificate of Merger and obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to
authorize the consummation of the Transactions.  Prior to the date of this Agreement, at a meeting duly called and held, the Board of Directors unanimously
(a) determined that this Agreement and the Transactions, including the Merger, are fair to, and in the best interest of, the Company and its stockholders,
(b) declared it advisable to enter into this Agreement and recommended entering into this Agreement to the Company Stockholders, (c) approved the
execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions, including the Merger, and (d) resolved
that the Merger may be effected pursuant to the Act.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company, and assuming due authorization,
execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company and is enforceable
against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization,
moratorium and other similar laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, and by general equitable principles.
 

Section 4.04. Non-Contravention; Consents.
 

(a)           Assuming the filing of the Certificate of Merger, obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, compliance with the applicable
provisions of the Act, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation of the Transactions will not: (i) cause a violation
of, contravene or conflict with any of the provisions of the certificate of
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incorporation or bylaws (or other organizational documents) of the Company, (ii) cause a violation by the Company of any Law, rule or regulation applicable
to the Company, or to which the Company is subject, (iii) require any consent or notice under, conflict with, result in breach of, or constitute a default under
(or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default), or give rise to any right of purchase, termination, amendment, cancellation,
acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which the Company is entitled under any provision of any Contract or
(iv) result in a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) of any of the property or assets of the Company, except in the case of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), as have not
had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
 

(b)           Except for the filing of the Certificate of Merger or as may be required by the Act, the Company is not required to give notice to, make
any filing with, or obtain any consent from any Governmental Body at any time prior to the Closing in connection with the execution and delivery of this
Agreement by the Company, or the consummation by the Company of the Merger or the other Transactions.
 

Section 4.05. Capital Structure.
 

(a)           As of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 23,300,000 shares, divided into three classes as follows:
(i) 15,000,000 shares, with a par value of $0.01 per share, designated as Common Stock (“Common Stock”), of which 1,213,364 shares are issued and
outstanding, (ii) 2,344,500 shares, with a par value of $0.01 per share, designated as Series A Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”), of which
2,344,500 shares are issued and outstanding, and 5,800,000 shares, with a par value of $0.01 per share, designated as Series B Preferred Stock (“Series B
Preferred Stock”), of which 5,769,492 shares are issued and outstanding.  As of the date hereof, no shares of Company Stock were held by the Company in
its treasury.  All of the outstanding shares of Company Stock have been, and all shares of Company Stock reserved for issuance in connection with Company
Options and the Company Warrant will be, when issued in accordance with their respective terms, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive rights.
 

(i)            Section 4.05(a)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list, on a holder-by-holder basis, of
each holder of outstanding shares of Common Stock and the number of shares held by such holder.
 

(ii)           Section 4.05(a)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list, on a holder-by-holder basis, of
each holder of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock and the number of shares held by such holder.
 

(b)           There are no outstanding bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Company having a right to vote on any matters on
which the stockholders of the Company have a right to vote.  Other than as set forth in the Stockholder Agreements, (i) none of the outstanding shares of
capital stock of the Company are entitled or subject to any preemptive right, right of repurchase or forfeiture, right of participation, right of maintenance or
any similar right, (ii) none of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company are subject to any right of first refusal
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in favor of the Company, and (iii) there is no Contract relating to the voting or registration of, or restricting any Person from purchasing, selling, pledging or
otherwise disposing of (or from granting any option or similar right with respect to), any shares of capital stock of the Company.  The Company is not under
any obligation, or bound by any Contract pursuant to which it may become obligated, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding shares of
capital stock or other securities of the Company.
 

(c)           As of the date hereof: (i) 1,715,264 shares of Common Stock were subject to issuance pursuant to Company Options granted and
outstanding under the Company Equity Plan (at an aggregate of a weighted-average exercise price of $0.5465 per share), (ii) 55,094 shares of Common Stock
were subject to issuance pursuant to Company Options granted and outstanding outside of the Company Equity Plan (at an aggregate of a weighted-average
exercise price of $0.5465 per share), (iii) 146,388 shares of Common Stock were subject to issuance pursuant to the Company Warrant (at an aggregate of a
weighted-average exercise price of $0.5465 per share), and (iv) no shares of Common Stock are reserved for future issuance under Company Equity Plan. 
Other than as set forth in this Section 4.05(c), there are no issued, reserved for issuance, outstanding or authorized stock option, restricted shares, stock
appreciation, performance shares or units, contingent value rights, phantom stock, profit participation, warrant or similar rights or equity-based awards with
respect to the Company.
 

(i)            Section 4.05(c)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of the following, on a holder-by-
holder basis, for each outstanding Company Option as of the close of business on the date of this Agreement: (A) the name of the holder of the Company
Option, (B) the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Company Option, (C) the Company Equity Plan under which the award was granted,
(D) the date of grant of the Company Option, (E) the exercise price of the Company Option, (F) whether the Company Option is intended to be an incentive
stock option and (G) the expiration date of the Company Option.
 

(ii)           Section 4.05(c)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of the following, on a holder-by-
holder basis, for the outstanding Company Warrant as of the close of business on the on the date of this Agreement: (A) the name of the holder of the
Company Warrant, (B) the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Company Warrant, (C) the date of issuance of the Company Warrant, (D) the
exercise price of the Company Warrant and (E) the expiration date of the Company Warrant.  The Company has provided to Parent a true, complete and
accurate copy of the Company Warrant.
 

(d)           Except as set forth in this Section 4.05, there are no: (i) outstanding shares of capital stock of or other securities of the Company,
(ii) outstanding subscriptions, options, calls, warrants or rights (whether or not currently exercisable) to acquire any shares of the capital stock, restricted
stock unit, stock-based performance unit or any other right that is linked to, or the value of which is in any way based on or derived from the value of any
shares of capital stock or other securities of the Company, in each case other than derivative securities not issued by the Company, (iii) outstanding securities,
instruments, bonds, debentures, notes or obligations that are or may become convertible into or exchangeable for any shares of capital stock or other securities
of the Company, (iv) stockholder rights plans (or similar plans commonly referred to as a “poison pill”) or Contracts under which the Company is or may
become obligated to sell or
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otherwise issue any shares of its capital stock or any other securities or (v) voting trusts or other Contract to which the Company is a party with respect to the
voting of capital stock of the Company.
 

Section 4.06. Financial Statements.
 

(a)           Included in Section 4.06 of the Company Disclosure Letter are true and complete copies of the following financial statements
(collectively, the “Financial Statements”):  (i) the unaudited consolidated (A) statements of earnings, cash flows and stockholders’ equity of the Company
and the Company Subsidiary for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and (B) balance sheets of the Company and the Company
Subsidiary as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and (ii) the unaudited consolidated (A) statements of earnings, cash flows and stockholders’
equity of the Company and the Company Subsidiary for the six month period ended June 30, 2018, and (B) balance sheet of the Company and the Company
Subsidiary as of June 30, 2018.
 

(b)           The Financial Statements (i) have been prepared from and are consistent with the books and records of the Company and the Company
Subsidiary and (ii) present fairly and accurately in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and the Company Subsidiary as of
the dates referred to for such financial statements, and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the period referred to therein.
 

Section 4.07. Liabilities.  The Company does not have any liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or
otherwise), except for any such liabilities or obligations (a) accrued, disclosed, reflected or reserved against on the most recent balance sheet included in the
Financial Statements (including any related notes) delivered to Parent, (b) incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of latest balance sheet
included in the Financial Statements, or (c) incurred in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions.
 

Section 4.08. Absence of Certain Changes or Events.  Since December 31, 2017, there have not been any changes, effects, events, occurrences or
developments that have had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or the
Company Subsidiary.  Except for discussions, negotiations and activities related to this Agreement or other potential strategic transactions, the Company and
the Company Subsidiary (i) have conducted their respective businesses in the ordinary course of business and (ii) have not, without the prior written consent
of Parent, engaged in any of the activities enumerated in Section 6.01(a).
 

Section 4.09. Litigation.  There is no (i) Legal Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against, or to the Knowledge of
the Company, any pending or threatened material governmental or regulatory investigation of, the Company or the Company Subsidiary or (ii) Order to which
the Company or the Company Subsidiary is subject.
 

Section 4.10. Contracts.
 

(a)           Section 4.10(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter identifies each Contract to which the Company or the Company Subsidiary is a
party, or by which it is bound, that constitutes a Material Contract as of the date of this Agreement.  For purposes of this Agreement,
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each of the following to which the Company or the Company Subsidiary is a party or by which it is bound or its assets or properties are bound as of the date
of this Agreement constitutes a “Material Contract”:
 

(i)            any Contract constituting a Company Employee Agreement;
 

(ii)           any Contract that is a settlement, conciliation or similar agreement with or approved by any Governmental Body (A) pursuant
to which the Company or the Company Subsidiary will be required after the date of this Agreement to pay any monetary obligations or (B) that contains
material obligations or limitations on the Company’s or the Company Subsidiary’s conduct;
 

(iii)          any Contract (A) that limits the freedom or right of the Company or any Affiliate to engage in any line of business, to make
use of any material Company Intellectual Property or to compete with any other Person in any location or line of business, (B) containing any “most favored
nations” terms and conditions (including with respect to pricing) granted by the Company or any Affiliate, or (C) containing exclusivity obligations or
restrictions or otherwise purporting to limit the freedom or right of the Company or any Affiliate to sell, distribute or manufacture any products or services or
any technology or other assets to or for any other Person or any arrangement that grants any right of first refusal, first offer, first negotiation or similar
preferential right;
 

(iv)          any Contract that requires by its terms or is reasonably likely to require the payment or delivery of cash or other consideration
by or to the Company or any Affiliate in an amount having an expected value in excess of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) in the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2018 or in any fiscal year thereafter or in excess of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) in the aggregate and which cannot be cancelled by the
Company without penalty or further payment without more than sixty (60) days’ notice;
 

(v)           any Contract relating to Indebtedness (whether incurred, assumed, guaranteed or secured by any asset) of the Company or
any Affiliate;
 

(vi)          any Contract with any Person constituting (A) a joint venture or partnership or (B) a collaboration, strategic alliance, research
or development project or similar arrangement which requires sharing of future revenues or profits;
 

(vii)         any Contract that by its express terms requires the Company or the Company Subsidiary, or any successor to, or acquirer of,
the Company or the Company Subsidiary, to make any payment to another Person as a result of a change of control of the Company or gives another Person a
right to receive or elect to receive a such a payment;
 

(viii)        any Contract that prohibits the declaration or payment of dividends or distributions in respect of the capital stock of the
Company, the pledging of the capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or the issuance of any guaranty by the Company;
 

(ix)          any Company In-Licenses or Company Out-Licenses; and
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(x)           any Contract pursuant to which the Company or the Company Subsidiary has continuing obligations involving

(A) “milestone” or other similar contingent payments, including upon the achievement of regulatory or commercial milestones, or (B) payment of royalties or
other amounts calculated based upon any revenues or income of the Company or the Company Subsidiary, in each case that cannot be terminated by the
Company without penalty without more than sixty (60) days’ notice without material payment or penalty.
 

(b)           The Company has made available to Parent or its Representatives an accurate and complete copy of each Material Contract.  Neither
the Company, the Company Subsidiary nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other party is in breach of, or default under, any Material Contract and
neither the Company, the Company Subsidiary nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other party to a Material Contract has taken or failed to take any
action that with or without notice, lapse of time or both would constitute a breach of or default under any Material Contract.  Each Material Contract is, with
respect to the Company, the Company Subsidiary and, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other party, a valid and binding agreement in full force and
effect, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization,
moratorium and other similar laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, and by general equitable principles.  Neither the Company
nor the Company Subsidiary has received any written notice regarding any violation or breach or default under any Material Contract that has not since been
cured.
 

Section 4.11. Compliance with Law; Government Authorizations.
 

(a)           The Company and the Company Subsidiary are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws and neither the
Company nor the Company Subsidiary has been given written notice or, to the Knowledge of the Company, other communication from any Governmental
Body of, or been charged with, any material violation of, any applicable Law.
 

(b)           The Company and the Company Subsidiary hold Governmental Authorizations necessary to enable the Company and the Company
Subsidiary to conduct their respective businesses in the manner in which such businesses are currently being conducted.  The Governmental Authorizations
held by the Company and the Company Subsidiary are valid and in full force and effect and are not subject to any Legal Proceeding that could result in
modification, termination or revocation thereof.  The Company and the Company Subsidiary are in compliance in all material respects with the terms and
requirements of such Governmental Authorizations.
 

Section 4.12. Regulatory Matters.  Except as is set forth in Section 4.12 of the Company Disclosure Letter:
 

(a)           Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, the Company and the Company Subsidiary are in
compliance in all respects with all healthcare laws applicable to the operation of their respective businesses as currently conducted.  Neither the Company nor
the Company Subsidiary has received any written notice from the FDA or any other Governmental Body alleging noncompliance with any such provision of
Law.  Neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary is subject to any Legal Proceedings relating
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to or arising under the FDCA or similar Laws, and no such Legal Proceeding has been threatened.
 

(b)           The Company and the Company Subsidiary have filed with the FDA or any other Governmental Body all required filings,
declarations, listings, notices, registrations, reports and submissions, except where the failure to make any filings, declarations, listings, notices, registrations,
reports or submissions does not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.  All such
filings, declarations, listings, notices, registrations, reports and submissions were in material compliance with applicable Laws when filed, remain in full force
and effect, and no material deficiencies have been asserted by any applicable Governmental Body with respect to any such filings, declarations, listings,
notices, registrations, reports and submissions.
 

(c)           To the Knowledge of the Company, except as set forth in documents made available to Parent or its Representatives prior to the date of
this Agreement, all nonclinical and clinical investigations sponsored by the Company and the Company Subsidiary are being conducted in material
compliance with applicable Laws, including Good Laboratory Practices, Good Clinical Practices, and federal and state laws, rules, regulations and guidance
restricting the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health information.  Neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary has received any written
notice from the FDA or any other Governmental Body with respect to any ongoing clinical trial or non-clinical trial or test requiring or recommending the
termination, suspension or material modification of such studies or tests, or otherwise alleging noncompliance with any applicable Laws with respect thereto. 
Neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary is the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, investigation by the FDA
or any other Governmental Body.
 

(d)           Neither the Company, the Company Subsidiary nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of their respective officers, employees,
agents or clinical investigators has been suspended or debarred or convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that would reasonably be expected to
result in (A) debarment under 21 U.S.C. Section 335a or any similar Law or (B) exclusion under 42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7 or any similar Law.
 

(e)           Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the representations and warranties contained in this Section 4.12 constitute the
sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Company and the Company Subsidiary relating to FDA matters and FDCA or similar Laws.
 

Section 4.13. Title to Assets.  The Company and the Company Subsidiary have good and valid title to all material assets owned by them, and such
assets are, in all material respects, sufficient to carry on the Company’s and the Company Subsidiary’s business as currently conducted.  All of said material
assets are owned by the Company or the Company Subsidiary free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens).
 

36



 
Section 4.14. Real Property.

 
(a)           Neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary owns, and neither has ever owned, any real property.

 
(b)           Section 4.14(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list, by property, city and state, of all real property

currently leased (as lessee), licensed (as licensee) or subleased (as sublessee) by the Company or the Company Subsidiary (the “Company Leased Real
Property”).  Prior to the date of this Agreement, the Company has made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of all lease agreements
governing the Company Leased Real Property, and each such lease agreement is valid, binding and in full force and effect.  Neither the Company nor the
Company Subsidiary has received any written notice regarding any violation or breach or default under any lease related to the Company Leased Real
Property that has not since been cured.
 

Section 4.15. Intellectual Property.
 

(a)           Section 4.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list as of the date of this Agreement of all
(i) Patents owned by the Company or the Company Subsidiary or exclusively licensed to the Company or the Company Subsidiary (“Company Patents”),
registered and material unregistered Trademarks owned by the Company or the Company Subsidiary (“Company Trademarks”) and Copyrights owned by the
Company or the Company Subsidiary (“Company Copyrights”), (ii) licenses, sublicenses or other agreements under which the Company or the Company
Subsidiary is granted rights by others in the Company Intellectual Property (“Company In-Licenses”) (other than commercial off the shelf software or
materials transfer agreements) and (iii) licenses, sublicenses or other agreements under which the Company or the Company Subsidiary has granted rights to
others in the Company Intellectual Property (“Company Out-Licenses”).
 

(b)           With respect to the Company Intellectual Property (i) owned or purported to be owned by the Company or the Company Subsidiary,
the Company or the Company Subsidiary exclusively owns such Company Intellectual Property, and (ii) licensed to the Company or the Company Subsidiary
by a third party (other than commercial off the shelf software or materials transfer agreements), such Company Intellectual Property is the subject of a written
license or other agreement; in the case of the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) above, free and clear of all Liens, other than Liens resulting from the express terms
of a Company In-License or Company Out-License or Permitted Liens granted by the Company or the Company Subsidiary.
 

(c)           To the Knowledge of the Company, all Company Patents, Company Trademarks and Company Copyrights are valid and enforceable.
 

(d)           Each Company Patent that has been issued by, or registered with, or is the subject of an application filed with, as applicable, the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office or any similar office or agency anywhere in the world was issued, registered or filed, as applicable, with the correct inventorship
and there has been no known misjoinder or nonjoinder of inventors.
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(e)           No Company Patent is involved in any interference, reissue, re-examination or opposition proceeding.

 
(f)            There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened claims against the Company or the Company Subsidiary or

any of their employees alleging that any of the operation of the Company’s business or any activity by the Company or the Company Subsidiary, or the
manufacture, sale, offer for sale, importation and/or use of any Company product infringes or violates (or in the past infringed or violated) any Third Party
Intellectual Property or constitutes a misappropriation of (or in the past constituted a misappropriation of) any subject matter of any Intellectual Property of
any Person or that any Company Intellectual Property is invalid or unenforceable.
 

(g)           To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the operation of the Company’s business, nor any activity by the Company or the
Company Subsidiary, nor manufacture, use, importation, offer for sale and/or sale of any Company product infringes or violates (or in the past infringed or
violated) any Third Party Intellectual Property or constitutes a misappropriation of (or in the past constituted a misappropriation of) any subject matter of any
Third Party Intellectual Property.
 

(h)           The Company has taken reasonable steps to maintain the confidentiality of and otherwise protect and enforce its rights in all material
Trade Secrets held by the Company, or purported to be held by the Company, as a material trade secret.
 

Section 4.16. Taxes and Tax Returns.
 

(a)           Since January 1, 2016, each Tax Return required to be filed by, or on behalf of, the Company or the Company Subsidiary, and each Tax
Return in which the Company or the Company Subsidiary was required to be included, has been timely filed (taking into account any valid extensions).  Each
such Tax Return is true, correct and complete in all material respects.
 

(b)           Since January 1, 2016, each of the Company and the Company Subsidiary (i) has timely paid (or has had paid on its behalf) all Taxes
due and owing, whether or not shown as due on any Tax Return, and (ii) has withheld and remitted to the appropriate Governmental Body, or properly set
aside, all Taxes required to be withheld and paid in connection with any amounts paid or owing to or collected from any employee, independent contractor,
supplier, creditor, stockholder, partner, member or other third party, and all Forms W-2 and 1099 required with respect thereto have been properly completed
and timely filed.
 

(c)           There are no Liens for Taxes (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of the assets of the Company or the Company Subsidiary.
 

(d)           None of the Company or the Company Subsidiary has in effect a waiver of any statute of limitations with respect to any Taxes or
agreed to any extension of the period for assessment or collection of any Taxes, which is in effect.
 

(e)           There is no Legal Proceeding now pending or presently in progress or threatened in writing with respect to a Tax Return of the
Company or the Company Subsidiary.
 

38



 
(f)            None of the Company or the Company Subsidiary is party to or has any obligation under any Tax sharing agreement (whether written

or not) or any Tax indemnity or other Tax allocation agreement or arrangement (other than in each case any such agreement entered into in the ordinary
course of business and the primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes).
 

(g)           None of the Company or the Company Subsidiary (A) is or has ever been a member of a group of corporations that files or has filed
(or has been required to file) consolidated, combined, or unitary Tax Returns, other than a group the common parent of which was the Company, or (B) has
any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than the Company or the Company Subsidiary) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar
provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law), as a transferee or successor by Contract.
 

(h)           None of the Company or the Company Subsidiary has been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of
Section 897(c)(2) of the Code at any time during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.
 

(i)            None of the Company or the Company Subsidiary has participated in a “listed transaction” within the meaning of Treasury
Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(2) (or any predecessor provision).
 

(j)            None of the Company or the Company Subsidiary will be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material
item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any:
 

(i)            change in method of accounting or use of an improper method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the
Closing Date;
 

(ii)           “closing agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or
non-U.S. income Tax Law) executed by the Company prior to the Closing;
 

(iii)          installment sale or open transaction disposition made prior to the Closing;
 

(iv)          prepaid amount received prior to the Closing Date; or
 

(v)           election made by the Company under Section 108(i) of the Code.
 

(k)           No written claim has been made by any Governmental Body in a jurisdiction where it does not file Tax Returns that the Company or
the Company Subsidiary is or may be subject to Tax or required to file a Tax Return.
 

(l)            Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company does not make any representation or warranty as to the
existence, amount or any other aspect of any net operating or capital loss, carryovers, carryforwards of business or other tax credits, tax basis, earnings and
profits, or any other tax attribute (whether of the Company or the Company Subsidiary) and the representations contained in Section 4.16 shall constitute the
sole
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and exclusive representations and warranties by the Company with respect to Taxes or Tax Returns.
 

Section 4.17. Employee Matters; Benefit Plans.
 

(a)           Section 4.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth all of the employees and individual independent contractors of the
Company, including for each such individual, as applicable: name, job title, Fair Labor Standards Act designation, work location (identified by street address),
current salary or wage rate, all wage arrangements, fringe benefits (other than employee benefits applicable to all employees under a Company Benefit Plan),
accrued vacation or other time off and visa and green card application status.  To the Knowledge of the Company, no current employee of the Company or the
Company Subsidiary has given notice of termination of employment or otherwise disclosed to the Company or the Company Subsidiary plans in writing to
terminate employment with the Company or the Company Subsidiary within the next twelve (12) months.
 

(b)           Neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary is a party or otherwise subject to, or has a duty to bargain for or is currently
negotiating in connection with entering into, any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with a labor organization representing any of its
employees, and there are no labor organizations representing, purporting to represent or, to the Knowledge of the Company, seeking to represent any
employees of the Company or the Company Subsidiary.
 

(c)           Section 4.17(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth an accurate and complete list of the Company Benefit Plans.
 

(d)           Neither the Company, the Company Subsidiary nor any other Person that would be or, at any relevant time, would have been
considered a single employer with the Company pursuant to Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001(b)(1) of ERISA (each, an “ERISA
Affiliate”) has ever maintained, contributed to, or been required to contribute to (i) a plan subject to Title IV of ERISA or Code Section 412, including any
“single employer” defined benefit plan or any “multiemployer plan,” each as defined in Section 4001 of ERISA, (ii) a “multiple employer welfare
arrangement” within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA, or (iii) a “voluntary employees’ beneficiary association” within the meaning of Section 501(c)
(9) of the Code or other funding arrangement for the provision of welfare benefits (such disclosure to include the amount of any such funding).  Each
Company Benefit Plan that provides health, life or other welfare or welfare-type benefits is fully insured by a third party insurance company.  Except where a
failure to do so would not be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, each Company Benefit Plan has been established and administered in
accordance with its terms and in compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and other applicable Laws.
 

(e)           Except to the extent required under Section 601 et seq. of ERISA or 4980B of the Code (or any other similar state or local Law),
neither the Company, the Company Subsidiary nor any Company Benefit Plan has any present or future obligation to provide post-employment welfare
benefits to or make any payment to, or with respect to, any present or
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former employee, officer or director of the Company or the Company Subsidiary pursuant to any post-termination or retiree medical benefit plan or other
post-termination or retiree welfare plan.
 

(f)            Except as provided in Section 4.17(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter, the consummation of the Transactions (including in
combination with other events or circumstances) will not (i) entitle any current or former employee, director, officer, independent contractor or other service
provider of the Company or the Company Subsidiary to severance pay, unemployment compensation or any other material payment, (ii) accelerate the time of
payment or vesting, or increase the amount of, compensation or benefits due to any such employee, director, officer, independent contractor, (iii) directly or
indirectly cause the Company or the Company Subsidiary to transfer or set aside any material assets to fund any benefits under any Company Benefit Plan,
(iv) otherwise give rise to any material liability under any Company Benefit Plan (v) limit or restrict the right to amend, terminate or transfer any material
assets of any Company Benefit Plan on or following the Effective Time, or (vi) result in the payment of any amount that could, individually or in combination
with any other such payment, constitute an “excess parachute payment,” as defined in 280G(b)(1) of the Code.
 

(g)           The Company has made available to Parent or its Representatives copies of the Company Equity Plan covering the Company Options
outstanding as of the date of this Agreement and the forms of all stock option agreements evidencing such Company Options.  The treatment of the Company
Options as described in Section 2.07(a) does not violate the terms of the Company Equity Plan or any agreement governing the terms of such Company
Options.
 

(h)           Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.17 constitute the
sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Company and the Company Subsidiary relating to ERISA and other Laws relating to employee
benefits matters.
 

Section 4.18. Environmental Matters.
 

(a)           The Company and the Company Subsidiary are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable any Environmental Laws,
which compliance includes obtaining, maintaining or complying with all Governmental Authorizations required under any Environmental Law for the
operation of their business.
 

(b)           There is no Legal Proceeding relating to or arising under any Environmental Law that is pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company, the Company Subsidiary or the Company Leased Real Property.
 

(c)           The Company has not received any written notice, report or other information of or entered into any legally-binding agreement or
Order involving uncompleted, outstanding or unresolved material violations, liabilities or requirements on the part of the Company or the Company
Subsidiary relating to or arising under any Environmental Law.
 

(d)           There are and have been no Hazardous Materials present or Released on, at, under or from any property or facility, including the
Company Leased Real Property, in a manner and concentration that would reasonably be expected to result in any material claim against or liability of the
Company or the Company Subsidiary under any Environmental Law.
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(e)           Neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary has assumed, undertaken or otherwise become subject to any material liability of

another Person relating to any Environmental Law.
 

(f)            Neither the execution of this Agreement by the Company nor the consummation by the Company of the Transactions will require any
investigation, remediation or other action with respect to any Hazardous Material, or any notice to or consent of any Governmental Body, pursuant to any
applicable Environmental Law.
 

Section 4.19. Insurance.  The Company and the Company Subsidiary maintain, or are entitled to the benefits of, insurance in such amounts and
against such risks as the Company believes to be customary for companies of a comparable size in the industries in which the Company and the Company
Subsidiary operate.  Section 4.19 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth all of the insurance policies of the Company and the Company Subsidiary. 
Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, all insurance policies carried
by or covering the Company and the Company Subsidiary with respect to their business, assets and properties are in full force and effect, and, to the
Knowledge of the Company, no notice of cancellation has been given with respect to any such policy.
 

Section 4.20. FCPA and Anti-Corruption.
 

(a)           None of the Company, the Company Subsidiary or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any Representative of the Company, the
Company Subsidiary or any other Person associated with or acting on behalf of the Company or the Company Subsidiary has directly or indirectly: (i) made
any unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to political activity and related in any way to the Company’s or the
Company Subsidiary’s business, (ii) made any unlawful payment to any foreign or domestic government official or employee, foreign or domestic political
party or campaign, official of any public international organization or official of any state-owned enterprise, (iii) violated any provision of the Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 or the Anti-Kickback Act of 1986, each as amended, and any other applicable Laws that relates to bribery or corruption
(collectively, “Anti-Bribery Laws”), (iv) established or maintained any unlawful fund of corporate monies or other properties or (v) made or proposed to
make any bribe, payoff, influence payment, kickback, unlawful rebate, or other similar unlawful payment of any nature, including to healthcare providers or
those employed by any governmental institutions.  Since January 1, 2016, neither the Company nor the Company Subsidiary has received any written
communication from any Person that alleges any of the foregoing.
 

(b)           None of the Company, the Company Subsidiary any Representative of the Company or the Company Subsidiary or, to the Knowledge
of the Company, any other Person associated with or acting on behalf of the Company or the Company Subsidiary has been subject to any Legal Proceedings,
or made any voluntary disclosures to any Governmental Body, involving the Company or the Company Subsidiary in any way relating to applicable Anti-
Bribery Laws.
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Section 4.21. Brokers and Other Advisors.  No broker, finder, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any brokerage,

finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses in connection therewith, in connection with the
Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company, any of its Affiliates or any of their respective representatives for which the
Company, Parent, Merger Sub or their Affiliates may have any liability or obligations.
 

Section 4.22. Representations and Warranties.  No representation or warranty by the Company set forth in this Agreement, and no statement
contained in any exhibit or schedule hereto or any certificate or writing delivered in connection with this Agreement and the transactions herein contemplated
in connection with this Agreement contains any untrue statement of a material fact, or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
contained herein or therein not misleading.
 

Section 4.23. Acknowledgement of the Company.
 

(a)           The Company is not relying and has not relied on any representations or warranties whatsoever regarding the subject matter of this
Agreement, express or implied, except for the representations and warranties in this Agreement.  Such representations and warranties by Parent and/or Merger
Sub constitute the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub in connection with the Transactions and the Company
understands, acknowledges and agrees that all other representations and warranties of any kind or nature whether express, implied or statutory are specifically
disclaimed by Parent and Merger Sub.
 

(b)           In connection with the due diligence investigation of Parent and Merger Sub by the Company and its Affiliates, stockholders,
directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives or advisors, the Company and its Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, agents,
representatives and advisors have received and may continue to receive after the date hereof from the Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates,
stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives and advisors certain estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-
looking information, as well as certain business plan information, regarding Parent, Merger Sub and their respective businesses and operations.  The
Company hereby acknowledges that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking
statements, as well as in such business plans, and that the Company will have no claim against Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates,
stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives or advisors, or any other Person with respect thereto unless any such
information is expressly included in a representation or warranty contained in this Agreement.  Accordingly, the Company hereby acknowledges and agrees
that none of Parent, Merger Sub, any of their respective Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives or advisors
or any other Person, has made or is making any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to such estimates, projections, forecasts, forward-
looking statements or business plans unless any such information is expressly included in a representation or warranty contained in this Agreement.
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ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB
 

Parent and Merger Sub each represent and warrant to the Company as follows:
 

Section 5.01. Due Organization.  Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation or other entity duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has all necessary power and authority: (a) to conduct its business in the manner in which its
business is currently being conducted and (b) to own and use its assets in the manner in which its assets are currently owned and used, except where the
failure does not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
 

Section 5.02. Merger Sub.  Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the Transactions and activities incidental thereto and has
not engaged, and prior to the Effective Time will not engage, in any business activities or conducted any operations other than in connection with the
Transactions and those incident to Merger Sub’s formation.  Either Parent or a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent owns beneficially and of record all of the
outstanding capital stock of Merger Sub, free and clear of all Liens and transfer restrictions, except for Liens or transfer restrictions of general applicability as
may be provided under the Securities Act or other applicable securities laws.
 

Section 5.03. Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement.  Parent and Merger Sub have all requisite corporate power and authority, and have taken all
corporate action necessary, to execute and deliver and perform their obligations under this Agreement, and to consummate the Transactions.  Prior to the date
of this Agreement, the board of directors of each of Parent and Merger Sub have approved the execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Merger Sub
of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions, including the Merger.  Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company,
this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub and this Agreement is enforceable against Parent and Merger Sub
(as the case may be) in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization,
moratorium and other similar laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, and by general equitable principles.
 

Section 5.04. Non-Contravention; Consents.
 

(a)           Assuming the filing of the Certificate of Merger, compliance with the applicable provisions of the Act, the execution and delivery of
this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub (as the case may be) and the consummation of the Transactions, will not: (i) cause a violation of, contravene or
conflict with any of the provisions of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or other organizational documents) of Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) cause a
violation by Parent or Merger Sub of any Law applicable to Parent or Merger Sub, or to which Parent or Merger Sub are subject or (iii) require any consent or
notice under, conflict with, result in breach of, constitute a default under, or give rise to any right of purchase, termination, amendment, cancellation,
acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which the Parent or Merger Sub is entitled under any provision of any
Contract, except, in the
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case of clauses (ii) and (iii), as would not have or reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
 

(b)           Except for the filing of the Certificate of Merger, neither Parent nor Merger Sub, nor any of Parent’s other Affiliates, is required to
give notice to, make any filing with or obtain any consent from any Governmental Body at any time prior to the Closing in connection with the execution and
delivery of this Agreement by Parent or Merger Sub, as applicable, or the consummation by Parent or Merger Sub of the Merger or the other Transactions,
except those that the failure to make or obtain as would not have or reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material
Adverse Effect.  No vote of Parent’s or Merger Sub’s stockholders is necessary to approve this Agreement or any of the Transactions (except in the case of
Merger Sub as has previously been obtained).
 

Section 5.05. Absence of Litigation.  There is no Legal Proceeding pending and served against Parent or Merger Sub, except as would not, and
would not reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.  As of the date of this Agreement, neither Parent
nor Merger Sub is subject to any continuing Order of, consent decree, settlement agreement or similar written agreement with, or continuing investigation by,
any Governmental Body, or any Order, determination or award of any Governmental Body, except as would not, and would not reasonably be expected to,
individually or in the aggregate, have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
 

Section 5.06. Funds.  Parent has and, at the Effective Time, will have (and will make available to Merger Sub in a timely manner) available funds in
an amount sufficient to consummate the Transactions by payment in cash of the Merger Consideration payable following the Effective Time and the
aggregate amounts payable to holders of Company Options and the Company Warrant following the Effective Time.
 

Section 5.07. Brokers and Other Advisors.  No broker, finder, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any brokerage,
finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses in connection therewith, in connection with the
Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries, except for Persons, if any, whose
fees and expenses shall be paid by Parent or Merger Sub.
 

Section 5.08. Acknowledgement by Parent and Merger Sub.
 

(a)           Neither Parent nor Merger Sub is relying and neither Parent nor Merger Sub has relied on any representations or warranties whatsoever
regarding the subject matter of this Agreement, express or implied, except for the representations and warranties in this Agreement, including the Company
Disclosure Letter and the Letters of Transmittal.  Such representations and warranties by the Company constitute the sole and exclusive representations and
warranties of the Company in connection with the Transactions and each of Parent and Merger Sub understands, acknowledges and agrees that all other
representations and warranties of any kind or nature whether express, implied or statutory are specifically disclaimed by the Company.
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(b)           In connection with the due diligence investigation of the Company by Parent and Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates,

stockholders, directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives or advisors, Parent and Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates, stockholders, directors,
officers, employees, agents, representatives and advisors have received and may continue to receive after the date hereof from the Company and any of its
Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives and advisors certain estimates, projections, forecasts and other
forward-looking information, as well as certain business plan information, regarding the Company and its business and operations.  Parent and Merger Sub
hereby acknowledge that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking statements, as
well as in such business plans, and that Parent and Merger Sub will have no claim against the Company or any of its Affiliates, stockholders, directors,
officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives or advisors, or any other Person with respect thereto unless any such information is expressly
included in a representation or warranty contained in this Agreement.  Accordingly, Parent and Merger Sub hereby acknowledge and agree that neither the
Company nor any of its Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives or advisors, nor any other Person, has
made or is making any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to such estimates, projections, forecasts, forward-looking statements or
business plans unless any such information is expressly included in a representation or warranty contained in this Agreement.
 

ARTICLE VI
ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

 
Section 6.01. Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Merger.

 
(a)           The Company agrees that during the period from the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the termination of the Agreement

pursuant to its terms or the Effective Time, unless Parent shall otherwise consent in writing (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed), the businesses of the Company and the Company Subsidiary shall be conducted only in, and the Company and the Company Subsidiary shall not
take any action except in, the ordinary course of business; and the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) preserve substantially intact,
the business organization of the Company and the Company Subsidiary, taken as a whole, (ii) keep available the services of the current officers, employees
and consultants of the Company and the Company Subsidiary and (iii) preserve the current relationships of the Company and the Company Subsidiary with
customers, suppliers and other persons with which the Company or the Company Subsidiary has significant business relations.  By way of amplification and
not limitation, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement and Section 6.01 of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor the
Company Subsidiary shall, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, do, or propose to do, any of the following without the prior written
consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):
 

(i)            amend or otherwise change the articles of incorporation or bylaws or equivalent organizational documents of the Company or
the Company Subsidiary, except to the extent required to change the Company’s jurisdiction of incorporation as contemplated by Section 2.01(a);
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(ii)           issue or sell or authorize the issuance or sale of any shares of any class of capital stock of the Company or the Company

Subsidiary, or any options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights of any kind to acquire any shares of such capital stock, or any other ownership
interest, of the Company or the Company Subsidiary, other than the issuance of shares pursuant to the exercise of Company Options and the Company
Warrant;
 

(iii)          declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise, with respect
to any of its capital stock, other than dividends or distributions by the Company Subsidiary to the Company;
 

(iv)          repurchase or redeem any Company Stock except for repurchases from employees following their termination pursuant to the
terms of pre-existing agreements;
 

(v)           split, combine or reclassify any class or series of Company Stock;
 

(vi)          sell, lease, transfer or assign any assets or properties, tangible or intangible;
 

(vii)         incur any Indebtedness or issue any debt securities or assume, guarantee or endorse, or otherwise become responsible for, the
obligations of any Person, or make any loans or advances;
 

(viii)        enter into any contract or agreement that contemplates the payment or receipt by the Company or the Company Subsidiary of
an amount in excess of twenty five thousand ($25,000) in any twelve (12) month period, other than in the ordinary course of business;
 

(ix)          authorize, or make any commitment with respect to any capital expenditures which are in excess of ** dollars ($**), other
than capital expenditures for which all unpaid costs and expenses are either Permitted Indebtedness or Closing Indebtedness;
 

(x)           (i) increase the compensation payable or to become payable or the benefits provided to directors, officers or employees,
(ii) hire or attempt to hire any new employees or (iii) except in accordance with agreements existing as of the date hereof, grant any severance or termination
pay to, or enter into any employment or severance agreement with, any director, officer or other employee of the Company or of the Company Subsidiary;
 

(xi)          except as required by applicable Law or changes in GAAP, materially change any of its accounting policies;
 

(xii)         (A) make or change any Tax election or adopt or change a accounting method in respect of Taxes, (B) settle or comprise a
claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, (C) amend any Tax Return, or (D) take any other action outside the ordinary course of business if taking such action
would affect the Taxes of the Company after the Closing Date;
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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(xiii)        amend or modify in any material respect or consent to the termination of any Contract, or amend or modify in any material

respect or waive or consent to the termination of any material rights of the Company or the Company Subsidiary thereunder; or
 

(xiv)        announce an intention, enter into any formal or informal agreement or otherwise make a commitment, to do any of the
foregoing.
 

(b)           Notwithstanding any provision of this Section 6.01, the Company may take any action (or refrain from taking any action) as required
by applicable Law (including changes to applicable law occurring subsequent to the date of this Agreement) and as required, permitted or contemplated by
any other provision of this Agreement.
 

Section 6.02. No Solicitation.  From the date hereof until the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article X, the Company will not, and will not
permit or cause any of its officers or directors, to take any action to solicit, initiate, encourage or facilitate the making of any Acquisition Proposal (as defined
below) or engage in discussions or negotiations with any Person with respect thereto.  The Company will cease and cause to be terminated all discussions and
negotiations, if any, that have taken place prior to the date hereof with any parties with respect to any Acquisition Proposal.  For purposes of this Agreement,
“Acquisition Proposal” means any bona fide offer or proposal for, a merger or other business combination involving the Company, the acquisition of a
majority of the equity in, or all or a material portion of the assets of, the Company, in one transaction or series of related transactions, in each case other than
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 

Section 6.03. Stockholder Approval.  Promptly after, the execution and delivery of this Agreement (and in any event within one (1) Business Day
after the date hereof), the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to solicit and obtain the Company Stockholder Approval.  The Company shall prepare
an information statement for the Company Stockholders describing, among other things, the material terms of the Transaction.  The Company shall allow
Parent a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on such information statement.  The Company shall consider in good faith comments received from
Parent.
 

Section 6.04. Access to Information; Confidentiality.
 

(a)           Access to Information.  From the date hereof until the Effective Time, the Company shall, and shall authorize the Company Subsidiary
and the Representatives of the Company and the Company Subsidiary to, afford the Representatives of Parent and Merger Sub reasonable access during
normal business hours to the officers, employees, agents, properties, offices, plants and other facilities, books and records of the Company and the Company
Subsidiary, and shall furnish Parent and Merger Sub with such financial, operating and other data and information as Parent or Merger Sub, through its
officers, employees or agents, may reasonably request, in all cases to the extent permissible under applicable Law.  Such access shall include reasonable
updates with respect to the Company Subsidiary’s clinical study in Australia.
 

(b)           Confidentiality; Prior Agreement.  All information obtained by Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to this Section 6.04 shall be kept
confidential in accordance with the
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Confidentiality Agreement.   Notwithstanding anything in the Confidentiality Agreement or this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not publicize or
provide any press releases concerning this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby without the Parent’s prior written consent; provided, however, that
nothing contained in this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement shall restrict any party or any Affiliate of any party from making any disclosure required
by applicable Law or the applicable rules of any stock exchange.
 

Section 6.05. Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance.  On or before the Closing, the Company shall obtain, on behalf of the Company or the Surviving
Corporation, as applicable, a “tail” insurance policy to become effective at the Closing with a claims period of six years following the Closing with respect to
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance covering each person currently covered by the Company’s directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy in effect
on the date of this Agreement (the “Existing D&O Policy”) for acts or omissions occurring prior to the Effective Time, including in connection with the
approval of this Agreement and the Merger, and such insurance policy shall be on terms at least as favorable to the Company than those of the Company’s
Existing D&O Policy; it being understood that any costs or premiums related to such “tail” insurance policy which have not been fully paid on or before the
Closing shall be Transaction Expenses for purposes of this Agreement.
 

Section 6.06. Commercially Reasonable Efforts.  Each party to this Agreement shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to (a) take, or cause to
be taken, all appropriate action, and do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law or otherwise to promptly
consummate and make effective the Transactions, (b) lift or rescind any injunction or restraining order or other order adversely affecting the ability of the
parties to this Agreement to consummate the Transactions and (c) fulfill all conditions to the such party’s obligations under this Agreement.  Each party to this
Agreement shall cooperate fully with the other parties in promptly seeking to obtain all such authorizations, consents, orders and approvals, giving such
notices, and making such filings.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, in connection with obtaining such
consents from third parties, no party to this Agreement shall be required to make payments, commence litigation or agree to modifications of the terms and
conditions of any agreements with third parties.  The parties to this Agreement shall not take any action that is reasonably likely to have the effect of
unreasonably delaying, impairing or impeding the receipt of any required authorizations, consents, orders or approvals.
 

Section 6.07. Tax Matters.
 

(a)           Tax Returns.
 

(i)            With respect to any Tax Returns that are to be filed after the Closing Date, the Securityholder Representative shall engage the
Company’s existing accountant, at its expense, to prepare all Tax Returns for the Company and the Company Subsidiary that relate to a taxable period ending
on or prior to the Closing Date (collectively, the “Company Tax Returns”).  Such Company Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past
practice and custom of the Company, except as otherwise required by applicable Laws.  The Securityholder Representative shall provide a copy of all such
Company Tax Returns at least fifteen (15) days before the anticipated filing date for Parent’s review.  The Securityholder
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Representative shall consider in good faith comments received from Parent.  Parent or the Surviving Corporation shall timely file or cause to be timely filed
such Tax Returns.
 

(ii)           Parent shall prepare (or cause to be prepared) at its expense all other Tax Returns of the Surviving Corporation and the
Company Subsidiary (“Parent Tax Returns”), which returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past customs and practices employed by the
Company and the Company Subsidiaries, as applicable, unless otherwise required by applicable Laws.  To the extent that a Parent Tax Return relates to a
Straddle Period (“Straddle Period Return”), Parent shall provide a copy of all such Straddle Period Returns (together with the related work papers and
supporting information, including the allocation between the pre-Closing and post-Closing portions of the Straddle Period (consistent with Straddle Period
allocations described in Section 6.07(a)(iii))) to the Securityholder Representative at least fifteen (15) prior to the anticipated filing date for the Securityholder
Representative’s review and consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned).  The Securityholder Representative (or its designee) shall
review and comment on such Straddle Period Returns (including the Straddle Period allocations) in good faith within ten (10) days after receipt thereof.  If
Securityholder Representative (or its designee) deliver comments in writing to Parent within such period, Parent shall cause any such reasonable comments to
be reflected on such Straddle Period Returns unless such comments: (i) are inconsistent with past practices of the Company; or (ii) are inconsistent with
applicable Laws as of the date the applicable Straddle Period Return is filed.  In the event of a disagreement concerning any Straddle Period Return (including
the Straddle Period allocations) or any comments made by Securityholder Representative thereto pursuant to this Section 6.07(a)(ii), the Securityholder
Representative and Parent shall use their respective good faith efforts to resolve any disagreement in connection with such Securityholder Representative’s
comments.  In the event Parent and the Securityholder Representative are unable to agree on any such revisions within five (5) days after the Securityholder
Representative provides its comments, any such dispute with respect to such Tax Returns shall be resolved by a nationally or regionally-recognized
accounting firm mutually agreed upon by Parent and the Securityholder Representative (the “Accountant”) in a final binding manner.  Upon the final
resolution of such disagreement, Parent shall file such Straddle Period Returns promptly after such final determination.  Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Section 6.07(a)(ii), Parent shall be entitled to file such Straddle Period Returns without having incorporated the disagreed upon changes to
avoid a late filing of such Straddle Period Returns.  In the event the Accountant’s resolution of the disagreement necessitates that a Straddle Period Return
filed in accordance with the previous sentence be amended, Parent shall cause an amended Straddle Period Return to be filed that reflects such resolution. 
The fees and expenses of the Accountant shall be borne equally by the Parent, on the one hand, and the Former Securityholders (out of the Escrow Fund), on
the other hand.
 

(iii)          Straddle Period Allocations.  In the case of any Straddle Period, the amount of any Taxes of the Company and/or any
Company Subsidiary not based upon or measured by income, activities, events, gain, receipts, proceeds, profits, payroll or similar items for the portion of
such Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date will be deemed to be the amount of such Taxes for the entire Tax period multiplied by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Tax period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of days in
such Straddle Period.  The amount of any other Taxes that relate to the portion of such Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date
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will be determined based on an interim closing of the books as of the close of business on the Closing Date; provided, however, that any item determined on
an annual or periodic basis (such as deductions for depreciation or real estate Taxes) shall be apportioned on a daily basis.  Parent, the Company and the
Securityholder Representative hereby agree, and shall take all commercially reasonable actions necessary to ensure, that the taxable year of the Company
shall terminate at the close of business on the Closing Date for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, to the extent permitted by applicable Laws, for state and
local tax purposes, and neither Parent, the Company, Surviving Corporation, the Securityholder Representative, or any Affiliate of the foregoing shall take
any position contrary thereto, unless otherwise required by a “determination” within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code.
 

(iv)          Parent shall be indemnified for Pre-Closing Taxes as provided in Section 8.02.
 

(b)           Amendment of Tax Returns by Parent.  Without the prior written consent of the Securityholder Representative, which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, Parent shall not, with respect to the Company:  (i) file or amend any Tax Return with respect to a Pre-
Closing Tax Period; (ii) amend any Straddle Period Returns that have been filed, except as provided in Section 6.07(a)(ii); or (iii) extend or waive any statute
of limitations or other period for the assessment of any Tax that relates to a Pre-Closing Tax Period.
 

(c)           Tax Refunds.  Any refunds of or credits against Taxes in lieu of cash Tax refunds (including any interest paid or credited with respect
thereto) received by the Company, any Company Subsidiary, Parent or the Surviving Corporation (or Affiliates thereof) that are attributable to any Pre-
Closing Tax Period or the portion of any Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date will be for the benefit of the Former Securityholders (“Tax
Refunds”).  Parent will pay (or cause to be paid) to the Securityholder Representative any such Tax Refund actually received in cash by, or the value of any
credit available to the Surviving Corporation or any of its Affiliates as a result of the Surviving Corporation electing to receive such credit in lieu of a cash
Tax Refund, Parent, the Surviving Corporation, the Company, the Company Subsidiary or the Surviving Corporation or any Affiliate thereof within fifteen
(15) days after the receipt or availability thereof.
 

(d)           Post-Closing Actions.  Parent covenants that it will not cause or permit the Surviving Corporation or the Company Subsidiary: (i) to
take any action on or after the Closing Date that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any Tax liability of the Company (or the Company Subsidiary)
or that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any indemnity obligation in favor of Parent under this Agreement; or (ii) make or change any Tax
election, or take any Tax Return position on any Tax Return, take any action, omit to take any action or enter into any transaction, merger or restructuring that
results in any increased Tax liability of the Company in respect of any Pre-Closing Tax Period or the pre-Closing portion of a Straddle Period.
 

(e)           Transfer Taxes.  Parent shall be responsible for 50% and the Former Securityholders shall be responsible for the remaining 50% of all
transfer, value-added, documentary, sales, excise, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes, and all conveyance fees, recording charges and other fees and
charges (including any penalties and interest) incurred
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in connection with the consummation of the Transactions (collectively, the “Transfer Taxes”), and Parent (at its expense) shall also file all necessary Tax
Returns and other documentation with respect to all such Transfer Taxes and, if required by applicable Laws or to the extent reasonably requested, each party
shall, cooperate in the preparation and filing and join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation.
 

(f)            Cooperation and Records Retention.  The Securityholder Representative and Parent shall (and Parent shall cause the Surviving
Corporation to):  (i) each provide the other with such assistance as may reasonably be requested by any of them in connection with the preparation or filing of
any Tax Return, audit, or other examination by any Taxing Authority or judicial or administrative proceedings relating to liability for Taxes; (ii) each retain
and provide the other with any records or other information that may be relevant to such Tax Return, audit or examination, proceeding, or determination; and
(iii) each provide the other with any final determination of any such audit or examination, proceeding, or determination that affects any amount required to be
shown on any Tax Return of the other for any period.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to retain,
until the applicable statutes of limitations (including any extensions or tolling thereof) have expired, copies of all Tax Returns, supporting work schedules,
and other records or information that may be relevant to such returns for all Tax periods or portions thereof ending before or including the Closing Date and
shall not destroy or otherwise dispose of any such records without first providing Securityholder Representative with a reasonable opportunity to review and
copy the same.
 

Section 6.08. Tax Controversies; Assistance and Cooperation.
 

(a)           In the event that any party receives notice from any Taxing Authority of any proposed audit, claim, assessment or other dispute
concerning an amount of Taxes (a “Tax Proceeding”), such party shall promptly notify the other parties of such matter.  Such notice shall contain factual
information (to the extent known) describing any asserted Tax liability in reasonable detail and shall be accompanied by copies of any notice or other
documents received from any Taxing Authority with respect to such matter.  If any party receives written notice of an asserted Tax liability with respect to a
matter for which it has a right to reimbursement hereunder (and the other parties do not have knowledge of the asserted Tax liability) and fails to provide the
other parties with prompt notice thereof after actual receipt of such written notice and as a result such other parties are precluded from contesting the asserted
Tax liability in the applicable forum as a result of such failure to notify, then such other parties shall be relieved of its obligations with respect to such asserted
Tax liability.
 

(b)           The Securityholder Representative shall have the right (at its expense) to control any Tax Proceeding that relates to any Pre-Closing
Tax Period.  The Securityholder Representative shall control such Tax Proceeding in good faith and with reasonable diligence thereafter to preserve its rights. 
Parent shall be entitled to fully participate in any such Tax Proceeding and shall have the right to consent to the settlement of any such Tax Proceeding
(provided such consent cannot be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned).  In the case that Parent controls such Tax Proceeding because the
Securityholder Representative conceded or loses its right to control such Tax Proceeding, Parent shall act in good faith and the Securityholder Representative
shall be entitled to fully participate in any such Tax Proceeding
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and shall have the right to consent to the settlement of any such Tax Proceeding (provided such consent cannot be unreasonably withheld, delayed or
conditioned).  Parent shall control Tax Proceedings that relates to a Straddle Period provided that it control such Tax Proceeding in good faith and with
reasonable diligence.  The Securityholder Representative shall be entitled to fully participate in any such Tax Proceeding and shall have the right to consent to
the settlement of any such Tax Proceeding (provided such consent cannot be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned).
 

(c)           The Surviving Corporation or Parent, as applicable, shall bear their respective expenses incurred in connection with any Tax
Proceeding and Securityholder Representative (on behalf of the Former Securityholders) shall bear its expenses incurred in connection with any such Tax
Proceeding.
 

(d)           To the extent that there are any inconsistencies between Section 6.08 and Article VIII, the provisions of Section 6.08 shall control.
 

ARTICLE VII
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

 
Section 7.01. Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations.  The respective obligations of each party to effect the Merger and the other Transactions is

subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:
 

(a)           No Orders.  No Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, entered, promulgated or enforced any Law,
executive order, decree, writ, ruling, injunction, determination, judgment, decision or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) (an “Order”)
that is in effect and restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the Merger;
 

(b)           Stockholder Approval.  The Company Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained;
 

(c)           Escrow Agreement.  The Escrow Agreement shall have been duly executed and delivered by Parent, the Securityholder Representative
and the Escrow Agent; and
 

Section 7.02. Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.  The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger and the other
Transactions are further subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:
 

(a)           Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement shall be true and
correct in all respects on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made on and as of
such time (other than representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date, in which case such representations and warranties
shall be true and correct, on and as of such particular date), except for any failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct which would
not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (it being understood that, all “Material Adverse
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Effect” qualifications and other qualifications based on the word “material” or similar phrases contained in such representations and warranties shall be
disregarded).
 

(b)           Covenants and Agreements.  The Company shall have performed, or complied with, in all material respects, all obligations,
agreements or covenants of the Company to be performed or complied with by it under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date.
 

(c)           Closing Certificate.  At least one (1) Business Day prior to the Closing, the Company shall have delivered to Parent the Closing
Certificate.
 

(d)           Officer’s Certificate.  The Company shall have delivered to Parent a certificate of the Company, dated the Closing Date, signed on
behalf of the Company by an authorized executive officer of the Company, certifying that the Company has satisfied the conditions set forth in
Section 7.02(a) and Section 7.02(b).
 

(e)           Closing Deliveries.  The Company shall have delivered to Parent the items set forth in Section 2.09(c)(ii).
 

(f)            License Agreements.  The Company shall have delivered to Parent executed amended license agreements with Yale University and
Harvard University containing the revisions set forth on Exhibit F attached hereto.
 

(g)           Validation of EU Patents.  The Company shall have instructed Yale University’s patent counsel to validate, upon its issuance, of
European Application No. 12755750.2 included within the Company Patents, in the United Kingdom, Ireland, Switzerland, Germany, France, Spain, Italy,
Czech Republic and Poland and the Company shall have reimbursed Yale University for all costs incurred by Yale University in connection with the
validation of such application which are required to be reimbursed by the Company.
 

(h)           Employee Matters.  Each of the employees of the Company shall be terminated, such termination to occur immediately prior to, and
conditioned upon, the Effective Time and all such employees shall sign a release agreement in favor of the Company releasing the Company from all claims
relating to their employment with the Company and their termination of employment.  For the avoidance of any doubt, any severance or related payments
arising in connection with such termination shall be treated as Transaction Bonuses.
 

(i)            Company Benefit Plans.  The Company will have taken all actions necessary to terminate all Company Benefit Plans, effective as of
no later than the last day of the month during which the Closing Date occurs, and all unpaid costs or expenses (if any) relating to such termination shall be
treated as Transaction Expenses.
 

(j)            Director Matters.  Each member of the Board of Directors and the board of directors of the Company Subsidiary (the “Subsidiary
Board”) (other than Brendan Case) shall have executed a resignation letter which provides that (i) such director shall resign from the Board of Directors
and/or the Subsidiary Board, such resignation to be effective immediately prior to, and conditioned upon, the Effective Time, (ii) such director shall have
waived any and all claims against the Company relating to such director’s service on the Board of Directors and/or the Subsidiary Board, (iii) such director
will have waived any right to receive
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indemnification or advancement of expenses other than with respect to any claims covered by the “tail” insurance policy to be obtained pursuant to
Section 6.05 and (iv), to the extent applicable, such director shall have terminated the indemnification agreement executed by the Company and such director.
 

(k)           Company Lease.  The Company will have taken all actions necessary to either (i) terminate the lease underlying the Company Leased
Real Property or (ii) assign the lease underlying the Company Leased Real Property to the Securityholder Representative, in either case effective immediately
prior to, and conditioned upon, the Effective Time, and all unpaid costs or expenses (if any) relating to such termination or assignment shall be treated as
Transaction Expenses.
 

Section 7.03. Conditions to Obligations of the Company.  The obligations of the Company to effect the Merger and the other Transactions are further
subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:
 

(a)           Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in this Agreement shall be true
and correct in all respects on and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made on and as of such time (other than
representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct,
on and as of such particular date), except for any failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct which would not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
 

(b)           Covenants and Agreements.  Parent and Merger Sub each shall have performed or complied with in all material respects, all
obligations required to be performed by it under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date.
 

(c)           Officer’s Certificate.  Parent shall have delivered to the Company a certificate of Parent, dated the Closing Date, signed on behalf of
Parent by an authorized executive officer of Parent, certifying that Parent has satisfied the conditions set forth in Section 7.03(a) and Section 7.03(b).
 

(d)           Closing Deliveries.  Parent or Merger Sub, as applicable, shall have delivered to the Company the items set forth in Section 2.09(c)(i).
 

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

 
Section 8.01. Survival of Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements.

 
(a)           The representations and warranties of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing until

11:59 p.m. EST time on the ** anniversary of the Closing Date (the “Escrow Termination Date”); provided that the
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
 

55



 
Fundamental Representations shall survive until the ** anniversary of the Closing Date.  The covenants and agreements contained herein that are to be
performed at or prior to the Closing shall not survive the Closing.  Any covenant and agreement to be performed, in whole or in part, after the Closing shall
survive the Closing in accordance with its terms.
 

(b)           No claim for indemnification for breach of any representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement, or in any certificate,
schedule or other instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement, may be asserted pursuant to this Agreement unless prior to the expiration of the applicable
survival period specified in Section 8.01(a), such claim is asserted by proper written notice in accordance with this Article VIII, specifying, in reasonable
detail to the extent then known, the basis of the claim and Losses related thereto; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event and to the extent
that there is a claim hereunder with respect to a representation, warranty or covenant that is properly and timely initiated prior to the survival period specified
in Section 8.01(a), such representation or warranty and covenant shall survive, for purposes of such claim only, until such claim is finally resolved pursuant to
the terms hereof.
 

(c)           The Escrow Agreement shall specify that the funds in the Escrow Fund shall be released to the Securityholder Representative (for
further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02) on the fifth (5th) Business Day following the Escrow Termination Date; provided,
however, that if any claim pursuant to this Article VIII shall have been properly asserted by any Parent Indemnified Party in accordance with this Agreement
on or prior to the Escrow Termination Date (any such claim, a “Pending Claim”), (i) the amount of funds in the Escrow Fund released to the Securityholder
Representative shall be the amount of funds in the Escrow Fund, minus the aggregate amount of all such Pending Claims and (ii) any funds that remain in the
Escrow Fund following the Escrow Termination Date in respect of any such Pending Claim (all such funds in the aggregate, the “Retained Escrow Funds”)
shall be released to the Securityholder Representative (for further distribution to the Former Securityholders pursuant to Section 9.02) promptly upon
resolution or (if applicable) satisfaction of such Pending Claim in accordance with a joint written of Parent and the Securityholder Representative.  To cause
the release of all or any portion of the Retained Escrow Funds as described in the preceding sentence, each of Parent and the Securityholder Representative
shall timely submit joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent instructing the Escrow Agent to distribute the applicable portion of the Retained Escrow
Funds in accordance with this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.
 

Section 8.02. Indemnification of Parent Indemnified Parties.
 

(a)           From and after the Closing, subject to Section 8.03, and in the manner set forth in this Article VIII, Parent and its Affiliates, including
the Surviving Corporation and the Company Subsidiary after the Closing, and each of their respective officers, managers, directors, partners, members,
employees, agents, other representatives, successors and permitted assigns (collectively, the “Parent Indemnified Parties”), shall be indemnified and held
harmless by the Former Securityholders, on a several but not joint basis, for all claims, losses, liabilities, Legal
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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Proceedings, Taxes, obligations, awards, judgments, settlements, payments, interest, fines, fees, penalties, charges, costs and expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses of investigation and defense relating thereto, or other damages (hereinafter individually a “Loss” and collectively “Losses”),
regardless of whether or not such Losses relate to any third party claim, incurred or suffered by the Parent Indemnified Parties, or any of them (including the
Surviving Corporation after the Closing), directly or indirectly, as a result of the following:
 

(i)            any breach or inaccuracy of a representation or warranty of the Company contained in this Agreement or in any certificate,
schedule or other instrument delivered by the Company pursuant to this Agreement;
 

(ii)           any failure by the Company or the Securityholder Representative to perform, comply with, satisfy and discharge any
covenant, agreement or obligation applicable to it contained in this Agreement;
 

(iii)          (x) any claims by any Former Securityholder relating to or arising out of any error in any payment made to the Former
Securityholders by the Securityholder Representative, (y) any liabilities in connection with, as a result of, or arising out of, any error in any payment made as
directed in writing by the Securityholder Representative in accordance with the Allocation Schedule (including any liabilities in connection with any error or
inaccuracy in the Allocation Schedule), and (z) any claims by any Former Securityholder relating to or arising out of any act or omission by the
Securityholder Representative;
 

(iv)          any liability, duty, obligation or responsibility of any kind whatsoever, whether known or unknown, arising out of, accruing
with respect to or otherwise attributable to the period of time before the Effective Time (other than any liability, duty, obligation or responsibility expressly
disclosed in the Company Disclosure Letter); and
 

(v)           any Pre-Closing Taxes.
 

(b)           For purposes of this Section 8.02, the determination of the calculation of any Losses arising from the breach of any representation or
warranty shall be determined without regard and without giving effect to the term, or, as applicable, clause containing, “material,” “Material Adverse Effect”
or similar phrases or clauses contained in such representation or warranty the inclusion of which would limit or potentially limit the determination of such
breach or Losses recoverable by a Parent Indemnified Party pursuant to an indemnification claim by such Parent Indemnified Party (as if such word or clause,
as applicable, were deleted from such representation and warranty).
 

Section 8.03. Limitations; Source of Recovery and Exclusive Remedy.
 

(a)           Limitations.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary:
 

(i)            the Parent Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to seek indemnification under Section 8.02(a)(i) or Section 8.02(a)
(iv) with respect to any Losses unless and until the aggregate amount of all Losses suffered by the Parent Indemnified Parties
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collectively exceeds $** (the “Threshold Amount”), in which case the Parent Indemnified Parties shall only be entitled to recover for Losses in excess of the
Threshold Amount; provided that the Threshold Amount shall not apply with respect to Losses (A) for any breach or inaccuracy of any Fundamental
Representation or (B) in the case of Fraud;
 

(ii)           the aggregate amount of all payments to which the Parent Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to receive under
Section 8.02(a)(i) or Section 8.02(a)(iv) shall not exceed an amount equal to (A) the Initial Escrow Amount plus (B) the Additional Escrow Amount if (and
only if) a Milestone Payment is made pursuant to Section 3.01; provided, however, that (A) the foregoing cap shall not apply to any Losses for any breach or
inaccuracy of any Fundamental Representation and (B) the Parent Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to set-off from the first Milestone Payment an amount
equal to the Additional Escrow Amount if the first Milestone is achieved after the Escrow Termination Date.
 

(iii)          the maximum aggregate liability of each Former Securityholder to the Parent Indemnified Parties with respect to the
aggregate amount of Losses for all claims made pursuant to this Article VIII shall not exceed the total cash payments actually received by such Former
Securityholder pursuant to this Agreement.
 

(iv)          in no event shall a Parent Indemnified Party be permitted to seek any recovery for consequential, exemplary, special,
speculative or punitive damages, regardless of the theory of recovery, except to the extent awarded to a third party;
 

(v)           each Parent Indemnified Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate any Losses for which it is entitled to
indemnification pursuant to Section 8.02; and
 

(vi)          no Parent Indemnified Party hereto shall recover any Losses for a breach of one or more other representations, warranties,
covenants or agreements to the extent that any Parent Indemnified Party has been compensated for such matter pursuant to a separate indemnity claim for a
breach of one or more other representations, warranties, covenants or agreements giving rise to the same or duplicative damages.
 

(b)           Source and Order of Recovery.
 

(i)            From and after the Closing, if there is determined to be any amount owing to a Parent Indemnified Party as a result of
indemnification under Section 8.02, then, after the Threshold Amount has been fully utilized (unless inapplicable), (A) first, such amount shall be recovered
from the then-remaining funds in the Escrow Fund, (B) second, the Parent Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to set-off from any Milestone Payment due
pursuant to Section 3.01 (subject to the limitations of Section 8.03(a)); and (C) third, after the Escrow Fund has been fully exhausted and the set-off from any
applicable Milestone Payment has been made, any additional amount shall be recovered directly from the Former Securityholders, subject to the limitations
set forth in this Article VIII, pursuant to Section 8.03(b)(ii).
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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(ii)           From and after the Closing, if there is determined to be any amount owing to a Parent Indemnified Party as a result of

indemnification under Section 8.02 and such amount is required to be paid by the Former Securityholders, each Former Securityholder shall be required to
pay an amount equal to its Pro Rata Indemnity Percentage of the amount owing to a Parent Indemnified Party as a result of indemnification under
Section 8.02, subject to the limitations set forth in this Article VIII.
 

(c)           Exclusive Remedy.  Following the Effective Time, except for claims for equitable relief pursuant to Section 11.06 or for Fraud, the
indemnification provisions of this Article VIII shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of the Parent Indemnified Parties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise,
for all matters arising out of or relating to the Merger, this Agreement and the Transactions (or in any certificate, schedule or other instrument delivered
pursuant to this Agreement), including for any inaccuracy or breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth herein.  For the
avoidance of doubt, this Section 8.03(c) will not prevent or limit a cause of action to obtain an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of any covenants
set forth in this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in accordance with Section 11.06.
 

Section 8.04. Claims for Escrow Recovery and Indemnification.
 

(a)           If any Legal Proceeding is commenced or threatened that may give rise to a claim for indemnification (a “Claim”) by any Parent
Indemnified Party for a matter involving a third party, then such Parent Indemnified Party shall promptly, and in any event within twenty (20) days after
receiving written notice of any third party Claim or Legal Proceeding, (i) notify the Securityholder Representative and (ii) deliver to the Securityholder
Representative a written notice (such written notice, a “Third Party Claim Notice”) (A) describing in reasonable detail the nature of the Legal Proceeding to
the extent known, (B) including a copy of all papers served with respect to such Legal Proceeding, (C) including the Parent Indemnified Party’s good faith
estimate of the amount of Losses that may arise from such Legal Proceeding, to the extent known, and (D) describing in reasonable detail, to the extent
known, the basis for the Parent Indemnified Party’s request for indemnification under this Agreement.  Failure to notify the Securityholder Representative in
accordance with this Section 8.04(a) will not relieve the Former Securityholders or any other party of any liability that it may have to the Parent Indemnified
Party, except to the extent (but only to the extent that) (1) the defense of such Legal Proceeding is materially prejudiced by the Parent Indemnified Party’s
failure to give such notice or (2) the Parent Indemnified Party fails to notify the Securityholder Representative of such Claim in accordance with
Section 8.04(a) or prior to the end of the applicable survival period.
 

(b)           The Securityholder Representative may elect, within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Third Party Claim Notice, upon written notice
to the Parent Indemnified Party, to assume and thereafter conduct the defense of any Legal Proceeding subject to any such Claim with counsel of the
Securityholder Representative’s choice (at its expense).  In the event the Securityholder Representative elects to assume and conduct the defense of any such
Legal Proceeding in accordance with this Section 8.04(b), (A) the Securityholder Representative (i) will have the right to settle or compromise any such Legal
Proceeding, subject to the terms hereof, (ii) shall conduct the defense of such Legal Proceeding in good faith and with reasonable diligence and keep each
Parent Indemnified Party reasonably informed of material developments
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in the Legal Proceeding at all stages thereof and promptly submit to each Parent Indemnified Party copies of all legal documentation received or filed in
connection therewith, and (iii) will acknowledge that the applicable Parent Indemnified Parties are entitled to indemnification under, but subject to the
limitations in, this Article VIII with respect to such Legal Proceeding and (B) each Parent Indemnified Party shall reasonably cooperate with the conduct of
such defense by the Securityholder Representative and the settlement of such Legal Proceeding by the Securityholder Representative; provided, however, that
the Securityholder Representative will not approve of the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement or compromise with respect to such Legal
Proceeding unless the Securityholder Representative has obtained Parent Indemnified Party’s prior written approval (which approval must not be
unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), unless (x) the terms of such settlement involves solely money damages having a value less than the
remaining amount of the funds in the Escrow Fund and provides for a complete and unconditional release of the claims, obligations and liabilities that are the
subject of such Legal Proceeding in favor of the Parent Indemnified Party, and (y) such settlement or compromise does not involve any finding or admission
or any violation of Laws or admission of any wrongdoing by the Parent Indemnified Party.  To the extent the defense of any Legal Proceeding subject to any
Claim is properly assumed by the Securityholder Representative in accordance with this Section 8.04(b), the costs and expenses of such defense of, and any
payment in respect of, any Legal Proceeding, including any settlement thereof, shall be paid by the Securityholder Representative (on behalf of the Former
Securityholders).  The Parent Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in the defense of any Legal Proceeding with counsel selected by it subject
to the Securityholder Representative’s right to control the defense thereof.  The fees and disbursements of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Parent
Indemnified Party, provided, that if in the reasonable opinion of counsel to the Parent Indemnified Party, there exists a conflict of interest between Former
Securityholders and the Parent Indemnified Party that cannot be waived, then the Securityholder Representative shall be liable for the reasonable fees and
expenses of one (1) counsel to the Parent Indemnified Parties.
 

(c)           If the Securityholder Representative does not, within thirty (30) days after receiving the Third Party Claim Notice: (i) give written
notice to the Parent Indemnified Party of its election to assume the defense of the Legal Proceeding or Legal Proceedings subject to such Claim, and
(ii) thereafter promptly assume such defense, then the Parent Indemnified Party may conduct the defense and settlement of such Legal Proceeding in good
faith and with reasonable diligence and keep the Securityholder Representative reasonably informed of material developments in the Legal Proceeding at all
stages thereof and promptly submit to the Securityholder Representative copies of all legal documentation received or filed in connection therewith; provided,
that the Parent Indemnified Party will not agree to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement or compromise with respect to such Legal
Proceeding or Legal Proceedings without the prior written consent of the Securityholder Representative (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or conditioned).
 

(d)           Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Securityholder Representative shall not be entitled to assume or continue to assume the defense of
any third party Claim (which third party Claim shall be controlled by the Parent Indemnified Party unless otherwise consented to in writing by the Parent
Indemnified Party) if (i) the Claim seeks injunctive or equitable relief against the Parent Indemnified Party (or any Subsidiary of the Parent Indemnified
Party), (ii) the Claim involves a criminal Legal Proceeding, indictment, allegation or investigation of or against
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a Parent Indemnified Party, or (iii) the Claim has a reasonable likelihood of resulting in Losses that would exceed the balance remaining in the Escrow Fund.
 

(e)           If any Parent Indemnified Party has a Claim under this Article VIII against any Former Securityholder that does not involve a third
party Claim, then such Parent Indemnified Party shall promptly (i) notify the Securityholder Representative and (ii) deliver to the Securityholder
Representative a written notice (A) describing in reasonable detail the nature of the circumstances giving rise to the Claim, to the extent known, (B) including
the Parent Indemnified Party’s good faith estimate of the amount of Losses that may arise from such circumstances, to the extent known, and (C) describing in
reasonable detail, to the extent known, the basis for the Parent Indemnified Party’s request for indemnification under this Agreement.  Failure to notify the
Securityholder Representative in accordance with this Section 8.04(e) will not relieve the Former Securityholders of any liability that it may have to the
Parent Indemnified Party, except to the extent (1) the defense of such Claim is materially and adversely prejudiced by the Parent Indemnified Party’s failure to
give such notice or (2) the Parent Indemnified Party fails to notify the Securityholder Representative of such Claim in accordance with this Section 8.04(e) on
or prior to the end of the applicable survival period.
 

(f)            At the reasonable request of the Securityholder Representative, Parent shall (and shall cause each Parent Indemnified Party to) grant
the Securityholder Representative and its authorized Representatives all reasonable access to the books, records, employees and properties of such Parent
Indemnified Party to the extent reasonably related to the matters to which the applicable Claim relates, in each case other than to the extent necessary to
preserve attorney-client privilege.  All such access shall be granted during normal business hours and shall be granted under the conditions that shall not
unreasonably interfere with the business and operations of such Parent Indemnified Party.
 

Section 8.05. Indemnification of Former Securityholders.
 

(a)           From and after the Closing, and subject to Section 8.05(b), the Former Securityholders, and each of their respective successors and
permitted assigns (collectively, the “Former Securityholders Indemnified Parties”), shall be indemnified and held harmless by Parent for all Losses incurred
or suffered by the Former Securityholders Indemnified Parties, directly or indirectly, as a result of the following:
 

(i)            any breach or inaccuracy of a representation or warranty of Parent or Merger Sub contained in this Agreement or in any
certificate, schedule or other instrument delivered by Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to this Agreement; and
 

(ii)           any failure by Parent to perform, comply with, satisfy and discharge any covenant, agreement or obligation contained in this
Agreement and applicable to Parent or Merger Sub, including any failure by Parent to pay any Milestone Payment or Net Sales Payment as required by this
Agreement.
 

(b)           Any decision to make any claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 8.05(a) or to settle or dismiss any claim for indemnification
pursuant to Section 8.05(a) shall be made by the Securityholder Representative in accordance with the terms of Article IX.
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ARTICLE IX

SECURITYHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE
 

Section 9.01. Appointment.
 

(a)           Each of the Former Securityholders shall be deemed to appoint Reich Consulting Group, Inc. (including pursuant to the actions taken
by the Designee) as his, her or its agent and attorney in fact, as the Securityholder Representative for and on behalf of the Former Securityholders and, as
such, shall have full power and authority to represent all of the Former Securityholders and their successors with respect to all matters arising under this
Agreement, the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement and all actions taken by the Securityholder Representative hereunder and thereunder.
 

(b)           The Securityholder Representative may take any action which he, she or it believes is necessary or appropriate under this Agreement,
the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement for, in the name and on behalf of the Former Securityholders, as fully as if the Former Securityholders
were acting on their own behalf.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, on behalf of the Former Securityholders, the Securityholder Representative
shall be entitled to give and receive notices and communications, to enter into and perform the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement, to authorize
delivery to the Parent Indemnified Parties of cash from the Escrow Fund in satisfaction of claims by Parent Indemnified Parties, to object to such deliveries,
to agree to, negotiate, enter into settlements and compromises of, and demand arbitration and comply with orders of courts and awards of arbitrators with
respect to such claims, engaging counsel, accountants or other agents in connection with the foregoing matters, and to take all such other actions necessary or
appropriate in the judgment of the Securityholder Representative for the accomplishment of the foregoing and to act on behalf of the Former Securityholders
as provided herein and in the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement; provided, however, that the Securityholder Representative shall in no event
have the authority to amend the amount of Merger Consideration payable to each Former Securityholder (subject to the Securityholder Representative’s
authority to (i) initiate and settle disputes relating to the contingent consideration determinations and payments pursuant to Article III, (ii) initiate and settle
disputes relating to the Taxes pursuant to Section 6.07 and Section 6.08, (iii) consent to settlement of indemnification claims pursuant to this Agreement, the
Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement and (iv) make determinations as to the validity of exchanges by and payments to be made to securityholders
under the Payment Agent Agreement).  The rights, powers and obligations of the Securityholder Representative may be amended by the written consent of a
Majority in Interest.
 

(c)           In addition, the Securityholder Representative may be removed (with or without cause) and a successor Securityholder Representative
may be appointed (whether due to the removal or the resignation of the incumbent Securityholder Representative) by the written consent of a Majority in
Interest.  The Securityholder Representative shall continue in to represent the Former Securityholders for as long as any Former Securityholders have any
rights or obligations under this Agreement, the Allocation Schedule or the Escrow Agreement (including the possibility of any contingent payments pursuant
to Article III).
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Section 9.02. Disbursement of Funds.  Promptly following receipt by the Securityholder Representative of any payments pursuant to Section 2.09(b)

(iv), Section 2.11, Article III and Section 8.01(c), as applicable, the Securityholder Representative shall distribute to each Former Securityholder the amount
required to be distributed to such Former Securityholder pursuant to the Allocation Schedule.  In furtherance of Section 2.14, if the Surviving Corporation
notifies the Securityholder Representative, or the Securityholder Representative otherwise determines, that any amounts paid to the Securityholder
Representative pursuant to Section 2.09(b)(iv), Section 2.11, Article III and Section 8.01(c), as applicable, would be considered compensation to the current
or former employees of the Company, then such amounts shall be remitted by the Securityholder Representative to the Company for payment to the
applicable Former Securityholder through the Surviving Corporation’s payroll procedures after applicable withholding.  If the Securityholder Representative
determines, in its sole discretion, that any remaining portion of the Representative Expense Amount should be distributed to the Former Securityholders, the
Securityholder Representative shall distribute such amount to the Former Securityholders pursuant to the Allocation Schedule.
 

Section 9.03. Limitation of Liability.
 

(a)           The Securityholder Representative shall not be liable to Former Securityholders for any act done or omitted hereunder as
Securityholder Representative unless not acting in good faith and such actions constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct.  Accordingly, the
Securityholder Representative shall not incur any such liability to Former Securityholders with respect to (i) any action taken or omitted to be taken in good
faith upon advice of its counsel given with respect to any questions relating to the duties and responsibilities of the Securityholder Representative hereunder;
or (ii) any action taken or omitted to be taken in reliance upon any document, including any written notice or instructions provided for in this Agreement, the
Allocation Schedule or the Escrow Agreement, not only as to its due execution and to the validity and effectiveness of its provisions, but also as to the truth
and accuracy of any information contained therein, which the Securityholder Representative shall in good faith believe to be genuine, to have been signed or
presented by the purported proper person or persons and to conform with the provisions of this Agreement, the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow
Agreement.
 

(b)           The limitation of liability provisions of this Section 9.03 shall survive the termination of this Agreement, the resignation of the
Securityholder Representative and the completion of the Securityholder Representative’s duties under this Agreement, the Allocation Schedule and the
Escrow Agreement.  The Securityholder Representative shall not have any fiduciary, agency or other duties to the Former Securityholders and its only
obligations shall be as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement.  The Securityholder Representative may
designate one or more persons to act on behalf of the Securityholder Representative pursuant to this Agreement (such person, or such other person that the
Securityholder Representative designates to act upon its behalf pursuant to this Agreement (subject to the reasonable objection of Parent), the “Designee”). 
The Securityholder Representative shall notify Parent in writing prior to appointing or replacing the Designee.
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Section 9.04. Binding Effect.

 
(a)           A decision, act, consent or instruction of the Securityholder Representative (including pursuant to the any decision, act, consent or

instruction of the Designee) pursuant to this Agreement, the Allocation Schedule or the Escrow Agreement shall constitute a decision of the Former
Securityholders and shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Former Securityholders; and Parent and the Escrow Agent may rely upon any such
decision, act, consent or instruction of the Securityholder Representative (including by the Designee) as being the decision, act, consent or instruction of the
Former Securityholders.
 

(b)           In addition, the Securityholder Representative shall have full power and authority for, on behalf of all such Former Securityholders to
interpret all the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement and to consent to the amendment of this
Agreement, the Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement, or the extension of this Agreement or waiver of any term of this Agreement pursuant to, and
subject to the terms and conditions of, Section 9.03 and this Section 9.04.  Parent and Merger are hereby relieved from any liability to any Person for any acts
done by them in accordance with such decision, act, consent or instruction of the Securityholder Representative.
 

(a)           Legal Representation.  Parent hereby (i) agrees that to the extent a legal conflict of interests exists solely as a result of the
representation of the Company by Dentons US LLP (“Dentons”) prior to the Closing, Dentons may serve as counsel to the Securityholder Representative and
the Former Securityholders and Company’s officers and directors in connection with any disputes or other matters arising under this Agreement, the
Allocation Schedule and the Escrow Agreement, or with respect to the Transactions and (ii) consents to such representation and waives any such conflict of
interest.
 

ARTICLE X
TERMINATION

 
Section 10.01. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger may be abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether

before or after the Company Stockholder Approval:
 

(a)           by mutual written consent of each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company;
 

(b)           by either Parent or the Company:
 

(i)            if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or before September 30, 2018 (the “Outside Date”); provided, however,
that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.01(b)(i) shall not be available to any party whose action or failure to act in breach of this
Agreement has been a principal cause of or resulted in the failure of the Merger to be consummated on or before the Outside Date;
 

(ii)           if any Order having the effect set forth in Section 7.01(a) shall be in effect and shall have become final and non-appealable;
or
 

(iii)          if the Company Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained.
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(c)           by Parent, if the Company shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set

forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would result in a condition set forth in Section 7.02(a) or Section 7.02(b) incapable of being
satisfied and (ii) is not cured by the Company within thirty (30) Business Days following receipt of written notice of such breach or failure from Parent;
provided, however, that Parent may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.01(c) if either Parent or Merger Sub at the time has itself
materially breached or failed to perform its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement; or
 

(d)           by the Company, if Parent or Merger Sub shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or
agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would result in a condition set forth in Section 7.03(a) or
Section 7.03(b) incapable of being satisfied and (ii) is not cured by Parent or Merger Sub within thirty (30) Business Days following receipt of written notice
of such breach or failure to perform from the Company; provided, however, that the Company may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this
Section 10.01(d) if the Company at the time has itself breached or failed to perform its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this
Agreement.
 

Section 10.02. Effect of Termination.  In the event of termination of this Agreement by Parent or the Company as provided in Section 10.01, this
Agreement shall become void and of no further force and effect and any such termination shall relieve Parent or the Company from any liability or obligation
hereunder, except (i) as set forth in this Section 10.02 and Article XI and (ii) for any liability for any damages for any intentional and willful breach of this
Agreement or Fraud occurring prior to such termination.  Notwithstanding anything in this Section 10.01 to the contrary and without limiting any of the
Company’s rights under this Agreement, if this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 10.01, Parent shall promptly reimburse the Company
for the Delaware Redomicile Costs.
 

ARTICLE XI
GENERAL PROVISIONS

 
Section 11.01. Fees and Expenses.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all costs and expenses incurred in connection the Merger, this

Agreement and the other Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring such expenses, regardless of whether the Merger shall be consummated.
 

Section 11.02. Amendment.  Subject to the provisions of applicable Law, at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after receipt of
the Company Stockholder Approval, the parties hereto may modify or amend this Agreement by written agreement executed and delivered by duly authorized
officers of the respective parties; provided, however, that after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, there shall be no amendment that, under
applicable Law, would require the further approval of the Company Stockholders without such approval first being obtained.
 

Section 11.03. Extension and Waiver.  At any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder
Approval, the parties may by written
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agreement (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties, (ii)  waive any inaccuracies in the representations
and warranties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto or (iii) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained
herein; provided, however, that after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, there shall be no extension or waiver that, under applicable Law, would
require the further approval of the Company Stockholders without such approval first being obtained.  Any agreement on the part of a party to any such
extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party.  Any waiver of any term or condition shall not be
construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach or a subsequent waiver of the same term or condition, or a waiver of any other term or condition, of this
Agreement.  The failure or delay by any party hereto to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of such rights
nor shall any single or partial exercise by any party to this Agreement of any of its rights under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise of such
rights or any other rights under this Agreement.
 

Section 11.04. Notices.  All notices, requests and other communications hereunder shall be in writing (which may include email or facsimile
transmission) and shall be given:
 

(a)           If to Parent or Merger Sub:
 

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1550 East Gude Drive
Rockville, MD 20850
Attention:  Jack Khattar
Email:  **

 
With a copy to:

 
Saul Ewing Arnstein & Lehr, LLP
1919 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 550
Washington, DC 20006-3434
Attention:  Mark I. Gruhin
Email:  mark.gruhin@saul.com

 
(b)           If to the Company:

 
Biscayne Neurotherapeutics, Inc.
4770 Biscayne Blvd, Suite 660
Miami, FL 33137
Attention:  **
Email:  **

 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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With a copy to:

 
Dentons US LLP
1221 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10020
Attention:  Ilan Katz
Email:  ilan.katz@dentons.com

 
(c)           If to the Securityholder Representative:

 
Reich Consulting Group, Inc.
**
**
Attention: Samuel J. Reich
Email:  **

 
With a copy to:

 
Dentons US LLP
1221 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10020
Attention:  Ilan Katz
Email:  ilan.katz@dentons.com

 
or to such other street or email address or facsimile number as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to the other parties hereto.  All such
notices, requests and other communications shall be deemed received on the date of receipt by the recipient thereof if received prior to 5:00 p.m. EST on a
Business Day in the place of receipt.  Otherwise, any such notice, request or communication shall be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding
Business Day in the place of receipt.
 

Section 11.05. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.
 

(a)           Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware,
regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws thereof.
 

(b)           Jurisdiction and Venue.  Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the
jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and any appellate court thereof or, if under applicable Law exclusive jurisdiction over such
matter is vested in the federal courts, any court of the United States located in the State of Delaware, in any Legal Proceeding arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or the agreements delivered in connection herewith or the Transactions or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment relating thereto, and
each of the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (i) agrees not to commence any such Legal Proceeding except in such court, (ii)
 

**           This portion has been redacted pursuant to a confidential treatment request.
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agrees that any claim in respect of any such Legal Proceeding or proceeding may be heard and determined in such court, (iii) waives, to the fullest extent it
may legally and effectively do so any objection which it may now or hereafter have to venue of any such Legal Proceeding in such court, and (iv) waives, to
the fullest extent permitted by Law, the defense of any inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such Legal Proceeding in such court.  Each of the parties
hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such Legal Proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in
any other manner provided by Law.  Each of the parties to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in any such Legal Proceeding in the
manner provided for notices in Section 11.04 of this Agreement; provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall affect the right of any party to this
Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by Law.
 

(c)           Waiver of Jury Trial.  EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY THAT MAY ARISE
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE IT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR
INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY OF THE AGREEMENTS DELIVERED IN CONNECTION
HEREWITH OR THE TRANSACTIONS.  EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR
ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE
EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE SUCH WAIVER, (II) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF SUCH
WAIVER, (III) IT MAKES SUCH WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVER AND CERTIFICATIONS CONTAINED IN THIS SECTION 11.05(C).
 

Section 11.06. Other Remedies; Specific Performance.  Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a
party hereto will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby, or by law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by
a party of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy.  The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of
the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached.  It is accordingly agreed that the
parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof
in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.
 

Section 11.07. Entire Agreement; Third-Party Beneficiaries.
 

(a)           Entire Agreement.  This Agreement (together with the Annexes, Exhibits and Company Disclosure Letter) contains the entire
agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the Merger and the Transactions and the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes all prior
agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties, or any of them, with respect to these matters.  Each party hereto has participated in the
drafting of this Agreement, which each party acknowledges is the result of extensive negotiations between the parties.  In the
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event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties and no presumption or
burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.
 

(b)           No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is not intended to, and does not, confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto
any legal or equitable rights or remedies, except for (i) the right of the holders of Company Stock, Company Options and the Company Warrant to receive,
from and after the Effective Time, the consideration which they are entitled to receive pursuant to Article II and (ii) the provisions of Article VIII of this
Agreement which are intended to be for the benefit of the Parent Indemnified Parties covered thereby and may be enforced by such Parent Indemnified
Parties after the Effective Time.
 

Section 11.08. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any applicable Law or
public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic and legal
substance of the Transactions is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party.  Upon such determination that any term or other provision is
invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the
parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the Transactions are fulfilled to the fullest extent possible.
 

Section 11.09. Interpretation.  When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article or to a Section, Subsection, Exhibit or Schedule, such
reference shall be to an Article of, a Section or Subsection of, or an Exhibit or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated.  The table of contents
and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 
The words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”.  The words “hereof”, “herein” and
“hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this
Agreement.  The term “or” shall be deemed to mean “and/or”.  All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any
certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein.  The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable
to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term.  Any agreement,
instrument or statute defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein shall mean such agreement, instrument or statute
as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of
statutes) by succession of comparable successor statutes and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein.  References to a
Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns.  References to monetary amounts are to the lawful currency of the United States.  References to days
mean calendar days unless otherwise specified.
 

Section 11.10. Assignment.  Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by
operation of Law or otherwise by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties, except otherwise
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as provided herein and except that Merger Sub may assign any of its rights and obligations hereunder to Parent or one or more direct or indirectly wholly-
owned Subsidiaries of Parent so long as such assignment does not prevent or impair the satisfaction of any of the conditions set forth in Article VII or delay
consummation of the Merger; provided, however, that no such assignment shall relieve either Parent or Merger Sub of their obligations hereunder.  Subject to
the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties and their respective successors and
assigns.
 

Section 11.11. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which
together shall constitute one instrument.  Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying
with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have
been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
 

(Signature page follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers

thereunto duly authorized.
 
 

PARENT:
   
 

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/ Jack A. Khattar
  

Name:  Jack A. Khattar
  

Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer
   
 

MERGER SUB:
   
 

SUPERNUS MERGER SUB, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/ Jack A. Khattar
  

Name:  Jack A. Khattar
  

Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer
   
 

COMPANY:
   
 

BISCAYNE NEUROTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/ Samuel J. Reich
  

Name:  Samuel J. Reich
  

Title:  Executive Chairman
   
 

SECURITYHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE:
   
 

REICH CONSULTING GROUP, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/ Samuel J. Reich
  

Name:  Samuel J. Reich
  

Title:  President
 

Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger
 



 
The following schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Supernus)
will furnish a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request; provided, however, that Supernus
may request confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for any schedule or exhibit so
furnished.
 
 
Company Disclosure Letter
 
Exhibit A — Allocation Schedule
 
Exhibit B — Escrow Agreement
 
Exhibit C — Example Statement
 
Exhibit D — Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
 
Exhibit E — Letter of Transmittal
 
Exhibit F — License Agreement Revisions
 
Schedule A — Patent Applications
 



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Jack A. Khattar, certify that:
 
1.                                      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;
 
2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

(a)                                 designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 

(b)                                 designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

(c)                                  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d)                                 disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                 all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

(b)                                 any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: November 9, 2018 By: /s/ Jack A. Khattar
  

Jack A. Khattar
  

President and Chief Executive Officer
 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Gregory S. Patrick, certify that:
 
1.                                      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;
 
2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

(a)                                 designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 

(b)                                 designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

(c)                                  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d)                                 disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                 all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

(b)                                 any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: November 9, 2018 By: /s/ Gregory S. Patrick
  

Gregory S. Patrick
  

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
 

18 U.S.C. sec. 1350,
 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jack A. Khattar, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
(1)                                 The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)                                 The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Date: November 9, 2018 By: /s/ Jack A. Khattar
  

Jack A. Khattar
  

President and Chief Executive Officer
 



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
 

18 U.S.C. sec. 1350,
 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Gregory S. Patrick, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
(1)                                 The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)                                 The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Date: November 9, 2018 By: /s/ Gregory S. Patrick
  

Gregory S. Patrick
  

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 


